
City of Swartz Creek 
AGENDA 

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, March 24, 2025, 7:00 P.M. 
Paul D. Bueche Municipal Building, 8083 Civic Drive Swartz Creek, Michigan 48473 

THIS WILL BE A HYBRID MEETING, WITH IN PERSON ATTENDANCE BY COUNCIL MEMBERS. 

1. CALL TO ORDER:

2. INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

3. ROLL CALL:

4. MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES:
4A. Council Meeting of March 10, 2025 MOTION Pg. 47 

5. APPROVE AGENDA:
5A.  Proposed / Amended Agenda MOTION Pg. 1 

6. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS:
6A. City Manager’s Report MOTION Pg. 8 
6B. Staff Reports & Meeting Minutes Pg. 53 
6C. Cappy & Don Shenk Bid Sheet & Construction Engineering Proposal Pg. 54 
6D. Car Show Application &  Filings Pg. 104 
6E. Butterfly Garden Master Plan Pg. 151 
6F. QBS Summary Request and Summary Sheet Pg. 155 
6G. Electric Vehicle Charging Proposal Pg. 162 
6H. Bristol Road Paving Proposal Pg. 171 
6I. Shared Services Building Agreement Pg. 174 
6J. Proposed Rates and Fees with Changes Notated Pg. 182 

7. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:
7A. General Public Comments

8. COUNCIL BUSINESS:
8A. National Library Week PROCLAMATION 
8B. Medstar Report PRESENTATION 
8C. Car Show Application RESO Pg. 27 
8D. GCRC Bristol Road Work RESO Pg. 29 
8E. Electric Charging Station Placement RESO Pg. 30 
8F. Butterfly Garden Master Plan      RESO Pg. 31 
8G. Qualification Based Selection Process RESO Pg. 32 
8H. Building Services Agreement RESO Pg. 33 
8I. Rates and Fees        RESO Pg. 33 
8J. Don Shenk & Cappy Lane Project & Construction Engineering Award RESO Pg. 44 
8K. Closed Session RESO Pg. 45 

9. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:

10. REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS:

11. ADJOURNMENT: MOTION Pg. 46 

Next Month Calendar (Public Welcome at All Meetings) 
Metro Police Board:  Wednesday, March 26, 2025, 11:00 a.m., Metro HQ 
Planning Commission:  Tuesday, April 1, 2025, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB  
Downtown Development Authority: Thursday, April 10, 2025, 6:00 p.m., PDBMB 
City Council: Monday, April 14, 2025, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB  
Park Board:  Tuesday, April 15, 2025, 5:30 p.m., PDBMB 
Zoning Board of Appeals: Wednesday, April 16, 2025, 6:00 p.m., PDBMB  
Fire Board: Monday, April 21, 2025, 6:00 p.m., Station #1 
City Council: Monday, April 28, 2025, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB  

City Council Packet 1 March 24, 2025



City of Swartz Creek Mission Statement 
The City shall provide a full range of public services in a professional and competent manner, assuring 
that the needs of our constituents are met in an effective and fiscally responsible manner, thus promoting 
a high standard of community life.  
 

City of Swartz Creek Values 
The City of Swartz Creek’s Mission Statement is guided by a set of values which serve as a common 
operating basis for all City employees. These values provide a common understanding of responsibilities 
and expectations that enable the City to achieve its overall mission. The City’s values are as follows:  
 
Honesty, Integrity and Fairness  
The City expects and values trust, openness, honesty and integrity in the words and actions of its 
employees. All employees, officials, and elected officials are expected to interact with each other openly 
and honestly and display ethical behavior while performing his/her job responsibilities. Administrators and 
department heads shall develop and cultivate a work environment in which employees feel valued and 
recognize that each individual is an integral component in accomplishing the mission of the City.  
 
Fiscal Responsibility  
Budget awareness is to be exercised on a continual basis. All employees are expected to be 
conscientious of and adhere to mandated budgets and spending plans.  
 
Public Service  
The goal of the City is to serve the public. This responsibility includes providing a wide range of services 
to the community in a timely and cost-effective manner.  
 
Embrace Employee Diversity and Employee Contribution, Development and Safety  
The City is an equal opportunity employer and encourages diversity in its work force, recognizing that 
each employee has unlimited potential to become a productive member of the City’s team. Each 
employee will be treated with the level of respect that will allow that individual to achieve his/her full 
potential as a contributing member of the City staff. The City also strives to provide a safe and secure 
work environment that enables employees to function at his/her peak performance level. Professional 
growth opportunities, as well as teamwork, are promoted through the sharing of ideas and resources. 
Employees are recognized for his/her dedication and commitment to excellence. 
 
Expect Excellence  
The City values and expects excellence from all employees. Just "doing the job" is not enough; rather, it 
is expected that employees will consistently search for more effective ways of meeting the City's goals.  
 
Respect the Dignity of Others  
Employees shall be professional and show respect to each other and to the public.  
 
Promote Protective Thinking and Innovative Suggestions  
Employees shall take the responsibility to look for and advocate new ways of continuously improving the 
services offered by the City. It is expected that employees will perform to the best of his/her abilities and 
shall be responsible for his/her behavior and for fulfilling the professional commitments they make. 
Administrators and department heads shall encourage proactive thinking and embrace innovative 
suggestions from employees. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 2 March 24, 2025



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
VIRTUAL REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING ACCESS INSTRUCTIONS 

MONDAY, MARCH 24, 2025, 7:00 P.M. 
 
The regular meeting of the City of Swartz Creek city council is scheduled for March 24, 2025 starting at 
7:00 p.m. and will be conducted in hybrid form. The meeting will be available virtually (online and/or by 
phone). Council members and staff must attend in-person. The general public may attend in-person or 
virtually.  
 
To comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), any citizen requesting accommodation to 
attend this meeting, and/or to obtain the notice in alternate formats, please contact Renee Kraft, 810-429-
2766, 48 hours prior to meeting,   
 

Zoom Instructions for Participants 
 
To join the conference by phone: 
 

1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number provided below.  
2. Enter the Meeting ID number (also provided below) when prompted using your touch-tone 

(DTMF) keypad. 
 
Before a videoconference: 
 

1. You will need a computer, tablet, or smartphone with speaker or headphones.  You will have 
the opportunity to check your audio immediately upon joining a meeting. 

2. Details, phone numbers, and links to videoconference or conference call is provided below.  
The details include a link to “Join via computer” as well as phone numbers for a conference 
call option.  It will also include the 9-digit Meeting ID. 
 

To join the videoconference: 
   

1. At the start time of your meeting, enter the link to join via computer. You may be instructed to 
download the Zoom application. 

2. You have an opportunity to test your audio at this point by clicking on “Test Computer Audio.”  
Once you are satisfied that your audio works, click on “Join audio by computer.” 

 
You may also join a meeting without the link by going to join.zoom.us on any browser and entering the 
Meeting ID provided below. 
 
If you are having trouble hearing the meeting, you can join via telephone while remaining on the video 
conference: 
 

1. On your phone, dial the teleconferencing number provided below. 
2. Enter the Meeting ID number (also provided below) when prompted using your touchtone 

(DMTF) keypad. 
3. If you have already joined the meeting via computer, you will have the option to enter your 

participant ID to be associated with your computer. 
 
Participant controls in the lower left corner of the Zoom screen: 
 

City Council Packet 3 March 24, 2025



 
 
Using the icons in the lower left corner of the Zoom screen you can: 

 Mute/Unmute your microphone (far left) 
 Turn on/off camera (“Start/Stop Video”) 
 Invite other participants 
 View participant list-opens a pop-out screen that includes a “Raise Hand” icon that you may use 

to raise a virtual hand during Call to the Public 
 Change your screen name that is seen in the participant list and video window 
 Share your screen 

 
Somewhere (usually upper right corner on your computer screen) on your Zoom screen you will also see a 
choice to toggle between “speaker” and “gallery” view. “Speaker view” show the active speaker. 
 
Renee Kraft is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 
 
Topic: Swartz Creek City Council Meeting 
Time: March 24, 2025 at 7:00 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83096401128 
 
Meeting ID: 830 9640 1128 
 
One tap mobile 
+13017158592,,83096401128# US (Washington DC) 
+13126266799,,83096401128# US (Chicago) 
 
Dial by your location 
        +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
        +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
        +1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
        +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
        +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
        +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
 
Meeting ID: 830 9640 1128 
 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kz4Jb4etg 
 
If you have any further questions or concerns, please contact 810-429-2766 or email 
rkraft@cityofswartzcreek.org.   
A copy of this notice will be posted at City Hall, 8083 Civic Drive, Swartz Creek, Michigan.  
 

 
 
 

City Council Packet 4 March 24, 2025

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83096401128
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kz4Jb4etg
mailto:rkraft@cityofswartzcreek.org


CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
VIRTUAL (ELECTRONIC) MEETING RULES AND PROCEDURES 

 
In order to conduct an effective, open, accessible, and professional meeting, the following protocols 
shall apply. These protocols are derived from the standard practices of Swartz Creek public 
meetings, Roberts Rules of Order, the City Council General Operating Procedures, and other public 
board & commission procedures. These procedures are adopted to govern participation by staff, 
councilpersons and members of the public in all City meetings held electronically pursuant to PA 
228 of 2020. Note that these protocols do not replace or eliminate established procedures or 
practices. Their purpose is to augment standing expectations so that practices can be adapted to 
a virtual meeting format.  
 
The following shall apply to virtual meetings of the city’s public bodies that are held in accordance 
with the Open Meetings Act. 
 

1. Meetings of the City Council, Planning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, 
Downtown Development Authority, Park Board, or committees thereunder may meet 
electronically or permit electronic participation in such meetings insofar as (1) the 
Michigan Department of Health and Human Services restricts the number of persons 
who can gather indoors due to the COVID-19 pandemic; (2) there is in place a statewide 
or local state of emergency or state of disaster declared pursuant to law or charter by the 
governor or other person authorized to declare a state of emergency or disaster. 

 
2. All meetings held hereunder must provide for two-way communication so that members 

of the public body can hear and respond to members of the general public, and vice 
versa. 

 
3. Members of the public body who participate remotely must announce at the outset of the 

meeting that he/she is in fact attending the meeting remotely and by further identifying 
the specific physical location (by county, township, village and state) where he/she is 
located.  The meeting minutes must include this information. 

 
4. Notice of any meeting held electronically must be posted at the City Offices at least 18 

hours before the meeting begins and must clearly explain the following: 
 

(a) why the public body is meeting electronically; 
 
(b) how members of the public may participate in the meeting electronically, 
including the specific telephone number, internet address or similar log-in information 
needed to participate in the meeting; 
 
(c) how members of the public may contact members of the public body to provide 
input or ask questions on any business that will come before the public body at the 
meeting; 
 
(d) how persons with disabilities may participate in the meeting. 

 
5. The notice identified above must also be posted on the City’s website homepage or on 

a separate webpage dedicated to public notices for non-regularly scheduled or electronic 

City Council Packet 5 March 24, 2025



public meetings that is accessible through a prominent and conspicuous link on the 
website’s homepage that clearly describes the meeting’s purpose. 

 
6. The City must also post on the City website an agenda of the meeting at least 2 hours 

before the meeting begins. 
 
7. Members of the public may offer comment only when the Chair recognizes them and 

under rules established by the City. 
 
8. Members of the public who participate in a meeting held electronically may be excluded 

from participation in a closed session that is convened and held in compliance with the 
Open Meetings Act.  

 
MAINTAINING ORDER 
 
Public body members and all individuals participating shall preserve order and shall do 
nothing to interrupt or delay the proceedings of public body. 
 
All speakers shall identify themselves prior to each comment that follows another speaker, 
and they shall also indicate termination of their comment. For example, “Adam Zettel 
speaking. There were no new water main breaks to report last month. That is all.” 
 
Any participants found to disrupt a meeting shall be promptly removed by the city clerk or by 
order of the Mayor. Profanity in visual or auditory form is prohibited.  
 
The public body members, participating staff, and recognized staff/consultants/presenters 
shall be the only participants not muted by default. All other members must request to speak 
by raising their digital hand on the virtual application or by dialing *9 on their phone, if 
applicable.  
 
MOTIONS & RESOLUTIONS 

 
All Motions and Resolutions, whenever possible, shall be pre-written and in the positive, 
meaning yes is approved and no is defeated.  All motions shall require support.  A public 
body member who reads/moves for a motion may oppose, argue against or vote no on the 
motion.   

 
PUBLIC ADDRESS OF COUNCIL 

 
The public shall be allowed to address a public body under the following conditions: 

 
1. Each person who wishes to address the public body will be first recognized by the 

Mayor or Chair and requested to state his / her name and address. This applies to 
staff, petitioners, consultants, and similar participants.  

2. Individuals shall seek to be recognized by raising their digital hand as appropriate on 
the digital application.  

3. Petitioners are encouraged to appropriately identify their digital presence so they can 
be easily recognized during business. If you intend to call in only, please notify the 
clerk in advance of your phone number. 

City Council Packet 6 March 24, 2025



4. The city clerk shall unmute participants and the members of the public based upon 
the direction of the mayor or chair. Participants not recognized for this purpose shall 
be muted by default, including staff, petitioners, and consultants.  

5. Individuals shall be allowed five (5) minutes to address the public body, unless special 
permission is otherwise requested and granted by the Mayor or Chair. 

6. There shall be no questioning of speakers by the audience; however, the public body, 
upon recognition of the Mayor or Chair, may question the speaker. 

7. No one shall be allowed to address the public body more than once unless special 
permission is requested, and granted by the Mayor or Chair. 

8. One spokesperson for a group attending together will be allowed five (5) minutes to 
address the public body unless special permission has been requested and granted 
by the Mayor or Chair. 

9. Those addressing the public body shall refrain from being repetitive of information 
already presented. 

10. All comments and / or questions shall be directed to and through the Mayor or Chair. 
11. Public comments (those not on the agenda as speakers, petitioners, staff, and 

consultants) are reserved for the two “Public Comment” sections of the agenda and 
public hearings.  

 
VOTING RECORD OF PUBLIC BODIES 

 
All motions, ordinances, and resolutions shall be taken by "YES" and "NO" voice vote and 
the vote of each member entered upon the journal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 7 March 24, 2025



City of Swartz Creek 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Regular Council Meeting of Monday, March 24, 2025 - 7:00 P.M. 
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members 
FROM: Adam Zettel, City Manager 
DATE: March 19, 2025 
 
ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS 
 
 MICHIGAN TAX TRIBUNAL APPEALS (No Change of Status) 

There were not any commercial appeals for 2024. This was welcome and not unexpected 
since we know that market values are increasing much faster than taxable values. I suspect 
the same circumstances will apply to 2025 appeals, but we will need to wait until after May 
to know for sure.  
 

 STREETS(See Individual Category) 
 2025-2027 TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) (No Change of Status) 

We have tentative funding for Miller, Morrish to Dye, as well as Elms Road. These two 
streets are broken up into four separate projects for the Genesee County Traffic 
Improvement Program as noted below.  
 
The concrete section of Miller Road is proposed to be funded at 80% as a rehabilitation 
project. However, the other three segments have PASER 5 funds, and these funds are 
proposed to be limited. This limit is currently set at $55/lane foot, and funding is set to 
be only 80% of that, but this could change.  
 
Summarily, the good news is that federal funds are available for all submissions. The 
bad news was that the local match for all projects was initially over $2.1M. As of writing, 
we have new numbers in from OHM that reduce the projects down to very basic mill 
and resurfacing projects. This substantially reduces the overall price and cuts our local 
match from $2,142,772 in the original breakdown to $1,344, 070 as follows, a savings 
of about $800,000: 

 
Based on these new numbers, there is a path forward by which we can do all of the 
work. However, I was hoping to get the local match below $1M. Note that the projects 
have substantially reduced estimates for the typical level of curb, sidewalk, grading, and 
undercutting work. As priced, we are looking at projects that are more similar in nature 

Section Repair Type Beginning End Total Cost Federal Local 

Miller Concrete Repair 
East springpoint of 
Elms 

475' East of 
Tallmadge $668,502 $534,802 $133,700 

Elms Asphalt Resurfacing South City Limits North City Limits $730,313 $470,800 $259,513 
Miller Asphalt Resurfacing Morrish Elms $1,287,581 $747,384 $540,197 
Miller Asphalt Resurfacing Tallmadge Dye $1,524,916 $1,114,256 $410,660 

       
    $5,010,014 $2,867,242 $1,344,070 

City Council Packet 8 March 24, 2025



to the quick and easy Seymour Road resurfacing than the more involved Miller Road 
rehabilitation. However, given the condition of the streets at this point, I find such an 
investment to still be very much worth it with the matching funds.  
 
We will plan to proceed with all four streets. The big question we will be working on with 
the GCMPC and OHM is related to the phasing. We need to set a tentative plan to get 
all the work done in a three year window. Doing all the work at once will save costs on 
mobilization and will put the work behind us quicker, with fewer interruptions. However, 
that plan could be a traffic nightmare and may be inflexible should we need more time 
to set funds aside. We are likely to break this project into two phases, perhaps the 
concrete first, followed by all paving in a subsequent season.  
 
After meeting with GCMPC on January 16th, they intend to break the project into two 
phases with 2027 and 2029 being the construction years. This is later than we would 
like, but this is probably the best that can be arranged. We are trying to line up the 
asphalt phases of Miller Road first since those are the most time sensitive repair in order 
to prevent more costly decay. Note that a project occurring in 2026 is nearly impossible 
at this point because of the nine month delay with governmental agency reviews for 
engineered projects.  
 
STREET PROJECT UPDATES (Business Item x2) 
This is a standing section of the report on the status of streets as it relates to our 
dedicated levy, 20-year plan, ongoing projects, state funding, and committee work. 
Information from previous reports can be found in prior city council packets. 
 
Cappy Lane and Don Shenk project bids are in. Glaeser Dawes is the low bid out of 
seven bids at $2, 268,819.79. This is under the engineer’s estimate of $2,635,206. I am 
including the fully tabulated and verified bids tabs, the engineer’s recommendation, and 
a proposal for construction observation/engineering services by OHM.  
 
Glaser Dawes has performed much of the water main and street work in the city since 
2017. Their work has generally been on schedule, under budget, and of good quality. I 
recommend we proceed with awarding the contract for work to Glaeser Dawes and the 
agreement for engineering to OHM Advisors.  
 
Note that this project will require an advance from the general fund to complete in Fiscal 
Year 2026. This is due to cost increase to current work, the advancement of this project 
from the 2026 construction season, and ongoing negotiated items. Though the FY26 
budget has not been drafted yet, we are projecting a shortfall of funds for local street 
work of about $400,000. This amount will vary depending upon the final cost of projects 
underway, final cost of this project based on realized units in the field, tax/state revenues 
received, and outstanding negotiated items. To manage the situation, I am requesting 
approval with the condition that the street fund short fall be filled with a 60-month loan 
from the general fund at 4.25%.  
 
This can be, and hopefully will be, adjusted as some or all of these moving pieces are 
settled. However, in order to award the work with the understanding that there is not 
enough fund balance or projected current year revenues to support all work, the council 
must account for the difference.  

City Council Packet 9 March 24, 2025



 
The Genesee County Road Commission has approached the city and Clayton about 
maintenance on Bristol Road between Morrish and the city limit by Elms Road. They 
propose a 1.5” mill and resurface treatment this summer. Though we have been 
expecting to hear about possible work, we did not anticipate the timeline to be so short.  
 
We have a proposal before the council to support the $200,000 project. Now, as in the 
past, the city and township have evenly split costs that were not covered by the GCRC. 
This results in a 50% share to the GCRC, with 25% being put up by the city and 
township. This is the ask for Bristol Road as well, which would amount to an estimated 
$50,000 for the city.  
 
As noted elsewhere, street money is very tight. However, with dedicated revenue 
streams, a solution could be deferment of the invoicing from the GCRC and/or internal 
borrowing. I will note that this amount is very reasonable for this stretch. However, I do 
have concerns about the longevity of a 1.5” milling. I have made inquiries about 
alternative rehabilitation approaches, but the GCRC does not appear to be in a position 
to consider those. As noted in their communication, they believe this will be a ten-year 
rehabilitation.  
 
Based upon the current road condition, aggressive timeline, and limited options, I 
recommend the council proceed. A resolution is included to this end. Again, between 
this project and Cappy/Don Shenk, we will be very limited in local street projects until 
future budgets can reconcile general fund contributions. I expect this to be about three 
years.  
 
We have a revised claim regarding aggregate materials, which could impact our ability 
to take on future projects. Though the amount is greatly reduced, we still believe there 
is very little merit to any increase.  
 
We investigated submission for Elms and Miller Road intersection to the safety grant 
program, which is administered by the GCMPC in the same fashion as the Traffic 
Improvement Program. This intersection has been targeted for upgrades, including a 
potential traffic circle, to increase safety. However, the engineering indicates that the 
warranted improvements would have a 14-year payoff as calculated against the number 
and severity of recorded collisions. Since the competitive threshold is around 6 years, 
they advise that we do not apply at this time. 
 
2024 Winchester Village street reconstruction has entered the final stages. Aside from 
some very minor work and sump pump connections, we await spring restoration only. 
For more information on tree-related concerns, please refer to the October 28, 2024, 
city manager’s report.  
 
In Winchester Woods, street rehabilitation with limited drainage work has been 
successfully completed. Note that the milled sections did experience higher rates of 
cracking during the winter. This is unwelcome but not a sign of a project deficiency for 
this type of rehabilitation. One remaining ditching project on Oakview’s unimproved 
section is still on the docket. 
 

City Council Packet 10 March 24, 2025



For now, FOG seal applications are not a viable option.  
 

 WATER – SEWER ISSUES PENDING (See Individual Category) 
 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM (No Change of Status) 

Sewer work for 2024 is complete, and there were no areas identified for additional sewer 
work, such as lining. We will continue with the second year of the eight year cleaning 
and televising in 2025. Council approved to have Dependable Sewer address the areas 
of Bristol, Miller, and in Heritage that amount to about 17,000 lineal feet, as follows: 
 

2025 Sewer Cleaning and Televising 
        Manholes Numbers Footage 
Heritage Village   G1-G73  5107 
Bristol Rd.   A251-A265  5098 
Miller Rd.       A273-A287   6852 

     Total 17057 
       

Based upon the approved pricing of the three year agreement, I estimate that the work 
will cost around $80,000 for cleaning, televising, root cutting, and mobilization. Staff did 
include additional provisions for traffic control, which include a benchmark of MDOT 
standards. 
 
The city is also taking the next step forward in GIS (our Geographic Information System 
or mapping system). DLZ has been retained to do some repairs on our GIS map and to 
update the related data fields with existing information. They will also be updating the 
data regularly as new inspection and/or repair data is made available.  
 
See the January 13, 2025 report for historic and conceptual details regarding the city’s 
eight year inspection program. 
 

 WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT- USDA (No Change of Status) 
All water main work is substantially complete. There is some obvious restoration to do, 
which will take USDA closeout into winter, but for all intents and purposes, the water 
main is in and we are done with this phase of USDA work. 
 

 WATER PLANS (No Change of Status) 
We have a number of state-required plans and studies that are due in the coming 12-
18 months. These include our water reliability study, emergency response plan, and 
general plan. These documents are all currently up to date, but I wish to get a head start 
on their revisions so that we can use them for financial/construction planning, as well 
as to file with the state in a timely manner. To proceed, I am seeking a professional 
service agreement from OHM. They believe that revisions should be undemanding to 
update, which should result in an agreeable cost. 
 

 SEWER ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN (Update) 
We met with DLZ on March 5th to discuss our sewer plan update. We are working 
through a process to establish a base line of the system that will include monitoring 
flows at key points, continuing to update GIS, and potential robot line inspections to 
determine pipe details. Some of these functions, specifically monitoring, may be 

City Council Packet 11 March 24, 2025



requested sooner because of the time it takes to complete those functions and integrate 
them into a plan.  
 
Following the potential first step of monitoring, I expect a proposal in April that will 
enable DLZ to create a new 20 year plan for potential capacity expansions, 
replacement, extensions, rehabilitation, and inspection. This plan is also expected to 
result in the city’s first ‘live’ sewer plan and mapping system that will actively account 
for new connections (flow), real time capacity, and inspection data. Of course, much of 
this will build on the GIS work DLZ is currently doing.  
 
The prior report follows.  
 
It is my opinion that our 20 year sewer plan is losing more and more of its value as time 
goes on. This is because of the deviations that have been made to the schedule for one 
reason or another (pulling projects forward, limiting lining activities due to inspection 
data, and considerations of system changes such as the Springbrook relief sewer).  
 
Since the county is also calling for communities to more formally invest in sewer asset 
management plans that address system capacity, maintenance, expansion, and 
inflow/infiltration, I think the time is right to use our developing sewer GIS data and 
create a brand new plan for the next 10-20 years.  
 
To accomplish this, I reached out to DLZ for a proposal. This engineering company is 
one of the city’s prequalified engineers, and they have been more heavily involved in 
our sewer system because we have found that they have expertise in GIS, the FOG 
program, and similar storm water management functions, like MS4.  
 

 SEWER LIFT STATION (No Change of Status) 
We have been having conversations about reliability and criticality of our infrastructure. 
With much work having been done in water and with sewer lining, our area of greatest 
concern is with the sewer lift station. The Cappy Lane lift station is responsible for 
pumping nearly all of the Winchester Village sewage into the county interceptor. Without 
this, hundreds of basements could potentially fill with raw sewage. This is obviously a 
health and financial concern for residents.  
 
I will directly state that the concern or risk is extremely small, and it is a credit to our 
infrastructure that this concern rises to the top. The lift station is less than ten years old, 
has a three pump redundancy system, a natural gas automatic back up generator (also 
newer), and just passed an annual inspection with flying colors. With that being said, 
short of an existential catastrophe, failure of this asset would be the most costly and 
disruptive event in the city that is related to infrastructure we control, and we wish to 
add one or two more layers of functionality as a safeguard. 
 
Rob is looking into the potential of locating one of our diesel generators onsite, as well 
as to install or provide a pump that could suction the well out and discharge it to another 
section of the sewer interceptor. In effect, this would protect the system from a shortage 
of CE natural gas AND electricity, a control panel failure that impacts all three pumps, 
and a failure of the county sewer interceptor (collapse or blockage).  
 

City Council Packet 12 March 24, 2025



This may seem like overkill, but we have had some problems with the panel in the past 
and have all been in situations where multiple system failures are experienced. We 
believe we can add this extra protection for under or close to $100,000, which is a small 
price to pay for ensuring this lift station functions.  
 

 HYDRANTS (No Change of Status) 
The hydrant painting will commence in spring. I believe all blasted hydrants have been 
painted or at least primed. We are not pleased with the performance so far as it relates 
to timing, but the work appears to be adequate. 
 

 GENESEE COUNTY WATER & SEWER MATTERS (No Change of Status) 
Work is complete on a new section of water main that will connect Elms/Maple to Hill, 
and on to Morrish. This will provide some additional redundancy for the system. Water 
main is being installed on Elms, between Maple and Hill.  Connection down Hill to 
Seymour is expected next year. I am making inquiries to the county to see if this is 
something we need to plan for. It does not appear that a connection is imminent.  
 
These two connections will greatly increase reliability in the city, especially on our 
extreme west end, where we have a pronounced need for a second feed from either 
Clayton or Gaines. As a side note, this could encourage some new development south 
of the city, which is common to experience when utilities are extended during strong 
economic periods.  
 
See prior reports (May 28, 2024) for updates on PFAS. At a meeting of the WWS 
Advisory Committee in December, it was again stressed that there is not a good solution 
for PFAS effluence. The county may be forced to devise a plan for incineration as land 
application and landfill disposal becomes more problematic. This could result in future 
added costs.  
 
It was affirmed during the GCDC-WWS budget meeting in December that there is no 
rate increase planned for our bulk water. 
 

 HERITAGE VACANT LOTS (No Change of Status) 
Another privately owned lot is having a new home built. The water service could not be 
located, so the city provided one at our expense.  
 
The city also has two more lots that were acquired through the tax reversion process.  There 
is interest by the builder to proceed with acquisition and construction. In addition, the 
association manager reached out about permitted designs and builders for the subdivision. 
There could be renewed interest in some building. This would finally clear us of the 
subdivision and put the association in a better position to build membership and dues for 
their operations.  
 
Though the city cannot retain funds in addition to expenses for these lots, we are still 
expected to sell them at market value. Listings in Heritage for vacant units are $10,000-
$12,000, and none of them are moving. I propose a price of $10,000 for each lot. If there is 
no objection, I will bring this back to the council for the first step of the sale process.  
 

 NEWSLETTER (Update) 

City Council Packet 13 March 24, 2025



The April newsletter is due to go out in a couple weeks. It is going to cover spring 
announcements and reminders, such as wood chipping guidelines, the new utility bill 
schedule, and standard public safety messages. Let me know if you have other content 
ideas! 
 

 CONSTRUCTION & DEVELOPMENT UPDATE (See Individual Category) 
This will be a standing section of the report that provides a consolidated list for a brief status 
on public and private construction/developmental projects in the city. Many of these briefs 
are covered in more detail elsewhere in this report 
 

1. Additional demolitions have been undertaken by the owner of the raceway. The 
owner intends to have the site razed for future use. The site is not formally for sale, 
nor is there a concept plan for reuse. 

2. The reuse of Mary Crapo is moving forward. Construction is underway on phase 
one of the varsity baseball field. There will be two pickleball courts that can double 
as skating in the winter. Most recently, we have fielded a number of afterhours 
construction/noise complaints. We believe we have addressed this with the school. 

3. (Update) Street repair in 2025 (Cappy and Don Shenk) is on the agenda for 
consideration, as is a cooperative project for Bristol Road. We are going through 
punch lists now for the 2024 projects, but we still need to settle the dispute over 
aggregate amounts. Local street work in 2026-2028 will be limited due to 
advancement of the above projects. However, TIP funds are still pending for Miller 
(Morrish to Dye) and Elms.  

4. The Brewer Condo Project first tri-plex is complete and all units are sold. In 
addition to a potential redesign that would include a first floor bedroom, the 
developer was expected to apply to the Genesee County Metropolitan Planning 
Commission Housing Impact Fund to complete the project. I will report any changes 
in status. 

5. (Update) The current phase of Springbrook East is substantially complete. We 
created a punch list for the infrastructure improvements, which the owner has 
completed. The next step is to proceed with formal street dedication. I expected this 
in January, but the owner was in a tragic accident, which slowed the process. 
Things are moving again, so we may have a resolution before the council in April 
to accept the streets, water, sewer, and storm. There has been a sale of this 
project’s future phases and real estate. It appears JW Morgan and another 
partner are in control of future phases. 

6. The southwest corner of Elms & Miller was seeing some increased activity. We 
met with the owner and an architect yet again in January. Though there is nothing 
imminent, there is enough interest to make me believe we may see something in 
2025. 

7. Park projects currently include an active grant award for Otterburn.  The city will 
also look to bid the tree project for Abrams Park this fall (not spring as previously 
reported), which was awarded about $10,000 through the DNR. The park board 
recommends interpretive signs and bike racks. These projects may require more 
time this spring to complete. Signs are awaiting availability of the historical society 
to furnish content. Bike racks were to be completed by others, but that donation fell 
through. We will look to add these ourselves. We will be creating a 2025 priority list 
soon with Park Board. 

8. New Businesses. No activity to report.  

City Council Packet 14 March 24, 2025



9. Mundy Megasite.  We continue to get hints that this is imminent, and the media 
has identified the site as a Western Digital technology producer. We have yet to 
meet with the MEDC or WD on this matter, so we can only speculate. With that 
said, I did reach out to the MEDC to request cooperation and leadership as it relates 
to proceeding with investment, planning, and regional cohesiveness upon a 
potential announcement. I am not sure if they will take on this role or not. If not, I 
plan to try to start a grass roots effort.  

10. Holland Square has updated material costs. We are integrating these costs into 
the plan and will be getting the committee together soon. We plan to fund this 
project with $75,000 from MSHDA and matching funds from the MEDC 
crowdfunding program (which could be as much as $150,000).  

11. Wayfinding planning is complete. The concept is being applied to the trail signs, 
since these have already been funded by the Cosmos campaign. These will be up 
this spring along the new trail. Once complete, the DDA and council can liaise on 
if, when, and how to proceed with installation. In the meantime, someone drove 
over our entry sign on Hill Road. We are applying the concept to this replacement 
as a pilot. 

12. The DDA considered a Social District about two years ago. There is renewed 
interest in exploring this. No recommendations have been made, but I would not be 
surprised if this was back on DDA agenda’s this spring or summer. With the 
potential for another tavern coming, the city has the ability to designate a commons 
area in the community.  

13. (Update) The Old Methodist Church has been acquired by the DDA. It is vacant, 
secure, and heated. The DDA and staff worked with the MEDC consultant (paid for 
by virtue of the RRC program) to create a request for qualifications to help find an 
end user/developer. This was approved for distribution at the March 13 DDA 
meeting. 

 
 REDEVELOPMENT READY COMMUNITIES (No Change of Status) 

The DDA completed the purchase of the Methodist Church on Morrish. They made this 
acquisition as a means to create more likely opportunities for the building’s preservation 
and reuse for recreation, hospitality, or culture. We requested MEDC assistance through 
the RRC program to create a Request for Qualifications for reuse of the site. This has been 
approved. The DDA will now work with professionals to create a marketable request for 
developer/user qualifications and concepts.  
 
The idea will be to market the site to potential users and request statements from interested 
parties that include a conceptual use, business plans, and qualifications. The DDA can then 
proceed to select one or more parties to negotiate a plan and transaction. To make this 
happen, the state is hiring a professional to craft a Request for Qualifications packet that 
will include promotional materials, project guidelines, and rating criteria. I expect the DDA 
to take the lead on finding a good use and developer. 
 
The DDA is also taking the lead on Holland Square, which is a candidate for a future 
crowdfunding program. Please see the dedicated section below.  
 

 CDBG (No Change of Status) 
The applications for the next cycle (2025-2027) have been submitted. These include a 30% 
allocation to the senior center and a 70% allocation to an accessible drop off point for the 

City Council Packet 15 March 24, 2025



Pajtas Amphitheater. It appears the county has tentatively approved both. We submitted 
additional information as requested. This is likely to be a 2026 project. Note that we have 
had issues bidding this type of work in the past. However, given the rush we were put in 
with the change in our fundable status, I think this is a good project. I will report the 
application status. 
 

 DISC GOLF (No Change of Status) 
Shattered Chains has completed the course as it relates to the 18 baskets and fairways. 
They plan to have all the tee pads installed by the end of the month, and all 
bridges/crossings are in and very functional! In fact, they are holding an event on October 
26th as part of a Halloween/course kick off attraction.  
 
They expect to have signs installed in early 2025 to mark the course. Once complete, a 
ribbon cutting will follow! 
 

 OTTERBURN PARK DEVELOPMENT (Update) 
The engineer is surveying the property and expects to have information to the park board 
for review in April. Their update was included in the February 24 packet. We were hopeful 
to move quickly on design so we could construct in 2025. However, the DNR indicates that 
grant agreements may not be distributed until this summer, which makes summer/fall 
construction virtually impossible. The upside is that we have plenty of time to design and 
plan improvements. The previous report follows.  
 
Our DNR Trust Fund grant application was approved by the DNR Trust Fund Board on 
December 11th in the amount of $290,000! We have also signed on the sub-recipient 
agreement for the $283,333.33 in funds from Kildee’s office. In addition, we have two years 
worth of donations from BeeMoreJentery that total well over $10,000. 
 
The city subsequently approved a proposal from Rowe Professional Services Company to 
move the project forward with the intention of bidding the project for completion in 2025 or 
2026. Rowe has been the most involved engineer with our recreation planning. This is the 
firm that has worked on our park plan, created the Otterburn Park concepts/pricing, and 
which we find to have a suitable park experience.  
 
We are still awaiting a grant agreement with the DNR, but we can proceed with engineering 
services without those funds.  
 
The project now includes a pavilion, restrooms, a path, bike station, gates, sign, and ADA 
parking. The estimated total cost is $600,000. This concept includes all original work items, 
excluding the disc golf and sledding hill (now complete), as well as a secondary pavilion on 
the far north side of the site, which is not affordable. I am including the most recent concept, 
pricing, and engineering proposal.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 16 March 24, 2025



 SOLAR SYSTEM MODEL (Update) 
Local signs are installed, and so is the station in Nelson, New 
Zealand! We have a typo to repair for them, but then we are 100% 
done with the stations. Local trail marker signs should be ordered and 
installed any time! I have also added this as an attraction on Google 
Maps (feel free to add reviews or summer pictures).  
 
A ribbon cutting is set for Elms Park on Tuesday, May 20, 2025 at 
5:30pm! This will coincide with our May Park Board Meeting. See the 
April 8, 2024, council packet for more details. 
 

 WAYFINDING PROJECT (No Change of Status) 
Wayfinding planning is complete, and we have more affordable 
pricing from Signs by Cranie to make this work. To take the first step, 
we are adapting the concepts to the trail head signs and trail wayfinding signs that are 
already planned and paid for (through the Cosmos crowdfunding campaign). The park 
board took a look at the concepts and made final recommendations on details. We are 
now finalizing new park maps, which are impressive.  
 
In addition, the city entry sign on Hill Road was driven over and destroyed. Instead of 
replacing this sign with the standard ‘government’ sign, we are pricing out a gateway sign 
that fits the sign program. If pursued, this will give us a sense of how these would look.  
 

 SOCIAL DISTRICT (No Change of Status) 
The DDA had a discussion about the potential for a social district in the downtown area. 
There is some potential for this to have a positive impact by attracting events and visitors 
to encourage commerce and desirable activities in the community. There is also the 
potential for this to generate undesirable nonsense, bad behavior, litter, etc.  The DDA did 
not act on this. They intend to independently consider how a district might impact the 
community, be received by the residents, and support businesses. See the April 8, 2024 
packet for more details. 
 

 HOLLAND SQUARE CROWDFUNDING PROJECT (No Change of Status)  
The proposal was shared at the February 4th planning commission meeting. This was 
intended to be a joint meeting of the PC, DDA, and ZBA, but attendance was limited to only 
one addition, devoted attendee. There were no additional comments.  
 
Just prior to this, the committee met in mid-January. They are fine tuning the concept prior 
to ordering construction drawings. At their last meeting, they decided to go with a laminated, 
engineered wood product. This will offer much longer longevity, easier maintenance, and 
the ability to readily relocate the structure. The downside is that it comes with a 40% higher 
price tag. With Greg seeking contributions and the other funds lined up, we should be able 
to swing it.  
 
Some details that are still pending include lighting and sound. We expect to meet again in 
about two weeks to put together a final cost and plan. Once complete, this will go before 
the DDA and city council. The previous report follows.  
 

City Council Packet 17 March 24, 2025



We are working to formalize the $75,000 in MSHDA grant funds. This will make the 
powering of the structure, along with lighting and sound, a reality! MSHDA is asking that 
we sign off on a grant agreement by September 30th. Since this is our last meeting, I am 
hopeful they will provide us with such an agreement prior to our meeting. As of writing, I do 
not have it. If it is not available prior to our meeting, I will include as much of the supporting 
documentation as I can and ask the council to enable myself or the Mayor to execute the 
agreement when it is available.  
 
The project is still being reviewed by the committee and we await updated costs and plans 
for the structure and technology components. We are nearing the creation of detailed plans, 
which will provide more finely tuned costs and imagery for review by the city council. I seek 
to have this in the month of September.  
 

 SPRINGBROOK STREET DEDICATION INQUIRY (No Change of Status) 
I met with the HOA street committee on February 24th, along with Councilmember Spillane. 
The group is proceeding with rehabilitation of Cross Creek, using the best practices 
recommended by our engineer. They are also interested in continued in-kind services 
during final planning and construction to ensure project quality. If the city is still open to 
taking these streets, I recommend this support be given to ensure the assets are 
optimized.  
 
Beyond their 2025 work, there is still much discussion, and I do not see this moving forward 
very quickly. They have a lot of questions about winter maintenance, solicitation control, 
sidewalks, and costs. The previous report follows. 
 
The HOA completed three cores on Cross Creek Drive to better understand the pavement 
cross section that is there. It appears the road is generally built of 10” thick asphalt on clay 
instead of 5” asphalt on 10” of aggregate. Leadership from the HOA met with our engineers 
and staff to go over the implications of this finding on January 21st.  
 
For the time being, they are taking the informal advice of our engineers and adjusting some 
of their plans for the 2025-2026 construction years. Though there is not any further 
movement towards a potential street transfer, they appear to be proceeding with street 
maintenance and rehabilitation in a manner that would meet city standards.  
 
I expect to be meeting with the group regularly moving forward. See the October 14, 2024 
report for all the details of this request, as well as a historical and contextual narrative. 
 

 ABRAMS FORESTRY GRANT (No Change of Status) 
The city has been awarded $9,890 through the Community Forestry Grant Program to plant 
38 native trees in Abrams Park. There are no strings attached here except that we are to 
provide an equal match. The time for performance is through fall of 2026, and there are no 
NEPA, Davis Bacon, or other federal requirements. I expected to bid this early in 2025, but 
we are going to push to the fall to increase survivability of trees.  
 

 QUALIFICATIONS BASED SELECTION FOR ENGINEERING SERVICES (Update) 
QBS submissions are in from eight firms, which is the most ever that we have on record. A 
team of three reviewed them, and the ratings are attached. I am also providing the full 
request for submissions that were released, which includes the rating criteria.  The 

City Council Packet 18 March 24, 2025



submissions are not included in the packet because they are extensive in scope and scale, 
but they are available to view in hardcopy if anyone is interested.  
 
In the past, staff has recommended multiple firms be authorized for federal and MDOT 
work to diversify expertise, enable separation of duties (as often required by MDOT), and 
to give the city options for pricing or to manage a potential conflict. We are staying the 
course with that practice by recommending the top five firms be authorized. This includes 
the three we have been working with (OHM, Rowe, and DLZ). It also includes Spaulding 
Dedecker and Fleis & Vandenbrink, which have impressive credentials.  
 
The other three firms, though not as competitive for our needs, do offer various strengths 
and expertise. Given the varied nature of engineering, I seek authorization from the council 
to be able to engage these firms as well should the need arise. Doing so in the past has 
opened up doors to alternative options and provided a degree of healthy competition 
among all providers.  
 
Do not hesitate to reach out with questions or to peruse the submissions. A resolution is 
included to authorize the top five firms for QBS federal work, as well as the other three for 
general services. 
 

 BUILDING CODES AND FEES (Update) 
The State of Michigan is moving ahead with updating the state building code. This process 
will likely take a year and will certainly result in changes for builders in the community.  
 
Staff has been meeting with Mundy Township to go over the short and long term capacity 
of our shared building department, including contingencies for a potential project at the 
Advanced Manufacturing District site. I am comfortable that we will continue to provide 
predictable, professional, and efficient services moving forward.  
 
As predicted, there is a request to increase our rates and fees for standard building 
services. Given that we have not meaningfully adjusted our building fees in about a decade, 
which support all staff and contracted inspectors, this is a very reasonable request. As 
promised, I have revised a new fee schedule that meets current expectations and largely 
aligns with our building department partner, Mundy (See February 24, 2025 packet).  
 
This is now attached again for approval. In addition, I am adding a fee for Zoning Letters 
and additional solicitation permits. Zoning letters are typically requested by commercial 
underwriters for developed property in which staff researches the property for non-
conformities, prior permits, existing violations, etc. These letters can take 30-90 minutes to 
craft, and we have been providing them for free in the past. We are now getting more and 
more, perhaps as buyers begin to speculate on the Advanced Manufacturing District. We 
are adding a fee for additional background checks with solicitation permits because some 
companies want as many as twenty individuals vetted and credentialed with their initial 
application. 
 
To tie into this, we have negotiated an updated building services agreement that I believe 
is ready for review by the city council. This agreement better captures the current 
arrangement for services than the prior, three page agreement. In essence, much of the 
work performed and the procedural methods that are currently employed exist only 

City Council Packet 19 March 24, 2025



because of past practice and mutual understandings. Both parties believe this should be 
better documented so future administrations need not question responsibilities and 
expectations.  
 
You will note that the fee schedule here is likewise adjusted to account for the increases. 
These increases not only account for overdue inflationary adjustments, they also account 
for new services. For example, the city has not previously been in the practice of reviewing 
grading, plot, and drainage plans for new single family residential dwellings with the level 
of scrutiny that we do now. In the past, rural communities could and still do get away with 
limited or no reviews without resulting issues to the parcel in question or its neighbors. We 
have observed that the level of scrutiny must increase with such permits in order to assure 
the properties and structures are developed in a manner consistent with site plans, 
engineering design standards, and building codes.  
 
With that said, I support the amended agreement and fee schedules that are included in 
the packet. This will be a bit of a shock to the development community, but the rates are in 
line with similarly situated parties. If anything, I have allowed the rates to be stagnant for 
too long and have brought this issue upon us by not being more aggressive in the past. 
This is something we try to avoid, especially with utilities, for obvious reasons.  
 

 COLLECTIVE AND INDIVIDUAL LABOR AGREEMENTS (Update) 
We are scheduled to have our first meeting on March 25 with a new (to us) AFSCME 
representative. The negotiations are expected to be on schedule. The previous report 
follows.  
 
All of our labor agreements expire on June 30, 2025. I have reached out to AFSCME for 
an initial agreement to update our collective bargaining agreement (CBA), which will serve 
as the pattern for remaining staff. I do expect significant changes in the document because 
we are without defined benefit pension and defined benefit retirement medical employees. 
This is a big change, which will remove many sections of the CBA. Otherwise, I do not 
expect much change in the CBA aside from inflationary adjustments and tweaks to existing 
provisions. However, we will see where things go. The labor agreements span for three 
years.  
 

 FUTURE WASTE, RECYCLING, AND YARD WASTE COLLECTION (Update) 
Our contract with Priority for collection expires at the end of June in 2026. We are taking a 
look around at current awards by similar municipalities, and the prices appear to be up 30 
to 40%! This is an extreme and possibly insurmountable increase for our waste budget.  
 
To improve our situation, I reached out to our neighbors to attempt to align bidding together 
for some economies of scale. So far, Flint Township, Mundy (expiring December 31, 2026), 
Clayton (expiring December 31, 2025) and Gaines Township liaisons have expressed an 
interest to do so. We are looking to align our expirations with extensions in order to seek 
bids for the same time frame. This should enable providers to price for greater economies 
of scale.  

 
 FISCAL YEAR 2026 BUDGET (No Change of Status) 

We are starting the budget process. Based upon taxable values, we can probably expect 
a total revenue increase of between 3-4% from taxes. This includes the impact of property 

City Council Packet 20 March 24, 2025



appreciation and new construction. Since appreciation has been high, and there have 
been uncapped properties impacting the tax roll, I do expect a Headlee Rollback. As in the 
past, I am including a discussion sheet on the impacts of Headlee and Proposal A. 
 
Our first steps will be to estimate major revenues (tax collections, state revenue sharing, 
Act 51 road revenues, and utility collections). We will then consider interest payments, 
fees, lease payments, and other sources. The next step will be to assign new estimated 
labor rates for the next year. Benefit rates, fire contributions, Metro contributions, and 
similar expenses will be estimated on the current calendar year needs and an estimate of 
the first half of 2026.  
 
Lastly, staff will include construction, project, and maintenance expenses that vary from 
year to year. This will include the street projects, water main, sewer inspections/lining, park 
work, and special projects.  
 
Once complete, we will hold a workshop with the city council, followed by a later public 
hearing on the budget and a subsequent approval. The aggressive timeline is as follows, 
but I think it is likely that this will be pushed back one week: 
 

April 28: Workshop and first full draft to city council 
May 12: Public hearing 
May 27: Approval 
June 9: Delivery of final Budget Book 

 
Concerning some early thoughts or implications, I expect this budget to be minimalist, with 
the exception of the Don Shenk & Cappy project. As noted, this project is going to stress 
our street resources to the maximum and may require a general fund transfer (if available) 
or a general fund loan against future road collections.  
 
As such, I expect park projects, wayfinding, and other discretionary expenses to be a 
minimum. Barring a need to invest in services or planning to accommodate changes with 
the Advanced Manufacturing Site, I foresee balanced budgets for all funds, with the 
exception of streets.  
 
There is no projected change to utility rates or levies, with the notable exception of the 
expected decreases due to Headlee.  
 
We expect our staffing to remain the same:  
 

Four FT Department Heads (City Manager, Treasurer, Clerk, & DPW) 
Two FT Office Administrators 
One PT Office Administrator 
One FT DPW Service Employee Supervisor 
Four FT DPW Service Employees 
One PT DPW Service Employee 
Two DPW Summer Temporary Service Employees 
One Contracted Assessing Service 
30% of a Shared Community Development Director 

 

City Council Packet 21 March 24, 2025



 OTHER COMMUNICATIONS & HAPPENINGS (See Individual Category) 
 

 MONTHLY REPORTS (Update) 
Monthly reports are included. 

 
 BOARDS & COMMISSIONS (See Individual Category) 
 PLANNING COMMISSION (Update) 

The Planning Commission did not meet in March, but they did the Managing Risk 
course at the Metro PD headquarters on Wednesday, March 12th at 6pm. We had about 
20 folks come out.  
 
I do expect a site plan submission from Meijer, that is updating their store and gas 
station. This is expected to be on the May agenda. 
 
They do not have business for the April 1, 2025 meeting. 
 

 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (Business Item) 
The DDA met on March 13. Attendance was 8 of 9 members. The board approved 
support for Jeepers Creekers and the Summer Concert Series. They also authorized 
distribution of the Methodist Church Request for Qualifications. I will distribute this in a 
council packet once it is live. 
 
Lastly, the DDA considered a proposal to install a level two electric vehicle charging 
station in downtown. As requested by some members of the public, EV charging stations 
can provide direct value and support to locals that wish to pursue EV ownership. In 
addition, locating such chargers in a public place can help draw some potential 
customers and visitors from I-69 to spend an hour or so in downtown.  
 
Greg investigated and discovered that a single pedestal with two chargers could be 
located downtown at very little cost to the city. Consumers Energy is offering a $10,000 
rebate for such an installation. After consideration, two parking spaces on the east side 
of Holland Drive, by the park, were selected for siting. It is felt that this location offers 
access to power, easy access to downtown, and minimal conflict with high demand 
parking.  
 
The DDA authorized financial support for the pedestal installation at their meeting in 
March. Approval rests with the City Council for installation on public property. Approval 
in this case also conveys ownership. Greg and I are confident that the acceptance, 
ownership, and operation of an EV charger is not demanding and would be in the best 
interest of the public. I am hopeful that the council concurs with the DDA, authorizes the 
installation, and accepts ownership.  
 
Note that ownership should be revenue neutral. A small percentage of customer 
proceeds shall go to the software operator that will monitor, market, and conduct 
transactions for the station. The rest will come to the city to support CE payments, 
ongoing maintenance, and related costs. In theory, profits’ could be made, but that is 
not the model that is being pursued, and it is premature to speculate that this would 
earn surplus proceeds.  
 

City Council Packet 22 March 24, 2025



 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (Update) 
Their ZBA held their annual meeting, on March 19th. The board retained the same 
officers of Mr. Packer as Chair, Mr. Gilbert as Vice Chair, and Mr. Smith as Secretary. 
This meeting also included in-house training, which went well. 
 

 PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION (Update) 
The park board met on March 18th. They deliberated on the Butterfly Garden and the 
potential for skating at Abrams Park.  
 
Concerning the butterfly garden, the city has accepted the donation and installation of 
gardens one, two, and three. However, this is only a small part of the greater plan. At 
the meeting, the Friends of Abrams Park presented a concept master plan with three 
phases. This is included in the packet. Future items include more plantings, a labyrinth, 
a game board, a putting green and other features.  
 
The FoAP was also requesting immediate approval by the city to accept the donation 
and installation for the rest of Phase I. After consideration, the park board supported the 
master plan in concept and recommends approval of the remainder of Phase I, with 
conditions. Those conditions include oversight by the DPW, ongoing maintenance 
expectations by FoAP, an acknowledgement that the city man not be able to maintain 
these assets if FoAP ceases to do so, and a requirement to review and approve future 
phases prior to donation and installation.  
 
A resolution is included in the packet that aligns with this recommendation.  
 
The final Otterburn Park design efforts are underway, and there should be something 
on the April agenda. A progress report by Rowe on this matter is included in the 
February 24 packet.   
 

 BOARD OF REVIEW (Update) 
The public meetings for March appeals were Monday, March 17 from 9am to 12pm & 
6pm to 9pm; Tuesday, March 18 from 9am to 12pm; and Wednesday, March 19 from 
9am to 12pm. There were twelve total petitioners. Six were late personal property 
statements and six were assessment appeals. 
 

 CLERK’S OFFICE/ELECTION UPDATE (Kraft) (Update) 
Routine duties include record management, publications, FOIA request, human resources, 
payroll approval and everything related to elections. 
 
As of today, we do not have an election in 2025. 
 

 DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY SERVICES UPDATE (Bincsik) (Update) 
 DPS continues to GPS water and sewer assets. This will be ongoing for most of the 

year as we have time available. 
 DPS continues to update water meter transponders, registers and meters as needed. 

DPS has shortened the list considerably and this quarter there were only 4 
transponders that needed to be replaced. Every quarter several transponders fail 
mostly due to age. But we are gaining on the amount of non reads due to transponder 
failures. 

City Council Packet 23 March 24, 2025



 DPS has responded to 24 snow events so far this season. 
 DPS has been working on repairing the street sweeper. 
 DPS has been looking into increased redundancy for the Cappy Lane Pump Station. 

We have received some quotes back on the work and are still waiting for others. 
 Tentatively the tree removals on Maple St. will start the week of April 7th. 
 DPS has been pot hole patching throughout the city. 
 Contractor for Cappy Lane and Don Shenk has been selected. Glacier Dawes was 

the low bidder and was selected to be the contractor. Their bid was under the 
engineer’s estimate. 

 DPS has been working on some tree trimming. Tree trimming will mostly stop as the 
trees are starting to bud and the trimming is stressful for the trees. 

 DPS has been working on a large amount of Miss Dig staking tickets for the Frontier 
Fiber Optic cabling project throughout town and Consumers tickets for Don Shenk and 
Cappy Ln. gas renewal. 

 Park bathrooms will open pending weather. We are still getting below freezing most 
nights. 
 

 TREASURER UPDATE (Nichols) (No Change of Status) 
2024 property tax season has ended.   Settlement with the County will happen on March 
25th.  The FY26 budget process has begun and is expected to be completed on time.  
Routine operations include, but are not limited to, processing payments for utility bills, tax 
bills, delinquent personal and qualified real taxes, building permits, daily/weekly/monthly 
journal entries, bank wires, review/approval of accounts payable invoices, issuance of 
building permits and rental inspection collections, processing payroll, accounting for grants 
and projects and other financial matters impacting the city. 

 
 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT UPDATE (Dietrich) (Update) 

1. Holland Sq: We continue to engage with Dort Financial CU detailing the opportunity of 
naming rights for the proposed pergola. DDA has requested a $50,000 naming rights 
opportunity. 

2. Methodist Church: We have accepted the services of Aligned Planning who will deliver 
a RFQ with a marketing package for the site. The scope of work will include project 
meetings, graphic design and document development, concept design, selection 
process and the RFQ Document.  

3. EV Chargers: We have signed an agreement with Apple Energy to install four chargers. 
Initially it was presented that the ownership of level 2 chargers would best be handled 
by a third-party but after an assessment from Apple Energy it would be beneficial for the 
City/DDA to own the chargers and keep the full amount of revenue.  In addition, because 
of recent funding changes with the Consumers grants it was determined to add 2 more 
level 2 chargers so that the full grant amount would cover installation. The chargers will 
be placed on the east side of Holland all the way to the south to avoid them being in front 
of residential homes.  

4. The City has purchased the services of Formstack which is an online from that the city 
will be using for food truck applications, back ground checks and complaint forms. This 
will provide an easy and more efficient way of exchanging information between the city 
and residents. 

5. The Movie Night Series dates have been set for the summer.  The dates selected are 
June 27th, July 11th, 25th and August 8th.  Food truck service will be available along with 

City Council Packet 24 March 24, 2025



kids games, a bounce house, a balloon artist and a magician. The events will be 
advertised on Facebook around the end of March or early April.  

   
NEW BUSINESS / PROJECTED ISSUES & PROJECTS 

 
 APPOINTMENTS (Update) 

Vacant positions that still need to be filled are the ZBA Alternate and the Board of Review 
Alternate. We have an application that was just received for ZBA. This may be on the next 
agenda.  
 

 CLOSED SESSION (Business Item) 
We have an opinion letter from the city attorney regarding a potential settlement. I wish to 
consult with the attorney in closed session to avoid any detrimental financial effect that 
could occur as a result of holding such a consultation in open session.  

 
 CAR SHOW APPLICATION (Business Item) 

This decision was postposed at the last meeting pending demonstration by the applicant 
that their charitable entity is in good standing. I am including all new communications from 
the petitioner. Note that some of this may appear in duplicate, but I did not wish to be the 
filter for their demonstration of compliance with expectations. You will see that the IRS 
501c3 has been filed and accepted, as well as the LARA annual report updates. 
 
The previous report follows. 
 
The Dragon’s Cruise nonprofit corporation is seeking approval to operate a car show on 
two Saturdays this year in downtown. They request closure and use of Holland Square, 
Holland Drive, and Miller Road (Morrish to Hayes) on May 24th and September 27th, from 
11am to 4pm. The event is to include classic car display, food trucks, crafts, DJ music 
 
Their applications, map, and narrative are included in the packet. I am still awaiting 
insurance. This group has held events in the downtown before but moved their car show 
offsite in 2023 because of the Miller Road work.  
 
The police chief has signed their application, and there are no comments from the DPW. 
I am including a resolution to approve the event.  

 
 AMBULANCE SERVICES (Business Item) 

I have requested that Medstar attend a future meeting to report on their activities and 
status. Kolby Miller is scheduled to attend our meeting to give this report. If available, I will 
distribute any data beforehand. This is something we do expect on an annual basis. 
 
Note that our preferential service agreement with Medstar is still recognized by 9-1-1 and 
appears to be working well. However, there are other communities without preferential 
service agreements that are advocating a different position as it relates to county-wide 
services. I suspect Mr. Miller will speak to this point. 
 
In the past year, we have only received one complaint about the service, and that was 
related to protocols exercised when providing care to assisted living patients that required 

City Council Packet 25 March 24, 2025



advocacy. I believe this has been resolved but will ask Mr. Miller to speak on this point as 
well.  

 
 NATIONAL LIBRARY WEEK (Business Item) 

The Mayor has a proclamation prepared to recognize National Library Week. 
 

Council Questions, Inquiries, Requests, Comments, and Notes 
 

Orienteering Course: I am working with Walt to replace these medallions. The 
medallions are likely to be fabricated over the winter, with a spring installation. 
I-69: Our understanding is that MDOT is to repair decks and other bridge features 
over Elms Road and Miller Road in 2026.  
Technology Upgrades: We will be migrating to Windows 11 in the coming months 
because Windows 10 support is to end this year. Some work stations that are 5+ 
years old will be replaced during this process. We do not expect any interruptions.  
Gateway Trees: The pines at the corner of Seymour and Miller have been topped 
by Consumers. Prior to this, we had plans to raise up the lower branches to rid the 
trees of rot and improve the appearance. At this point, we intent to remove them 
completely. The sign is also ready to be removed. We will hold off on improvements 
until the city can budget funds for new signage in accordance with the plan. 
  

City Council Packet 26 March 24, 2025



City of Swartz Creek 
RESOLUTIONS  

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, March 24, 2025, 7:00 P.M. 
 
Motion No.  250324-4A  MINUTES – MARCH 10, 2025 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular Council 
Meeting held Monday, March 10, 2025, to be circulated and placed on file. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For:_______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________  

 
Motion No. 250324-5A  AGENDA APPROVAL – MARCH 24, 2025 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as presented / printed / 
amended for the Regular Council Meeting of March 24, 2025, to be circulated and placed 
on file. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Motion No. 250324-6A  CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of March 24, 
2025, including reports and communications, to be circulated and placed on file. 

  
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
**************************************Master Resolution******************************************** 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8C RESOLUTION TO APPROVE A FESTIVAL PERMIT FOR 

THE DRAGON’S CRUISE CAR SHOW 
 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________  

 
WHEREAS, the Dragon’s Cruise (DC) organization is a recognized charitable entity that 
operates in Swartz Creek; and 
  

City Council Packet 27 March 24, 2025



WHEREAS, DC is seeking permits and approvals to operate a car show on public streets 
and grounds within the city, including a car show, DJ music, market vendors, and related 
activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds the Dragon’s Cruise organization and the event to be 
beneficial to the public and in good standing; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 13.01.G of Appendix A of the City Code of Ordinances provides for 
conditions of approval for a festival within the city, provided that the duration is less than 10 
days, the operator is a charitable entity, and city council approval is required. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek hereby approves 
Resolutions/Motions 250324-8C1 through 250324-8C3, allowing for the various permits 
related to the annual Swartz Creek Dragon’s Cruise festival, to be held on Saturday, May 
24, 2025, and Saturday, September 27, 2025 inclusive of all stipulations and conditions as 
specified and listed within, including the provision of valid insurance that lists the City of 
Swartz Creek as an additionally insured party for all events. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
********************************************************************************************************* 
Resolution No. 250324-8C1 DRAGONS CRUISE FESTIVAL PERMIT 

 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek approve and authorize the Dragon’s Cruise application for 
street closing and City property use permits on Saturday, May 24, 2025 and Saturday, 
September 27, 2025 for the purpose of hosting a festival at the following locations: 
 

1. 5012 Holland Drive (11am to 4pm) 
2. Miller Road (Morrish to Hayes) (11am to 4pm) 
3. Holland between Miller and Ingalls (11am to 4pm) 

 
Including the following activities: 
 

1. Display of cars, trucks, tractors, and motorcycles on paved lot and street 
surfaces 

2. Amplified DJ music at Holland Square 
3. Provision of food and craft vendors 

 
Street and City property use subject to the following stipulations: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as insured in the amount not less than 

$1,000,000.00 (One-Million Dollars)  
2. Sufficient number of portable bathrooms placed and located by the applicant, 

and litter control program in accordance and under the approval of Director of 
Community Services. 

City Council Packet 28 March 24, 2025



3. Approval by the Chief of Police.  Traffic control and pedestrian safety plan in 
accordance with and under the approval of office of Chief of Police.  

 
Resolution No. 250324-8C2 DRAGONS CRUISE MUNICIPAL PROPERTY RESERVATION 

PERMIT 
 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve and authorize the Dragon’s Cruise application 
for street closing / usage permit for Saturday, May 24, 2025 and Saturday, September 27, 
2025from 11:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. for purposes of conducting a festival, including market 
vendors, games, and food service in Holland Square (5012 Holland Drive) under the 
following stipulations: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as an additional insured party in the 

amount not less than $1,000,000.00 (One Million Dollars). 
2. General approval, and under the direction and control of the Office of the Chief 

of Police.  
 
Resolution No. 250324-8C3 DRAGONS CRUISE STREET USAGE PERMIT 

 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve and authorize the Dragon’s Cruise application 
for street closing / usage permit for Saturday, May 24, 2025 and Saturday, September 27, 
2025from 11:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. for purposes of conducting a car show festival on Miller 
Road (Morrish to Hayes) and Holland Drive under the following stipulations: 

 
1. Insurance certificate naming the City as an additional insured party in the 

amount not less than $1,000,000.00 (One Million Dollars). 
2. General approval, and under the direction and control of the Office of the Chief 

of Police.  
 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8D RESOLUTION TO APPROVE COOPERATIVE 

REHABILITATION OF BRISTOL ROAD WITH THE 
GENESEE COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek owns, operates, and maintains a network of major and 
local streets; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City also supports maintenance of border roads that are under the 
jurisdiction of the Genesee County Road Commission; and  
 
WHEREAS, the GCRC is seeking equal support from Clayton Township and the City of 
Swartz Creek to rehabilitation such a border road, being Bristol Road between Morrish and 
the city limits. 

City Council Packet 29 March 24, 2025



 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby authorizes 
participation in the amount of 25% of the estimated costs, with the city share estimated to 
be $50,000, for milling and resurfacing of Bristol Road between Morrish and the city limits.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby authorizes 
and directs the Mayor to execute the work order and estimate as included in the March 24, 
2025 city council packet. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For:______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8E RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AN ELECTRIC VEHICLE 

CHARGING STATION ON HOLLAND DRIVE 
 

 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

WHEREAS, electric vehicles (EV’s) are becoming more prevalent; and 
  
WHEREAS, private and public EV charging stations are required to support the EV use 
model, and the siting of such stations can have the benefits of attracting users to support 
nearby business and providing a baseline of support for EV owners; and  
 
WHEREAS, Consumers Energy is offering a $10,000 rebate for installation of a Level 2 
charging pedestal with two charging stations; and  
 
WHEREAS, Apple Energy has submitted a proposal to provide and install such a pedestal, 
including required software; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority resolved to support additional costs of 
the equipment and installation, provided the city accepted and authorized the installation on 
Holland Drive. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby authorizes 
the installation of a Level Two EV charging station on Holland Drive as outlined in the Apple 
Energy Agreement included in the March 24, 2025 city council packet. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby approves the Apple 
Energy agreement and accepts ownership of said equipment, provided the DDA reimburses 
costs not covered in the Consumers Energy rebate.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council authorizes and directs the 
Mayor to execute the Apple Energy Agreement on behalf of the city.  

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For:______________________________________________________ 

City Council Packet 30 March 24, 2025



Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 
Resolution No. 250324-8F RESOLUTION TO APPROVE DONATION AND 

INSTALLATION OF A MONARCH BUTTERFLY GARDEN 
PHASE ONE AND TO ACKNOWLEDGE THE BUTTERFLY 
GARDEN MASTER PLAN FOR ABRAMS PARK 

   
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek owns, operates, and maintains a system of parks; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Friends of Abrams Park group has offered to donate materials and labor 
sufficient to install a Butterfly Garden, including irrigation, at Abrams Park; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek Park Board and City Council have approved installation of 
gardens one, two, and three; and  
 
WHEREAS, the FoAP is proposing a three phase master plan for the complete garden in 
Abrams Park and is further requesting authorization to purchase and install the remaining 
features of Phase I; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Park Board, after deliberation, found the garden master plan concept to 
align with the interests of the park and conditionally accepted the master plan at their 
meeting on March 18, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Park Board further recommended approval of the complete Phase I of the 
garden at their meeting on March 18, 2025. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
accepts the Friends of Abrams Park donation of a Monarch Butterfly Garden Waystation, to 
be located at Abrams Park, conditioned upon the following: 
 

1. The project shall be overseen by the Director of Public Works and not commence until 
the ability to ensure project completion is evidenced. 

2. The Friends of Abrams Park and/or other volunteers shall maintain the gardens in a 
reasonable manner, with eventual replacement or removal dependent on the best 
interests of the city at a future date. 

3. The city will own and maintain the garden irrigation system in a reasonable manner, 
with eventual replacement or removal dependent on the best interests of the city at a 
future date. 

4. All future phases of the development shall require review and approval by the Swartz 
Creek City Council following a recommendation by the Park Board. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
 

City Council Packet 31 March 24, 2025



Resolution No. 250324-8G RESOLUTION TO APPROVE ENGINEERING FIRMS VIA 
THE QUALIFICATION BASED SELECTION (Q.B.S.) 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek is a Local Governmental Unit and recognized Street 
Authority eligible to receive funding from the Michigan Department of Transportation and the 
Federal Highway Administration; and,  
 
WHEREAS, it is the duty of the City of Swartz Creek to provide for the safety of its citizens 
and in so doing, provide for safely designed, engineered, and constructed public roads, 
highways, bridges, drainage systems, water systems, sewage systems, and other 
improvements; and  

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the city to protect people by demanding and ensuring 
that qualified engineers and land surveyors, also known as design professionals, render 
services which will assist in making construction projects safer, efficient, and sustainable for 
public use; and  

 
WHEREAS, selection of design professionals based upon qualification to perform the 
required services rather than selection supported solely on price, is more likely to produce 
a preferable result; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway 
Administration require the periodic bidding of design professional services for state and 
federally funded projects, and the City of Swartz Creek desires to comply with all such 
requirements and guidelines with respect to selection of design professionals; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has adopted a process and developed an RFQ that extends for a period 
of five (5) years, at the option of the city, thus eliminating the need to engage in additional 
selection processes on a project by project basis, and further, invited firms to submit 
qualifications, advertised in a newspaper of general circulation, and published in a state wide 
publication, resulting in the returns of eight interested firms; and 

 
WHEREAS, after reviewing eight submissions, the City finds that multiple firms qualify and 
staff recommends authorizing the top five submissions for MDOT work and general 
engineering services. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Swartz Creek City Council, in compliancy 
with requirements set forth by Michigan Department of Transportation and the Federal 
Highway Administration, hereby create a Qualification Based Selection list for professional 
design, inspection and other engineering services, as follows: 
 

1. ROWE Professional Services 
2. Orchard, Hiltz & McCliment Inc. 
3. Fleis & Vandenbrink  
4. DLZ, Inc. 
5. Spaulding Dedecker 

 
 

City Council Packet 32 March 24, 2025



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City authorize all eight firms for general engineering 
services that are not federally funded, that may arise from time to time and align with firms’ 
specialties and/or capacity. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City direct the Staff to solicit pricing for various 
engineering services the City may use or desire, from all eight firms, and negotiate such 
prices if needed, and make all such findings available to the public and Council. 

  
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8H  RESOLUTION TO APPROVE A RESTATED AGREEMENT 

FOR BUILDING SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
SWARTZ CREEK AND MUNDY TOWNSHIP 

   
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek provides planning, zoning, and building services to the 
public; and 
 
WHEREAS, building, trade, and code enforcement services are provided by Mundy 
Township staff through an existing interlocal agreement, with code enforcement inspections 
and enforcement supported by the Metro Police Authority of Genesee County; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City and Township seek to amend and restate the agreement to provide 
such services in order to better align with the newer policing structure, rental inspections 
demands, and an increase in dedicated staff. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
approves the Building Department Shared Services Agreement Between the Charter 
Township of Mundy, Michigan and the City of Swartz Creek. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council authorizes 
and directs the Mayor to execute said agreement on behalf of the city. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8I RESOLUTION TO AMEND AND RESTATE CITY-WIDE 

RATES, FEES, AND CHARGES 
 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

City Council Packet 33 March 24, 2025



WHEREAS, the City sets rates and collects fees, fees for permits, charges for services, cost 
recovery for public safety and cost recovery for consulting services (rates, fees, & charges), 
and; 

 
WHEREAS, such rates, fees, & charges are a necessary and essential part of the funding 
for the services that the City provides, and: 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Code of Ordinances defines and provides for certain rates, fees, & 
charges, and; 

 
WHEREAS, other such rates, fees, & charges are provided for by resolution of the City 
Council, statutory provision, past practice, policy and other such actions, and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has amended the City’s Code of Ordinances to provide for various 
rates, fees, & charges to be set by resolution of the City Council, and; 

 
WHEREAS, the City has need to implement additional rates, fees, & charges to be set by 
resolution of the City Council, and; 

 
WHEREAS, the City desires to have all such rates, fees, & charges organized into a single 
resolution that can be visited periodically and adjusted accordingly. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City of Swartz Creek hereby sets its rates, 
fees, & charges in accordance with the following schedule, effective immediately or as soon 
as practical thereafter, table as follows: 

 
CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK RATES, FEES PERMITS & CHARGES FOR SERVICES 

(All fees may be paid in person with cash, check, or card. Building and utility fees may be paid online 
with card or e-check) 

 

1. Chapter 1: Municipal Ordinance Violations Bureau (Parking Fines) 
 

The following parking violations shall be punishable by the fines indicated: 
 

             Offense           Fine 
 

(a)  Parking too far from curb       $ 40.00 
(b)  Angle parking violations          $ 40.00 
(c)  Obstructing traffic           $ 40.00 
 
Prohibited parking (signs un-necessary) 

          
(d)  On sidewalk        $ 40.00 
(e)  In front of drive        $ 40.00 
(f)  Within intersection       $ 40.00 
(g)  Within 15 feet of hydrant       $ 40.00 
(h)  On crosswalk        $ 40.00 
(i)  Within 20 feet of crosswalk or 15 feet of corner lot lines   $ 40.00 
(j)  Within 30 feet of street side traffic sign or signal    $ 40.00 
(k)  Within 50 feet of railroad crossing       $ 40.00 
(l)  Within 20 feet of fire station entrance      $ 40.00 
(m)  Within 75 feet of fire station entrance on opposite  

 side of street (signs required)       $ 40.00 
(n)  Beside street excavation when traffic obstructed    $ 40.00 
(o)  Double parking         $ 40.00 
(p)  On bridge of viaduct or within tunnel      $ 40.00 

City Council Packet 34 March 24, 2025



(q)  Within 200 feet of accident where police in attendance   $ 40.00 
(r)    In front of theater          $ 40.00 
(s)  Blocking emergency exit       $ 40.00 
(t)  Blocking fire escape or fire lane       $ 50.00 
(u)  In a handicapped space       $100.00 
(v)   In prohibited zone (signs required)      $ 40.00 
(w)  In alley (signs required)       $ 40.00 

 
Parking for prohibited purpose   

 
(x)  Displaying vehicle for sale       $ 40.00 
(y)  Working or repairing vehicle       $ 40.00 
(z)  Displaying advertising        $ 40.00 
(aa)  Selling merchandise        $ 40.00 
(bb)  Storage over 48 hours        $ 40.00 

 
(cc)  Wrong side boulevard roadway        $ 40.00 
(dd)  Loading zone violation        $ 40.00 
(ee)  Bus, parking other than bus stop      $ 40.00 
(ff)    Taxicab, parking other than cab stand       $ 40.00 
(gg)  Bus, taxicab stand violations          $ 40.00 
(hh)  Failure to set brakes          $ 40.00 
(ii)    Parked on grade wheels not turned to curb     $ 40.00 
(jj)    Parked on lawn extension within right of way    $ 40.00 
(kk)  Parked on front lawn       $ 40.00  
 
All $40.00 violations not paid within 20 days will be accessed a $20.00 late fee. 

 
2. Chapter 2: Liability for Expense of an Emergency Operation (Hazardous Materials Cleanup Cost 

Recovery) 
Cost shall be actual expenses inclusive of all Police & Fire Department wages, equipment and motor-pool 
and / or any sub-contracted actual expenses associated with hazardous materials clean-up. 

 
3. Chapter 2: Liability for Expense of an Emergency Response (Alcohol Related Arrests, Accidents) 

A. A cost of $150 shall be assessed to each defendant convicted of O.U.I.L. – O.U.I.D or O.W.I.  The cost 
recovery shall be collected as a part of the fines and costs set by the 67th District Court. 

 
B. Actual costs shall be assessed to each defendant convicted of O.U.I.L. – O.U.I.D or O.W.I. in which a 

motor vehicle accident occurred.  The cost recovery shall be collected as a part of the fines and costs 
set by the 67th District Court.  In the event the court declines collection, they shall be billed direct to 
the defendant.   

 
C. For the purpose of determining costs for extensive investigation and cleanup recovery for emergency 

response for alcohol related arrests and accidents, the following table shall be used: 
 
Fire  
 

Pumper        $250.00/hour 
Tanker        $350.00/hour 
Squad/Utility       $150.00/hour 
Grass        $200.00/hour 
Command       $150.00/hour 
 
Officers        $18.00/hour 
Firefighters       $15.00/hour 

 
Police 
 

Officers        $51.54/hour 

City Council Packet 35 March 24, 2025



Officer Overtime      $62.34/hour 
Police Car     $15.00/hour 

 
4. Chapter 5: Cemetery Lots - Purchase 

The cost for purchase of cemetery lots will be $600.00 per lot. 
 

5. Chapter 5: Cemetery, Charges for Grave Openings, etc. 
Grave openings shall be actual costs, either as sub-contracted or performed by City Employees, plus a 
15% administrative fee. 

 
6. Chapter 11: Park Reservation Fees 

 
         Elms Park 
Pavilion #1 $80.00($225.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #2 $100.00($275.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #3 $50.00($165.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #4 $80.00($225.00 non-resident) 

 
          Abrams Park 
Pavilion #1 $50.00($165.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #2 $50.00($165.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #3 $40.00($135.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #4 $40.00($135.00 non-resident) 
 
Deposit  $200.00* 
 

*Deposit to be forfeited with any validated park rule or ordinance violation attributed to the reserving entity. 
 

7. Chapter 12: Peddlers and Solicitors License and Background Check 
 $50.00 for primary permit and one background check plus $20 for each additional background check. 

     
8. Chapter 15: Permit, Sidewalk Installation 

 $50.00 
 

9. Chapter 15: Permit for Excavation, Right of Way or Other City Property 
$100.00 

 
10. Chapter 19: Water System Use, Rates and Charges 

(A) Charges for water supply services to premises within the city connected with the water supply system 
shall be as follows: 

 
Rates for Quarterly Billings 

 
Readiness to serve charge 

5/8”, 3/4", 1” $60.76 
1.5” $241.14 
2” $385.84 
3” $723.45 
4” $1,205.76 
6” $2,411.50 

 
Commodity charge (per 100 cubic feet of water): $7.87 

                                  
Additional meters, connected for the exclusive purpose of registering water consumed and NOT 
returned to the sewer system shall be charged the commodity charge only (example: lawn sprinkler 
system). 

 
(B)  Any water customer may have water services temporarily shut off for any time period during which 
the premises, for which the water service is provided, will be unoccupied.  The request for such shut 

City Council Packet 36 March 24, 2025



off shall be made in writing on forms to be provided by the city.  The written request shall specify the 
reason for the shut off and the date on which the water service shall be shut off. 

 
(C)  There shall be a Twenty Dollar ($20.00) charge for shutting off the water service pursuant to such 
request and a Twenty Dollar ($20.00) charge for turning the water service back on, if the shut off or 
turn on is performed during normal business hours.  If this shut off or turn on is performed outside of 
normal business hours, the charge shall be One-Hundred Dollars ($100.00).   
 
If water is shut off and/or turned back on pursuant to account delinquency, the fee shall be Forty Dollars 
($40.00) per turn off and Forty Dollars ($40.00) per turn on. This fee shall be applied upon deployment 
of the field crew for water shut off.  Requests for after-hours turn on shall cost One-Hundred Dollars 
($100.00). The City Manager may waive any shut off and turn on fees for reasonable cause. 

 
(D)  Water customers shall continue to be billed for a readiness to service charge while connected to 
the system. 
 
(E)     Bulk water sales shall be in accordance with the following fee schedule: 
 

Bulk Water Purchases     
1 cubic ft. = 7.4805 
Gallons    
     
Gallons  Cubic ft. Cost   

3,740 499.96658 $109.20  
5,000 668.40452 $121.80   
10,000 1336.809 $168.00   
15,000 2005.2136 $214.20   
20,000 2673.6181 $259.35   

 
11. Chapter 19: Water & Sewer Tap Fees 

(A)    There shall be paid, with respect to all premises connecting to the water and sanitary sewer 
system of the city, a tap-in fee pursuant to the following schedules: 

 
(1)     Single-family residence--$1,500 each for water & sanitary sewer 

 
(2)     Multiple-family residence--$1,500 per unit each for water and sanitary sewer 

 
(B)    All other uses connecting to the water and/or sanitary sewer system of the city shall be required 
to pay tap-in fees at the rate of one-thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500) per unit factor, pursuant 
to the unit factor table provided for by the Genesee County Division of Water and Waste.  In no case 
shall tap-in fees be less than one-thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500). 
 
(C)   Furthermore, for any structure used generally for more than one (1) purpose, connection fees 
shall be determined by applying the appropriate unit factors as set by the Genesee County Division of 
Water and Waste, to the various uses on any level, grade or sub-grade plane of the structure, provided 
that it is intended that the fees so derived shall be cumulative.  Tap fees shall also apply for any 
additional units that may be calculated and applied by the County WWS pursuant to change in use or 
otherwise. 

 
12. Chapter 19: Sanitary Sewer Rates 

 
Rates for Quarterly Billings   

 
Readiness to serve charge (per Residential Equivalent Unit): $53.53  
Readiness to serve charge (non-metered accounts):  $130.43 
Commodity charge (per 100 cubic feet of water consumed): $2.52   

 

City Council Packet 37 March 24, 2025



A readiness to serve charge equal to the number of calculated sewer units shall be charged to all 
customers connected to the city’s sewer system to offset fixed costs of system operation.  In addition, 
a commodity charge shall be applied to the sewer bill in an amount equal to the above rate multiplied 
by the number of ccf that the accompanying water account registers. If the sewer connection is not 
accompanied by a water meter to register water usage, the charge shall be considered non-metered 
and no commodity charge shall be applied.  

 
For the purposes of determining sanitary sewer rates, per unit sewage disposal calculations resulting 
in a fraction of a whole number shall be rounded up to the next highest whole number.  

 
13. Chapter 20: Weed Cutting Fees 

$300 per cut 
 

14. Building & Trade Inspection Fees* 
 
A.  Building Permit Fees:  

 
The total cost of Improvement is based on the International Code Council (ICC) Building 

Valuation Square Foot Construction Cost Table.  
 
Application Fee, non-refundable:   $125.00  
 
Up to $1,000 (includes one 1 inspection)……......$125.00 
$1,001.00 to $10,000.00 (includes 1 inspection)..$125.00 plus $10.00 per $1,000.00  
$10,001.00 to $100,000.00   $225.00 plus $7.00 per $1,000.00  
$100,001.00 to $500,000.00   $925.00 plus $6.50 per $1,000.00  
$500,001 plus     $3,250.00 plus $6.00 per $1,000.00  
 
All work not involving a sq. foot computation:   $125 
 
Residential plan review and administration base fee $125/hr, with a $500 minimum plus 

applicable third party fees 
 
Residential Minor plan review (Building Dept. determination) First hour included with application 

fee, $125 each additional hour plus 
any third party fees  

 
Commercial plan review up to $500,000 valuation $0.0019 of building valuation with a 

minimum of $500 plus third party 
fees 

 
Commercial plan review over $500,000 valuation $950 plus $0.0006 of building 

valuation plus third party fees 
 
 
Inspections (each)      $125 
 
Certificate of Occupancy (Residential)    $125 
Certificate of Occupancy (Commercial)    $300 
Commercial Temp C of O for stocking and staffing…  $2,000.00 plus bond equal to 150% 
(not open for business)      of uncompleted items as estimated 

by the Building Department 
 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $200 
 
B.  Electrical Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $80 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $120 
 

City Council Packet 38 March 24, 2025



Plan Review      $125/hr plus third party fees 
 
New Residential Electrical System 
Up to 1,500.00 sq. foot     $90.00 
1,501 to 3,500 sq. foot     $140.00 
Over 3,500 sq. foot      $190.00 
 
Service 
Through 200 Amp.      $20 
Over 200 Amp. thru 600 Amp.    $25 
Over 600 Amp. thru 800 Amp.    $200 
Over 800 Amp. thru 1200 Amp.    $300 
Over 1200 Amp. (GFI only)     $500 
 
Circuits        
Lighting Fixtures-per 25     $7 
Dishwasher      $7 
Furnace-Unit Heater     $7 
Electrical-Heating Units (baseboard)   $8 
Power Outlets (ranges, dryers, etc.)   $9 
 
Signs 
Unit       $6 
Letter       $10 
Neon-each 25 feet      $20 
 
Feeders-Bus Ducts, etc.-per 50’    $8 
 
Mobile Home Park Site     $7 
 
Recreational Vehicle Park Site    $7 
 
K.V.A. & H.P.  
Units up to 20      $4 
Units 21 to 50 K.V.A. or H.P.    $6 
Units 51 K.V.A. or H.P. & over    $10 
 
Fire Alarm Systems (excl. smoke detectors) 
Up to 10 devices      $50 
11 to 20 devices      $100    
Over 20 devices      $5 each 
 
Low voltage - Per opening (devices)   $5 each 
 
Energy Retrofit-Temp. Control    $45 
 
Conduit only or grounding only    $45 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $100 
Additional Inspection     $100 
Final Inspection      $100 
Certification Fee      $75  

 
C. Mechanical Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $80 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $120 
 
Plan Review      $125/hr plus third party fees 

City Council Packet 39 March 24, 2025



 
Residential Heating System  
(Includes duct & pipe) 
 Up to 1,500 sq. feet      $90 
 1,501 to 3,500 sq. feet      $140 
 Over 3,500 sq. feet      $190 
Gas/Oil Burning Equipment Under 400,000 In  $30 
Gas/Oil Burning Equipment 400,000 and Above  $40 
Boiler       $30 
Water Heater      $5 
Damper/Flue      $5 
Solid Fuel Equip. (includes chimney)   $30 
Gas Burning Fireplace     $30 
Chimney, factory built (installed separately)   $25 
Solar; set of 3 panels-fluid transfer  
(includes piping)      $20 
Gas piping; each opening-new installation 
(residential)      $5 
Air Conditioning (includes split systems) 

1.5hp to 15 hp      $30 
Over 15 hp      $50 

Heat Pumps (complete residential)    $30 
Dryer, Bath & Kitchen Exhaust    $5 
 
Tanks 
Aboveground      $20 
Aboveground Connection     $20 
Underground      $20 
Underground Connection     $20 
Humidifiers/Air Cleaners     $5 
 
Piping 
Piping-minimum fee $25     $.05/ft 
 
Duct-minimum fee $25     $.10/ft 
Heat Pumps; Commercial (pipe not included)  $20 
 
Air Handlers/Heat Wheels    $25 
Conversion Burners (oil)     $30 
Commercial Hoods/Exhausters    $15 
Heat Recovery Units     $10 
V.A.V. Boxes      $10 
Unit Ventilators      $10 
Unit Heaters (terminal units)    $15 
 
Fire Suppression/Protection/Other  
(includes piping) –minimum fee $20   $.75/head 
Limited Area Suppression (per head)   $2 
Fire Suppression Hood (per head)    $4 
Evaporator Coils      $30 
Refrigeration (split system)     $30 
Chiller       $30 
Cooling Towers      $30 
Compressor/Condenser     $30 
Manufactured Chimney     $25 
Exhaust Fans      $20 
Multi Zone Self Contained Units    $25 
Through Wall Units      $25 
Ranges (gas)      $20 

City Council Packet 40 March 24, 2025



 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $100 
Additional Inspection     $100 
Final Inspection      $100 
Certification Fee      $75 

 
D. Plumbing Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $80 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $120 
 
Plan Review      $125/hr plus third party fees 
 
New Residential Plumbing System 
 Up to 1,500 sf      $90 
 1,501 to 3,500 sf      $140 
 Over 3,500 sf      $190 
 
Mobile Home Park Site     $7 each 
Fixtures, floor drains, special drains,   $4 each 
Water connected appliances    $4 each 
Stacks (soil, waste, vent and conductor)   $2 each 
Sewage ejectors, sumps     $5 each 
Sub-soil drains      $5 each 
 
Water Service 
Less than 2”      $25 
2” to 6”       $75 
Over 6”       $100 
Connection (bldg. drain-bldg. sewers)   $25 
 
Sewers (sanitary, storm or combined) 
Less than 6”      $25 
6” and Over      $100 
Manholes, Catch Basins     $15 each 
 
Water Distributing Pipe (system) 
¾” Water Distribution Pipe     $5 
1” Water Distribution Pipe     $10 
1 ¼” Water Distribution Pipe    $15 
1 ½” Water Distribution Pipe    $20 
2” Water Distribution Pipe     $25 
Over 2” Water Distribution Pipe    $30 
Reduced pressure zone back-flow preventer  $5 each 
Domestic water treatment and  
filtering equipment only     $5 
Medical Gas System     $45 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $100 
Additional Inspection     $100 
Final Inspection      $100 
Certification Fee      $75 

 
15. Chapter 22: General Emergency Response Fees   

 
Fire  
 

Pumper        $250.00/hour 

City Council Packet 41 March 24, 2025



Tanker        $350.00/hour 
Squad/Utility       $150.00/hour 
Grass        $200.00/hour 
Command       $150.00/hour 
 
Officers        $18.00/hour 
Firefighters       $15.00/hour 

 
Police 
 

Officers        $51.54/hour 
Officer Overtime      $62.34/hour 
Police Car   $15.00/hour 

 
16. Appendix B: Franchises   

$250 application fee plus actual expenses related to preparation by City Attorney. 
 

17. Miscellaneous Fees 
 

A. Copies: 
 Black & White:  10¢ for page. 
 Color or Mixed Color and Black & White:  25¢ per page   
 

B.  Freedom of Information Act Requests:   
 See the City of Swartz Creek Freedom of Information Act Procedures & Guidelines: adopted June 22, 

2015 for details. Standard requests shall be charged 10¢ for 8.5 x 11 page (25¢ for color or mixed 
color) plus all actual costs for outside re-production (i.e. photo re-prints, blueprint copies, digital media 
storage, etc.).  Extensive search requests shall have an additional per hour fee equal to wages only 
of the lowest paid clerical position employed with the City ($8.15/hour with a 1.1 fringe multiplier, 
totaling $8.97/hour). 

 
C.  Weddings: 
 $50 per ceremony  
 
D. Fax Services: 
 50¢ per page for the first 10 pages, then $0.25 per page thereafter  
 
E. Notary Services: 
 $10.00 per item  
 
F. Insufficient Funds: 

$25 each for any check returned unpaid for account insufficient, closed or stopped  
 

G Penalties on Outstanding Invoices/Miscellaneous Receivables:  
$10 penalty for unpaid miscellaneous receivables, including but not limited to: utility bills, mowing 
invoices, sidewalk repair, project reimbursements, charges for services, and retiree coverage 
contributions.  This penalty shall be applied once to “past due” invoices. 

 
H. Interest on Outstanding Invoices/Miscellaneous Receivables:  

1.5% interest per month on outstanding invoices that are 30 days “past due”.  
 

*Payments made toward outstanding balances shall be applied in the following order: interest, 
penalties, principle.  
 

18. Chapter 13 & 16: Development Plans, Administrative Fees, Subdivision Site Plan & Review Fees* 
 
A. Site Plan Review:   

Property Re-Zoning  $500 
Single & Multiple-Family (non-plat)  $300 plus $10.00 per lot/unit   

City Council Packet 42 March 24, 2025



Mobile Home Park   $500 plus $10.00 per unit 
Commercial Development  $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Industrial Development  $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Office Development  $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Institutional  $300 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Public/semi-public uses  $300 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Special Approval or Conditional Use  $300 plus $10.00 per acre/fraction 
PUD/Mixed Use Review    $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction  
Consulting and/or Third Party Fees   Actual consultant costs plus 5% 
Revisions     ½ of original review fee 
 

B.  Building and Zoning: 
Zoning Permit (Includes 1 hr review and inspection)  $125 
Zoning Letter    $75 
Sidewalk Permit        $50 
Sign Permit        See Building Permits 
Structure Movement Permit    $200 
Demolition Permit (Including ROW Permit)    $200 + $0.10/sf 
Right of Way Permit (Residential)    $100 
Right of Way Permit (Commercial and/or Road Break)  $250 +review/inspection escrow 
Home Occupation Permit    $95   
Variance Review    $300 per variance  
Zoning Board of Appeals: Petitioned Interpretation Review $150  
Zoning Board of Appeals: Appeal Review    $250 
Lot Split/Combination: City Ordinance Section 16.2  $150 plus $5.00 per lot  
Public or Private Road Plan Reviews    $400 per mile/fraction 
Consulting Fees    Actual consultant costs 
Zoning Code    $10 CD, $25 Paper Copy 
Engineering Standards Manual    $10 CD, $25 Paper Copy 
Medical Marijuana Dispensary/Facility Review    $500 
Consulting and/or Third Party Fees    Actual consultant costs plus 5% 

 
C. Subdivision Review 

Preliminary Subdivision Review-Tentative   $300 plus $5.35 per lot  
Preliminary Subdivision Review- Final    $160 plus $2.70 per lot 
Final Plat Review      $160 plus $1.00 per lot 
Consulting and/or Third Party Fees    Actual consultant costs plus 5% 

 
*Consultant fees and or third party fees are those planning, engineering, legal, or related services performed 
unstaffed professionals. Such fees are employed and billed to the city, and are to be paid by the applicant. A pre-
determined escrow will be estimated and required by the city prior to engaging  in such services, which may need 
to be adjusted accordingly. Such invoices shall be payable by the applicant with an additional 5% fee.  

 
19.   Chapter 1: Municipal Civil Infraction Fines 

Civic Infraction Citation Fines:  
First Offense       $100 
Second Offense       $200 
Third Offense       $300 

 
Civic Infraction Notice Fines:  
First Offense       $75 
Second Offense       $150 
Third Offense       $250 
 

20.   Rental Inspection Program Fees 
 
Registration  $100 for the first unit, plus $25 for each additional unit on a 

shared premises, with common ownership and 
management, or within recognized apartment complexes 

City Council Packet 43 March 24, 2025



Follow up inspections The initial and one follow-up inspection will be performed 
without additional fees. Subsequent inspections shall be 
charged at the rate of $100/unit 

Registration Updates/Amendments  No charge 
Coverage  The initial fee covers the registration and first inspection and 

is valid until the resulting certificate of compliance expires 
Pro-ration    There shall be no pro-ration of fees 

________________________________________________________ 
 

ADOPTION & REVISION HISTORY: 
Resolution No. 050711-07  Dated July 11, 2005 
Resolution No. 100208-06  Dated February 8, 2010 
Resolution No. 101206-04  Dated December 6, 2010 (Water-Sewer-RTS) 
Resolution No. 111114-05  Dated November 14, 2011 (Park Fees) 
Resolution No. 110613-07  Dated June 13, 2011 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 120611-05  Dated June 11, 2012 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 120709-05  Dated July 9, 2012 (Bulk Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 130610-09  Dated June 10, 2013 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 130826-06  Dated August 26, 2013 (K.W.A. Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 140922-07  Dated September 22, 2014 (Utility and MMD Fees) 
Resolution No. 150824-05  Dated August 24, 2015 (FOIA, Rentals, Utility Fees) 
Resolution No. 151214-05  Dated December 14, 2015 (Parking) 
Resolution No. 160523-05  Dated May 23, 2016 (Water and Sewer) 
Resolution No. 160808-04  Dated August 8, 2016 (Solicitation) 
Resolution No. 171023-07  Dated October 23, 2017 (Building; Police Removal) 
Resolution No. 180312-06  Dated March 12, 2018 (Building Penalty) 
Resolution No. 181126-07  Dated November 26, 2018 (Parking) 
Resolution No. 190325-09  Dated March 25, 2019 (Water) 
Resolution No. 201109-06  Dated November 9, 2020 (Water Rates - Cross Connection) 
Resolution No. 210927-06  Dated September 27, 2021 (Cost Recovery & Right of Way) 
Resolution No. 211213-04  Dated December 13, 2021 (Water and Sewer Rates) 
Resolution No. 220613-05  Dated June 13, 2022 (UB Turn On/Off & Park Deposit) 
Resolution No. 221114-06  Dated November 14, 2022 (Park Reservations) 
Resolution No. 231127-08  Dated November 27, 2023 (Parks, Water, Cost Recovery) 
Resolution No. 241125-06  Dated November 25, 2024 (Parks) 
Resolution No. 240334-__  Dated March 24, 2025 (Building, Planning, & Zoning)  

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8J RESOLUTION TO APPROVE STREET RECONSTURCTION 

AND WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT WORK FOR DON 
SHENK DRIVE AND CAPPY LANE  

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek owns, operates, and maintains a system of local 
streets, major streets, and water main; and  
 
WHEREAS, the city uses a twenty year street improvement plan to guide maintenance, 
rehabilitation, and reconstruction investments in the street network, as aligned with the 20 
year street levy; and  
 

City Council Packet 44 March 24, 2025



WHEREAS, the watermain for part the this phase of street reconstruction is original and 
requires replacement in tandem with the street work; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city’s engineer, OHM Advisors, designed specifications and plans for the 
Don Shenk Drive street, Cappy Lane street, and part of the Cappy Lane water main, with 
sealed bids on such plans being opened on March 13, 2025; and  
 
WHEREAS, the low bid for this project is $2, 268,819.79 from Glaeser Dawes Corporation; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, OHM Advisors, who surveyed and designed the project, submitted a proposal 
for construction engineering services. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City of Swartz Creek City Council approves 
the bid by Glaeser Dawes Corporation as a unit cost bid in the amount of $2,268,819.79. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City of Swartz Creek City Council also approves 
construction engineering services as outlined in the attached proposal by OHM Advisors, 
dated March 18, 2025.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council directs the Mayor to execute said 
agreements on behalf of the city and for the city treasurer to appropriate such costs to the 
Local Street Fund, Major Street Fund, and Water Fund as appropriate.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council authorizes a loan from the general fund 
to the local street fund to cover any local street fund expenses required for this project that 
are not available in the 2025 or 2026 fiscal years, estimated to be $400,000, general terms 
of said loan to be 4.25% annual interest, payable over 60 months, with an amortization 
schedule to be provided by the city’s finance officer to the city council.  
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 250324-8K CLOSED SESSION TO CONSIDER PENDING LITIGATION 

(ROLL CALL VOTE) 
 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek City Council desires to consult with the city attorney 
regarding pending litigation, the public discussion of which would have a detrimental 
financial effect on the position of the public body, and;  
 
WHEREAS, the MCL 15.268(e) permits a governing body to enter a closed session to 
consult with its attorney regarding trial or settlement strategy in connection with specific 
pending litigation, but only if an open meeting would have a detrimental financial effect on 
the litigating or settlement position of the public body. 
 

City Council Packet 45 March 24, 2025



NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City of Swartz Creek City Council exit the 
regular session of the city council and enter into a closed session for the purpose of 
discussing pending litigation. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Motion No. 250324-11A  ADJOURN 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council adjourn the regular council meeting of March 24, 
2025. 

  
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

City Council Packet 46 March 24, 2025



Page 1 of 6 City of Swartz Creek - DRAFT March 10,2025 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
DATE March 10, 2025 

 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Mayor Henry in the Swartz Creek City 
Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Councilmembers Present:  Spillane, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Knickerbocker, 

Henry. 
 
Councilmembers Absent:   Melen. 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Adam Zettel, Clerk Renee Kraft. 
    
Others Present: Jared Oginsky, Tim Turner, Jeff Kelley, Sandi Brill, 

Susan Mesack. 
 
MOTION BY KNICKERBOCKER, SECONDED BY GILBERT TO EXCUSE 
COUNCILMEMBER MELEN. 
 

Unanimous Voice Vote. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
 
 Resolution No. 250310-01            (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Spillane 
  Second by Councilmember Gilbert 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular 
Council Meeting held Monday February 24, 2025 to be circulated and placed on 
file.  

 
YES: Spillane, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Knickerbocker, Henry.  

  NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF CLOSED DOOR SESSION MINUTES 
 
 Resolution No. 250310-02            (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Krueger 
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Hicks 
 

City Council Packet 47 March 24, 2025



Page 2 of 6 City of Swartz Creek - DRAFT March 10,2025 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Closed Door 
Session held Monday February 24, 2025 to be circulated and placed on file.  

 
YES: Spillane, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Knickerbocker, Henry.  

  NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA          
 
 Resolution No.250310-03            (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hicks 
  Second by Councilmember Gilbert 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as printed for the 
Regular Council Meeting of March 10, 2025, to be circulated and placed on file. 

 
YES:   Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Knickerbocker, Henry, Spillane. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
  Resolution No. 250310-04            (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Gilbert 
  Second by Councilmember Knickerbocker 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of March 
10, 2025, including reports and communications to be circulated and placed on 
file. 
 
Discussion Ensued. 
 

YES:   Hicks, Krueger, Knickerbocker, Henry, Spillane, Gilbert. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:  
 
Susan Mesack: 1) Hometown Days-April 12 from 11:00am – 4:00pm, will be an Easter 
Egg Hunt at 5086 Morrish Rd, the Kincaide Property. Rain day is April 13. 2) Suggested 
a non-profit is not compliant with MCL450.2911. 
Jared Oginsky: Dragon’s Cruise is now a 501(c)(3). 
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS:  
 
 
 

City Council Packet 48 March 24, 2025



Page 3 of 6 City of Swartz Creek - DRAFT March 10,2025 
 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE FORESTRY SERVICES BID AWARD 
 

Resolution No. 250310-05          (Carried) 
       

Motion by Councilmember Knickerbocker 
Second by Mayor Pro Tem Hicks 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek sought sealed bids for the removal of five large 
maple trees on Maple Street, inclusive of an hourly rate for future work; and 
  
WHEREAS, Lynch Tree Co. is the low bidder at a price of $5,750 and an hourly rate of 
$185/hr; and  
 
WHEREAS, Lynch Tree Co. is found to be of sufficient capacity and experience to 
perform the services to expectations. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby awards 
the contract for tree removal services to the low bidder, Lynch Tree Co., per the 
specifications set forth in the bid documents, and further direct the City Manager to 
prepare and execute a standard contractor’s agreement with Lynch Tree Co. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
authorizes additional use of Lynch Tree Co. for budgeted forestry needs at the rate of 
$185 per hour. 

 
Discussion Ensued. 

 
YES:  Krueger, Knickerbocker, Henry, Spillane, Gilbert, Hicks.  
NO: None. Motion Declared Carried. 
            

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE PARK FEE/DEPOSIT WAIVER FOR USE OF ABRAMS 
PARK FOR A NON-PROFIT EVENT 

 
Resolution No. 250310-06            (Carried) 

  
Motion by Councilmember Spillane 
Second by Councilmember Knickerbocker 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek requires park usage reservations and fees 
in accordance with adopted rules and regulations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Friends of Abrams Park, in conjunction with other local partners, 
seeks a park use reservation for two pavilions at Abrams Park on June 14, 2025 
for the purpose of holding a publicly available Flag Day event for children; and 
 

City Council Packet 49 March 24, 2025



Page 4 of 6 City of Swartz Creek - DRAFT March 10,2025 
 

WHEREAS, the Friends of Abrams Park is a recognized non-profit operating in 
Swartz Creek that meet the requirements for an expanded use reservation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city park rules and regulations states that “fees may be waived in 
full if reservations by a non-profit are found to result in a public benefit directly or if 
proceeds from the reserved event are found to be a benefit to the city.”; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds the Friends of Abrams Park to be qualifying 
groups with a qualifying activity. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
waives all fees for the June 14, 2025 expanded use reservation in Abrams Park. 

 
Discussion Ensued. 
 

   YES:   Knickerbocker, Henry, Spillane, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
RESOLUTION TO APPROVE A FESTIVAL PERMIT FOR THE DRAGON’S CRUISE 
CAR SHOW 
 

Resolution No. 250310-07       
 

  Motion by Councilmember Krueger 
 Second by Councilmember Knickerbocker 
 

WHEREAS, the Dragon’s Cruise (DC) organization is a recognized charitable entity that 
operates in Swartz Creek; and 
  
WHEREAS, DC is seeking permits and approvals to operate a car show on public streets 
and grounds within the city, including a car show, DJ music, market vendors, and related 
activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds the Dragon’s Cruise organization and the event to be 
beneficial to the public and in good standing; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 13.01.G of Appendix A of the City Code of Ordinances provides for 
conditions of approval for a festival within the city, provided that the duration is less than 
10 days, the operator is a charitable entity, and city council approval is required. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek hereby approves 
Resolutions/Motions 250310-8C1 through 250310-8C3, allowing for the various permits 
related to the annual Swartz Creek Dragon’s Cruise festival, to be held on Saturday, May 
24, 2025, and Saturday, September 27, 2025 inclusive of all stipulations and conditions 
as specified and listed within, including the provision of valid insurance that lists the City 
of Swartz Creek as an additionally insured party for all events. 

City Council Packet 50 March 24, 2025



Page 5 of 6 City of Swartz Creek - DRAFT March 10,2025 
 

 
 
Discussion Ensued.  

 
Motion rescinded by both Councilmembers Krueger and Knickerbocker. No vote. 
 
MOTION TO POSTPONE RESOLUTION No. 250310-07 UNTIL RESEARCH 
COMPLETE. 
                (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Knickerbocker 

 Second by Councilmember Spillane 
 

Discussion Ensued. 
 
   YES:   Spillane, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Knickerbocker, Henry. 

NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

 
MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
Sandi Brill: Thanked Council for passing the resolution for Abrams Park. Discussed 
upcoming events in the works. 
 
 
REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS: 
 
Councilmember Knickerbocker: Dragon’s Cruise needs to work with Adam to make sure 
paperwork is complete. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Hicks: Cappy Lane looks rough. 
 
Councilmember Spillane: Flint is working there way into Swartz Creek. Empty lot owned 
by school has become a dumping ground and a place for vagrants to stay. Stated that 
when the city was called, the person on the phone didn’t handle complaint properly. 
 
Mayor Henry: Chili cookoff at American Legion this Saturday. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

Resolution No. 250310-09             (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Gilbert 
  Second by Councilmember Krueger 
 

City Council Packet 51 March 24, 2025



Page 6 of 6 City of Swartz Creek - DRAFT March 10,2025 
 

 I Move the Swartz Creek City Council adjourn the regular meeting at 8:07 p.m. 
 
  Unanimous Voice Vote. 
 
 
 
_____________________________          _________________________________ 
Nate Henry, Mayor                   Renee Kraft, CMC, MiPMC-2, City Clerk  
 
 
 

City Council Packet 52 March 24, 2025



FEBRUARY    2025
Beginning
Mileage

Ending
Mileage

Miles
Driven

Gallons
Gas Purchased

Gallons Diesel
Purchased

#7-15 4WD P/U gas 58376 58688 312 38.7
#2-08 4WD P/U gas 79380
#7-22 4 WD P/U gas 16921 17366 445 49.1
#12-02 DUMP diesel 35469
#21 WOOD CHIPPER diesel 2530
#9-07 STREET SWEEPER diesel 20576
#5-18 KUBOTA (hours) 1000 1316 316 2.7
#1-20 4WD P/U diesel 7653 8067 414 30.4
#3-08 4WD P/U gas 89898
#10-18 4WD P/U diesel 42041 42517 476 54.9
#8-22 CASE BACKHOE 337 364 27 30
#6-16 2WD P/U gas 89112 89568 456 40.2
#6-00 BACKHOE diesel 2198 0
#1-22 DUMP 7432 8023 591 120.2
#12-04 DUMP diesel 41889
#12-99 GENERATOR gas 0  
#17 CASE BACKHOE diesel 0
#19 JD TRACTOR diesel 0
#9-22 PATCHER 0
#37 TRAIL ARROW 0
#10-15 GEN gas 80122
#11-23 Big Plow Truck 1667 2413 746 167.1
gas can 0
8/24 Truck 1425 1848 423 79.4
9/24 Truck 829 1422 593 68

TOTAL 4799 278.1 402.6

City Council Packet 53 March 24, 2025

azettel
Text Box
Fuel Report



 

 

 

OHM Advisors® 
112 E ELLEN ST, SUITE A 
FENTON, MICHIGAN 48430 

T 810.396.4015 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

  

March 17, 2025 
 
Adam Zettel, AICP 
City Manager 
City of Swartz Creek 
8083 Civic Drive 
Swartz Creek, MI 48473 
 

Re:  Review of Bids – Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Project  
  City of Swartz Creek 
Dear Adam, 
 
The City received seven (7) bids on March 13th , 2025 for the Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Project. OHM has 
reviewed all the bids and prepared a bid tab and recommendation. The bids received ranged from a low 
$2,268,188.10 to the highest bid of $3,380,534.73. The three low bidders are as follows. 
 

Contractor Amount 

Glaeser Dawes Corporation $ 2,268,188.10 
 

Waldorf and Sons Inc. $ 2,602,400.30 
 

DiPonio Contracting, LLC $ 2,771,982.85 

 
 
Glaeser Dawes Corporation, out of Flushing City, is the lowest bidder for this project. OHM has completed 
several successful projects with Glaeser Dawes Corporation. Based on their past performance and low bid price, 
we would recommend award of this contract to Glaeser Dawes Corporation for the audited price of 
$2,268,188.10 per the unit prices listed on the bid. The total price of the contract including the 4 categories items; 
the breakdown is as follows: 
 
                    Category 1: Don Shenk Drive -Subtotal:                                                 $  1,200,935.80 
                    Category 2: Cappy Lane- Subtotal:                                                          $     421,182.30 

                    Category 3: Watermain- Subtotal:                                                            $    358,250.21 

                    Category 4: Alternate Watermain-Subtotal:                                             $     287,819.79 
Total Bid     $  2,268,188.10 

Digital files of this letter and a bid tabulation have been emailed to your office. If you have any questions or 
require additional information, please feel free to contact our office. 
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors 
 
 
 
Robert Daavettila, PE 
 
cc: File 

City Council Packet 54 March 24, 2025



Company: Total Bid Price:

% Over/Under 

Engineers Est

1 Glaeser Dawes Corporation 2,268,188.10$           -14%

2 Waldorf and Sons Inc. 2,602,400.30$           -1%

Engineers Estimate 2,635,206.00$           

3 DiPonio Contracting, LLC 2,771,982.85$           5%

4 Inner City Contacting, LLC 2,977,869.73$           13%

5 Zito Construction Co. 2,985,208.00$           13%

6 Cooper Excavating 3,183,723.50$           21%

7 Champagne & Marx Excavating, INC 3,380,534.73$           28%

City Council Packet 55 March 24, 2025



Tabulation of Bids Received on March 13, 2025      

Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Project Cooper Excavating Glaeser Dawes Corporation Inner City Contacting, LLC Champagne & Marx Excavating, INC Zito Construction Co. Waldorf and Sons Inc. DiPonio Contracting, LLC

City of Swartz Creek , Genesee County, Michigan 4185 Caine Rd 4130 Commerce Drive 18701 Grand River Ave, 1445 Liberty Rd G-8033 Fenton Road 9118 N Dort Hwy 51251 Simone Industrial Dr.

 OHM Job Nos.: 4023-24-0010 Vassar, MI 48768 Flushing, MI 48433 Detroit, MI 48223 Saginaw, MI 48604 Grand Blanc, MI 48439 Mt. Morris, MI 48458 Shelby Twp, MI 48216

 Phone: (810) 272-6224 Phone: (810) 487-1560 Phone: (313)272-5031 Phone: (989) 755-8971 Phone: (810) 695-9025 Phone: (810) 564-5000 Phone: (586) 997-4150

Item Estimated Unit Unit Unit Unit Unit Unit Unit

No. Description Quantity Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount Price Amount

CATEGORY 1: PARTICIPATING  

1) Mobilization, Max 0.45 LSUM $123,485.00 $55,568.25 $165,474.24 $74,463.41 $65,000.00 $29,250.00 $140,000.00 $63,000.00 $260,000.00 $117,000.00 $100,000.00 $45,000.00 $135,000.00 $60,750.00

2) Tree, Rem, 19 inch to 36 inch 14.00 Ea $1,645.00 $23,030.00 $909.50 $12,733.00 $1,900.00 $26,600.00 $1,800.00 $25,200.00 $1,800.00 $25,200.00 $1,375.00 $19,250.00 $725.00 $10,150.00

3) Tree, Rem, 37 inch or Larger 1.00 Ea $3,350.00 $3,350.00 $1,070.00 $1,070.00 2650 $2,650.00 3000 $3,000.00 2500 $2,500.00 2850 $2,850.00 $1,850.00 $1,850.00

4) Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 39.00 Ea $425.00 $16,575.00 $535.00 $20,865.00 $850.00 $33,150.00 $300.00 $11,700.00 $500.00 $19,500.00 $375.00 $14,625.00 $600.00 $23,400.00

5) Dr Structure, Rem 6.00 Ea $1,325.00 $7,950.00 $294.01 $1,764.06 $235.00 $1,410.00 $1,200.00 $7,200.00 $500.00 $3,000.00 $750.00 $4,500.00 $600.00 $3,600.00

6) Sewer, Rem, Less than 24 inch 159.00 Ft $43.00 $6,837.00 $14.89 $2,367.51 $51.45 $8,180.55 $50.00 $7,950.00 $30.00 $4,770.00 $48.00 $7,632.00 $30.00 $4,770.00

7) Exploratory Investigation, Vertical 15.00 Ft $170.00 $2,550.00 $45.54 $683.10 $36.80 $552.00 $100.00 $1,500.00 $100.00 $1,500.00 $430.00 $6,450.00 $150.00 $2,250.00

8) Curb and Gutter, Rem, Modified 5337.00 Ft $9.50 $50,701.50 $6.47 $34,530.39 $2.85 $15,210.45 $7.00 $37,359.00 $4.00 $21,348.00 $3.75 $20,013.75 $8.00 $42,696.00

9) Pavt, Rem, Modified 8987.00 Syd $9.50 $85,376.50 $4.97 $44,665.39 $5.00 $44,935.00 $15.00 $134,805.00 $11.00 $98,857.00 $3.25 $29,207.75 $16.00 $143,792.00

10) Sidewalk, Rem, Modified 1180.00 Syd $7.00 $8,260.00 $2.78 $3,280.40 $7.85 $9,263.00 $10.00 $11,800.00 $12.00 $14,160.00 $4.75 $5,605.00 $25.00 $29,500.00

11) Machine Grading, Modified 26.68 Sta $5,250.00 $140,070.00 $1,548.88 $41,324.12 $4,632.15 $123,585.76 $8,000.00 $213,440.00 $4,200.00 $112,056.00 $750.00 $20,010.00 $3,500.00 $93,380.00

12) Subgrade Undercutting, Type II, 1 by 3 250.00 Cyd $90.00 $22,500.00 $93.45 $23,362.50 $70.20 $17,550.00 $100.00 $25,000.00 $60.00 $15,000.00 $90.00 $22,500.00 $100.00 $25,000.00

13) Subgrade Undercutting, Type II, 21AA 250.00 Cyd $75.00 $18,750.00 $84.89 $21,222.50 $99.70 $24,925.00 $84.00 $21,000.00 $60.00 $15,000.00 $80.00 $20,000.00 $100.00 $25,000.00

14) Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Fabric Drop 10.00 Ea $125.00 $1,250.00 $80.33 $803.30 $150.00 $1,500.00 $200.00 $2,000.00 $125.00 $1,250.00 $75.00 $750.00 $80.00 $800.00

15) Aggregate Base, 10 inch, Modified 6823.00 Syd $26.00 $177,398.00 $18.71 $127,658.33 $26.70 $182,174.10 $30.00 $204,690.00 $22.00 $150,106.00 $20.00 $136,460.00 $28.00 $191,044.00

16) Aggregate Base, 6 inch, Modified 594.00 Syd $20.00 $11,880.00 $12.65 $7,514.10 $18.95 $11,256.30 $19.00 $11,286.00 $15.00 $8,910.00 $17.50 $10,395.00 $25.00 $14,850.00

17) Maintenance Gravel, Modified 300.00 Ton $45.00 $13,500.00 $33.05 $9,915.00 $34.00 $10,200.00 $70.00 $21,000.00 $50.00 $15,000.00 $45.00 $13,500.00 $50.00 $15,000.00

18) Geotextile, Separator 375.00 Syd $3.00 $1,125.00 $2.29 $858.75 $5.00 $1,875.00 $4.00 $1,500.00 $4.00 $1,500.00 $2.00 $750.00 $2.00 $750.00

19) Road Grade Biaxial Geogrid 200.00 Syd $4.25 $850.00 $3.94 $788.00 $5.00 $1,000.00 $4.51 $902.00 $4.00 $800.00 $3.75 $750.00 $3.00 $600.00

20) Geotextile Separator, Modified 100.00 Syd $18.00 $1,800.00 $39.68 $3,968.00 $5.00 $500.00 $10.00 $1,000.00 $9.00 $900.00 $25.00 $2,500.00 $4.00 $400.00

21) Sewer, Cl E, 12 inch, Tr Det B 306.00 Ft $110.00 $33,660.00 $51.15 $15,651.90 $790.50 $241,893.00 $150.00 $45,900.00 $90.00 $27,540.00 $80.00 $24,480.00 $100.00 $30,600.00

22) Sewer, Sanitary Service Lead, 6 inch, Tr Det B 50.00 Ft $96.00 $4,800.00 $86.38 $4,319.00 $144.20 $7,210.00 $220.00 $11,000.00 $160.00 $8,000.00 $75.00 $3,750.00 $70.00 $3,500.00

23) Storm Sewer Repair, 18 inch 50.00 Ft $225.00 $11,250.00 $136.97 $6,848.50 $127.40 $6,370.00 $250.00 $12,500.00 $130.00 $6,500.00 $160.00 $8,000.00 $55.00 $2,750.00

24) Storm Sewer Repair, 21 inch 50.00 Ft $245.00 $12,250.00 $154.73 $7,736.50 $138.40 $6,920.00 $275.00 $13,750.00 $150.00 $7,500.00 $178.00 $8,900.00 $60.00 $3,000.00

25) Storm Sewer Repair, 24 inch 50.00 Ft $265.00 $13,250.00 $182.83 $9,141.50 $147.40 $7,370.00 $300.00 $15,000.00 $165.00 $8,250.00 $215.00 $10,750.00 $70.00 $3,500.00

26) Storm Sewer Repair, 30 inch 50.00 Ft $295.00 $14,750.00 $184.69 $9,234.50 $192.40 $9,620.00 $350.00 $17,500.00 $200.00 $10,000.00 $200.00 $10,000.00 $95.00 $4,750.00

27) Dr Structure Cover, Type B 1.00 Ea $995.00 $995.00 $763.57 $763.57 $870.00 $870.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $800.00 $800.00 $600.00 $600.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

28) Dr Structure Cover, Type K 10.00 Ea $1,225.00 $12,250.00 $1,049.39 $10,493.90 $1,114.00 $11,140.00 $1,400.00 $14,000.00 $1,100.00 $11,000.00 $800.00 $8,000.00 $1,000.00 $10,000.00

29) Dr Structure, 24 inch dia 6.00 Ea $2,450.00 $14,700.00 $1,226.37 $7,358.22 $4,125.50 $24,753.00 $2,800.00 $16,800.00 $1,800.00 $10,800.00 $2,000.00 $12,000.00 $1,600.00 $9,600.00

30) Dr Structure, 48 inch dia 5.00 Ea $3,390.00 $16,950.00 $2,366.53 $11,832.65 $5,544.50 $27,722.50 $4,000.00 $20,000.00 $3,800.00 $19,000.00 $4,500.00 $22,500.00 $2,700.00 $13,500.00

31) Dr Structure, Tap, 6 inch 12.00 Ea $435.00 $5,220.00 $554.51 $6,654.12 $50.00 $600.00 $700.00 $8,400.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 $750.00 $9,000.00 $300.00 $3,600.00

32) Dr Structure, Tap, 12 inch 3.00 Ea $735.00 $2,205.00 $811.86 $2,435.58 $1,092.20 $3,276.60 $1,000.00 $3,000.00 $450.00 $1,350.00 $1,500.00 $4,500.00 $500.00 $1,500.00

33) Structure Cover, Adj, Case 1, Modified 2.00 Ea $1,535.00 $3,070.00 $439.37 $878.74 $722.50 $1,445.00 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $2,100.00 $4,200.00 $1,250.00 $2,500.00 $2,000.00 $4,000.00

34) Structure Cover, Adj, Case 2, Modified 3.00 Ea $938.00 $2,814.00 $366.21 $1,098.63 $722.50 $2,167.50 $800.00 $2,400.00 $800.00 $2,400.00 $1,250.00 $3,750.00 $900.00 $2,700.00

35) Underdrain, Subgrade, Open-Graded, 6 inch 5600.00 Ft $14.00 $78,400.00 $11.30 $63,280.00 $10.75 $60,200.00 $26.00 $145,600.00 $20.00 $112,000.00 $25.00 $140,000.00 $16.00 $89,600.00

36) Underdrain Outlet, 4 inch 25.00 Ft $145.00 $3,625.00 $16.68 $417.00 $75.00 $1,875.00 $65.00 $1,625.00 $30.00 $750.00 $100.00 $2,500.00 $50.00 $1,250.00

37) Pavt for Butt Joints, Rem 145.00 Syd $30.00 $4,350.00 $5.44 $788.80 $14.40 $2,088.00 $1.40 $203.00 $20.00 $2,900.00 $15.00 $2,175.00 $50.00 $7,250.00

38) HMA, 3EML 1241.00 Ton $91.00 $112,931.00 $79.93 $99,193.13 $104.00 $129,064.00 $74.70 $92,702.70 $80.00 $99,280.00 $101.00 $125,341.00 $74.70 $92,702.70

39) HMA, 5EML 828.00 Ton $106.00 $87,768.00 $94.53 $78,270.84 $105.00 $86,940.00 $86.85 $71,911.80 $90.00 $74,520.00 $106.10 $87,850.80 $86.85 $71,911.80

40) Driveway, Nonrienf Conc, 6 inch, Modified 1520.00 Syd $71.00 $107,920.00 $58.68 $89,193.60 $59.95 $91,124.00 $49.50 $75,240.00 $58.00 $88,160.00 $62.00 $94,240.00 $70.00 $106,400.00

41) Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det C4 5337.00 Ft $33.00 $176,121.00 $21.40 $114,211.80 $22.75 $121,416.75 $20.00 $106,740.00 $25.00 $133,425.00 $27.50 $146,767.50 $20.00 $106,740.00

42) Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch, Modified 9587.00 Sft $7.50 $71,902.50 $5.25 $50,331.75 $5.90 $56,563.30 $4.27 $40,936.49 $6.00 $57,522.00 $6.75 $64,712.25 $7.00 $67,109.00

43) Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 3936.00 Sft $9.50 $37,392.00 $6.60 $25,977.60 $6.90 $27,158.40 $5.50 $21,648.00 $8.00 $31,488.00 $7.75 $30,504.00 $8.00 $31,488.00

44) Post, Steel, 3 pound 196.00 Ft $12.00 $2,352.00 $10.70 $2,097.20 $10.00 $1,960.00 $10.00 $1,960.00 $12.00 $2,352.00 $10.25 $2,009.00 $10.00 $1,960.00

45) Sign, Type III, Erect, Salv 12.00 Ea $91.00 $1,092.00 $80.25 $963.00 $75.00 $900.00 $75.00 $900.00 $100.00 $1,200.00 $76.00 $912.00 $75.00 $900.00

46) Sign, Type III, Rem 11.00 Ea $43.00 $473.00 $37.45 $411.95 $35.00 $385.00 $35.00 $385.00 $50.00 $550.00 $35.50 $390.50 $35.00 $385.00

47) Sign, Type IIIB 21.00 Sft $37.00 $777.00 $32.10 $674.10 $30.00 $630.00 $30.00 $630.00 $40.00 $840.00 $30.50 $640.50 $30.00 $630.00

48) Barricade, Type III, High Intensity, Double Sided, Lighted, Furn 10.00 Ea $183.00 $1,830.00 $160.50 $1,605.00 $150.00 $1,500.00 $150.00 $1,500.00 $200.00 $2,000.00 $152.00 $1,520.00 $150.00 $1,500.00

49) Barricade, Type III, High Intensity, Double Sided, Lighted, Oper 10.00 Ea $183.00 $1,830.00 $1.07 $10.70 $1.00 $10.00 $1.00 $10.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $1.05 $10.50 $1.00 $10.00

50) Dust Palliative, Applied 1.00 Ton $150.00 $150.00 $428.00 $428.00 $70.00 $70.00 $250.00 $250.00 $700.00 $700.00 $525.00 $525.00 $300.00 $300.00

51) Minor Traf Devices 0.50 LSUM $24,300.00 $12,150.00 $21,319.76 $10,659.88 $10,000.00 $5,000.00 $120,000.00 $60,000.00 $70,000.00 $35,000.00 $20,125.00 $10,062.50 $25,000.00 $12,500.00

52) Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Furn 250.00 Sft $6.00 $1,500.00 $5.35 $1,337.50 $5.00 $1,250.00 $5.00 $1,250.00 $10.00 $2,500.00 $5.25 $1,312.50 $5.00 $1,250.00

53) Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Oper 250.00 Sft $12.00 $3,000.00 $1.07 $267.50 $1.00 $250.00 $1.00 $250.00 $1.00 $250.00 $1.05 $262.50 $1.00 $250.00

54) Traf Regulator Control 0.50 LSUM $12,200.00 $6,100.00 $3,350.86 $1,675.43 $2,500.00 $1,250.00 $40,000.00 $20,000.00 $48,000.00 $24,000.00 $500.00 $250.00 $5,000.00 $2,500.00

55) Acer rubrum, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $900.00 $4,500.00 $551.05 $2,755.25 $700.00 $3,500.00 $737.00 $3,685.00 $600.00 $3,000.00 $745.00 $3,725.00 $515.00 $2,575.00

56) Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain', 2 inch 5.00 Ea $730.00 $3,650.00 $561.75 $2,808.75 $780.00 $3,900.00 $596.00 $2,980.00 $550.00 $2,750.00 $602.00 $3,010.00 $525.00 $2,625.00

City Council Packet 56 March 24, 2025



57) Acer saccharum 'Legacy', 2 inch 5.00 Ea $900.00 $4,500.00 $561.75 $2,808.75 $780.00 $3,900.00 $743.00 $3,715.00 $660.00 $3,300.00 $750.50 $3,752.50 $525.00 $2,625.00

58) Gymnocladus dioicus, 2 inch 17.00 Ea $780.00 $13,260.00 $540.35 $9,185.95 $675.00 $11,475.00 $640.00 $10,880.00 $620.00 $10,540.00 $650.00 $11,050.00 $505.00 $8,585.00

59) Liriodendron tulipifera, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $650.00 $3,250.00 $540.35 $2,701.75 $600.00 $3,000.00 $533.00 $2,665.00 $680.00 $3,400.00 $540.00 $2,700.00 $505.00 $2,525.00

60) Ostrya virginiana, 2 inch 17.00 Ea $900.00 $15,300.00 $551.05 $9,367.85 $810.00 $13,770.00 $743.00 $12,631.00 $690.00 $11,730.00 $751.00 $12,767.00 $515.00 $8,755.00

61) Platanus x acerifolia, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $800.00 $4,000.00 $551.05 $2,755.25 $600.00 $3,000.00 $666.00 $3,330.00 $600.00 $3,000.00 $673.00 $3,365.00 $515.00 $2,575.00

62) Syringa reticulata 'Ivory Silk', 1 3/4 inch 5.00 Ea $830.00 $4,150.00 $508.25 $2,541.25 $730.00 $3,650.00 $679.00 $3,395.00 $625.00 $3,125.00 $686.00 $3,430.00 $475.00 $2,375.00

63) Tilia cordata, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $650.00 $3,250.00 $540.35 $2,701.75 $810.00 $4,050.00 $533.00 $2,665.00 $500.00 $2,500.00 $540.00 $2,700.00 $505.00 $2,525.00

64) Alcer x freemani "Jeffersred", 3 inch 17.00 Ea $900.00 $15,300.00 $658.05 $11,186.85 $610.00 $10,370.00 $743.00 $12,631.00 $700.00 $11,900.00 $751.00 $12,767.00 $615.00 $10,455.00

65) Gleditsia triacanthos inermis 'Suncole', 2 1/2 inch 18.00 Ea $800.00 $14,400.00 $625.95 $11,267.10 $900.00 $16,200.00 $661.00 $11,898.00 $610.00 $10,980.00 $668.00 $12,024.00 $585.00 $10,530.00

66) Ulmus americana 'Princeton', 3 inch 17.00 Ea $655.00 $11,135.00 $658.05 $11,186.85 $730.00 $12,410.00 $538.00 $9,146.00 $520.00 $8,840.00 $545.00 $9,265.00 $615.00 $10,455.00

67) Turf Establishment, Performance 6200.00 Syd $10.00 $62,000.00 $7.39 $45,818.00 $8.00 $49,600.00 $10.00 $62,000.00 $8.50 $52,700.00 $3.00 $18,600.00 $9.45 $58,590.00

68) Conduit, Schedule 40, 2 inch 500.00 Ft $13.00 $6,500.00 $9.52 $4,760.00 $5.00 $2,500.00 $30.00 $15,000.00 $15.00 $7,500.00 $130.00 $65,000.00 $17.00 $8,500.00

69) Sprinkler Line 600.00 Ft $3.50 $2,100.00 $4.23 $2,538.00 $6.00 $3,600.00 $5.00 $3,000.00 $9.00 $5,400.00 $5.25 $3,150.00 $3.95 $2,370.00

70) Irrigation Control Box, Relocate 1.00 Ea $300.00 $300.00 $856.00 $856.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $650.00 $650.00 $510.00 $510.00 $800.00 $800.00

71) Irrigation Control Box, Replace 1.00 Ea $300.00 $300.00 $802.50 $802.50 $800.00 $800.00 $500.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $510.00 $510.00 $750.00 $750.00

72) Sprinkler Head, Relocate 15.00 Ea $300.00 $4,500.00 $155.15 $2,327.25 $80.00 $1,200.00 $100.00 $1,500.00 $45.00 $675.00 $102.00 $1,530.00 $145.00 $2,175.00

73) Sprinkler Head, Replace 15.00 Ea $300.00 $4,500.00 $90.95 $1,364.25 $90.00 $1,350.00 $100.00 $1,500.00 $95.00 $1,425.00 $102.00 $1,530.00 $85.00 $1,275.00

74) Audio Video Route Survey 0.50 LSUM $7,315.00 $3,657.50 $2,247.00 $1,123.50 $600.00 $300.00 $5,285.00 $2,642.50 $5,000.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $2,500.00 $1,900.00 $950.00

SUBTOTAL FOR Don Shenk Rd (Items 1-74) $1,689,701.25 $1,200,935.80 $1,635,834.21 $1,799,587.49 $1,564,849.00 $1,397,349.55 $1,522,233.50

SHOW

CATEGORY 2 - Cappy Lane SHOW

75 Mobilization, Max 0.30 LSUM $123,485.00 $37,045.50 $165,474.30 $49,642.29 $65,000.00 $19,500.00 $140,000.00 $42,000.00 $260,000.00 $78,000.00 $100,000.00 $30,000.00 $135,000.00 $40,500.00

76 Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 1.00 Ea $425.00 $425.00 $535.00 $535.00 $850.00 $850.00 $300.00 $300.00 $500.00 $500.00 $375.00 $375.00 $600.00 $600.00

77 Dr Structure, Rem 4.00 Ea $1,325.00 $5,300.00 $294.01 $1,176.04 $235.00 $940.00 $1,200.00 $4,800.00 $500.00 $2,000.00 $750.00 $3,000.00 $600.00 $2,400.00

78 Sewer, Rem, Less than 24 inch 105.00 Ft $43.00 $4,515.00 $14.88 $1,562.40 $10.80 $1,134.00 $50.00 $5,250.00 $30.00 $3,150.00 $48.00 $5,040.00 $30.00 $3,150.00

79 Exploratory Investigation, Vertical 10.00 Ft $170.00 $1,700.00 $45.65 $456.50 $36.70 $367.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $430.00 $4,300.00 $150.00 $1,500.00

80 Curb and Gutter, Rem, Modified 1042.00 Ft $9.50 $9,899.00 $6.47 $6,741.74 $2.90 $3,021.80 $7.00 $7,294.00 $4.00 $4,168.00 $3.75 $3,907.50 $10.00 $10,420.00

81 Pavt, Rem, Modified 1853.00 Syd $9.50 $17,603.50 $4.97 $9,209.41 $11.15 $20,660.95 $15.00 $27,795.00 $12.00 $22,236.00 $3.25 $6,022.25 $16.00 $29,648.00

82 Sidewalk, Rem, Modified 230.00 Syd $7.00 $1,610.00 $2.78 $639.40 $7.90 $1,817.00 $10.00 $2,300.00 $12.00 $2,760.00 $4.75 $1,092.50 $25.00 $5,750.00

83 Machine Grading, Modified 4.88 Sta $5,250.00 $25,620.00 $1,549.28 $7,560.49 $14,789.00 $72,170.32 $8,000.00 $39,040.00 $4,200.00 $20,496.00 $750.00 $3,660.00 $3,500.00 $17,080.00

84 Subgrade Undercutting, Type II, 1 by 3 250.00 Cyd $90.00 $22,500.00 $93.45 $23,362.50 $77.65 $19,412.50 $100.00 $25,000.00 $60.00 $15,000.00 $90.00 $22,500.00 $100.00 $25,000.00

85 Subgrade Undercutting, Type II, 21AA 250.00 Cyd $75.00 $18,750.00 $76.53 $19,132.50 $107.15 $26,787.50 $84.00 $21,000.00 $60.00 $15,000.00 $80.00 $20,000.00 $100.00 $25,000.00

86 Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Fabric Drop 14.00 Ea $125.00 $1,750.00 $80.33 $1,124.62 $150.00 $2,100.00 $200.00 $2,800.00 $125.00 $1,750.00 $75.00 $1,050.00 $80.00 $1,120.00

87 Aggregate Base, 10 inch, Modified 1767.00 Syd $26.00 $45,942.00 $18.66 $32,972.22 $23.45 $41,436.15 $30.00 $53,010.00 $23.00 $40,641.00 $20.00 $35,340.00 $28.00 $49,476.00

88 Aggregate Base, 6 inch, Modified 120.00 Syd $20.00 $2,400.00 $12.80 $1,536.00 $15.75 $1,890.00 $19.00 $2,280.00 $15.00 $1,800.00 $17.50 $2,100.00 $25.00 $3,000.00

89 Maintenance Gravel, Modified 300.00 Ton $45.00 $13,500.00 $33.05 $9,915.00 $34.00 $10,200.00 $70.00 $21,000.00 $50.00 $15,000.00 $45.00 $13,500.00 $50.00 $15,000.00

90 Geotextile, Separator 165.00 Syd $3.00 $495.00 $3.63 $598.95 $5.00 $825.00 $4.00 $660.00 $5.00 $825.00 $2.00 $330.00 $2.00 $330.00

91 Road Grade Biaxial Geogrid 200.00 Syd $4.25 $850.00 $3.94 $788.00 $5.00 $1,000.00 $4.51 $902.00 $4.00 $800.00 $3.75 $750.00 $3.00 $600.00

92 Geotextile Separator, Modified 100.00 Syd $18.00 $1,800.00 $39.68 $3,968.00 $5.00 $500.00 $10.00 $1,000.00 $9.00 $900.00 $25.00 $2,500.00 $4.00 $400.00

93 Sewer, Cl E, 12 inch, Tr Det B 90.00 Ft $110.00 $9,900.00 $51.22 $4,609.80 $119.85 $10,786.50 $150.00 $13,500.00 $90.00 $8,100.00 $80.00 $7,200.00 $100.00 $9,000.00

94 Sewer Tap, 12 inch 2.00 Ea $735.00 $1,470.00 $655.94 $1,311.88 $3,761.00 $7,522.00 $655.92 $1,311.84 $700.00 $1,400.00 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $500.00 $1,000.00

95 Sewer, Sanitary Service Lead, 6 inch, Tr Det B 30.00 Ft $96.00 $2,880.00 $86.38 $2,591.40 $144.20 $4,326.00 $220.00 $6,600.00 $160.00 $4,800.00 $75.00 $2,250.00 $70.00 $2,100.00

96 Storm Sewer Repair, 18 inch 30.00 Ft $225.00 $6,750.00 $132.01 $3,960.30 $139.90 $4,197.00 $250.00 $7,500.00 $130.00 $3,900.00 $160.00 $4,800.00 $55.00 $1,650.00

97 Storm Sewer Repair, 21 inch 30.00 Ft $245.00 $7,350.00 $148.79 $4,463.70 $150.90 $4,527.00 $275.00 $8,250.00 $165.00 $4,950.00 $178.00 $5,340.00 $60.00 $1,800.00

98 Storm Sewer Repair, 24 inch 30.00 Ft $265.00 $7,950.00 $175.79 $5,273.70 $159.90 $4,797.00 $300.00 $9,000.00 $200.00 $6,000.00 $215.00 $6,450.00 $70.00 $2,100.00

99 Storm Sewer Repair, 30 inch 30.00 Ft $295.00 $8,850.00 $177.86 $5,335.80 $204.90 $6,147.00 $350.00 $10,500.00 $210.00 $6,300.00 $200.00 $6,000.00 $95.00 $2,850.00

100 Dr Structure Cover, Type K 3.00 Ea $1,225.00 $3,675.00 $1,049.39 $3,148.17 $1,490.10 $4,470.30 $1,400.00 $4,200.00 $1,100.00 $3,300.00 $800.00 $2,400.00 $1,000.00 $3,000.00

101 Dr Structure, 48 inch dia 3.00 Ea $3,390.00 $10,170.00 $2,366.43 $7,099.29 $5,544.50 $16,633.50 $4,000.00 $12,000.00 $3,800.00 $11,400.00 $4,500.00 $13,500.00 $2,700.00 $8,100.00

102 Dr Structure, Tap, 6 inch 8.00 Ea $435.00 $3,480.00 $554.51 $4,436.08 $50.00 $400.00 $700.00 $5,600.00 $150.00 $1,200.00 $750.00 $6,000.00 $300.00 $2,400.00

103 Dr Structure, Tap, 12 inch 3.00 Ea $735.00 $2,205.00 $811.86 $2,435.58 $1,092.20 $3,276.60 $1,000.00 $3,000.00 $450.00 $1,350.00 $1,500.00 $4,500.00 $500.00 $1,500.00

104 Structure Cover, Adj, Case 1, Modified 1.00 Ea $1,535.00 $1,535.00 $439.37 $439.37 $722.50 $722.50 $800.00 $800.00 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 $1,250.00 $1,250.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

105 Underdrain, Subgrade, Open-Graded, 6 inch 1100.00 Ft $14.00 $15,400.00 $11.27 $12,397.00 $10.75 $11,825.00 $26.00 $28,600.00 $21.00 $23,100.00 $25.00 $27,500.00 $16.00 $17,600.00

106 Underdrain Outlet, 4 inch 15.00 Ft $145.00 $2,175.00 $16.89 $253.35 $75.00 $1,125.00 $65.00 $975.00 $30.00 $450.00 $100.00 $1,500.00 $50.00 $750.00

107 Cold Milling HMA Surface 3182.00 Syd $9.00 $28,638.00 $1.78 $5,663.96 $4.00 $12,728.00 $5.00 $15,910.00 $5.00 $15,910.00 $1.50 $4,773.00 $3.50 $11,137.00

108 Pavt for Butt Joints, Rem 112.00 Syd $30.00 $3,360.00 $5.43 $608.16 $14.40 $1,612.80 $1.40 $156.80 $20.00 $2,240.00 $15.00 $1,680.00 $50.00 $5,600.00

109 HMA, 3EML 321.00 Ton $91.00 $29,211.00 $85.44 $27,426.24 $104.00 $33,384.00 $79.85 $25,631.85 $84.00 $26,964.00 $101.00 $32,421.00 $79.85 $25,631.85

110 HMA, 5EML 600.00 Ton $106.00 $63,600.00 $92.93 $55,758.00 $105.00 $63,000.00 $88.35 $53,010.00 $95.00 $57,000.00 $106.10 $63,660.00 $88.35 $53,010.00

111 Driveway, Nonrienf Conc, 6 inch, Modified 135.00 Syd $71.00 $9,585.00 $58.68 $7,921.80 $59.95 $8,093.25 $49.50 $6,682.50 $58.00 $7,830.00 $62.00 $8,370.00 $70.00 $9,450.00

112 Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det C4 1022.00 Ft $33.00 $33,726.00 $21.40 $21,870.80 $22.75 $23,250.50 $20.00 $20,440.00 $26.00 $26,572.00 $27.50 $28,105.00 $20.00 $20,440.00

113 Detectable Warning Surface 20.00 Ft $60.00 $1,200.00 $53.50 $1,070.00 $70.00 $1,400.00 $50.00 $1,000.00 $60.00 $1,200.00 $75.00 $1,500.00 $50.00 $1,000.00

114 Curb Ramp Opening, Conc 20.00 Ft $34.00 $680.00 $21.67 $433.40 $30.00 $600.00 $20.25 $405.00 $26.00 $520.00 $35.00 $700.00 $20.25 $405.00

115 Sidewalk Ramp, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 153.00 Sft $13.50 $2,065.50 $12.10 $1,851.30 $7.90 $1,208.70 $8.80 $1,346.40 $12.00 $1,836.00 $12.00 $1,836.00 $11.00 $1,683.00

116 Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch, Modified 2086.00 Sft $7.50 $15,645.00 $5.25 $10,951.50 $5.90 $12,307.40 $4.27 $8,907.22 $6.00 $12,516.00 $6.75 $14,080.50 $7.00 $14,602.00

117 Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 307.00 Sft $9.50 $2,916.50 $6.60 $2,026.20 $6.90 $2,118.30 $5.50 $1,688.50 $8.00 $2,456.00 $7.75 $2,379.25 $8.00 $2,456.00

118 Sign, Type III, Erect, Salv 2.00 Ea $91.00 $182.00 $80.25 $160.50 $5.00 $10.00 $75.00 $150.00 $100.00 $200.00 $76.00 $152.00 $75.00 $150.00

City Council Packet 57 March 24, 2025



119 Sign, Type III, Rem 2.00 Ea $43.00 $86.00 $37.45 $74.90 $1.00 $2.00 $35.00 $70.00 $50.00 $100.00 $35.50 $71.00 $35.00 $70.00

120 Dust Palliative, Applied 1.00 Ton $150.00 $150.00 $428.00 $428.00 $70.00 $70.00 $250.00 $250.00 $700.00 $700.00 $525.00 $525.00 $300.00 $300.00

121 Minor Traf Devices 0.50 LSUM $24,300.00 $12,150.00 $21,319.76 $10,659.88 $10,000.00 $5,000.00 $103,500.00 $51,750.00 $70,000.00 $35,000.00 $20,125.00 $10,062.50 $20,000.00 $10,000.00

122 Traf Regulator Control 0.50 LSUM $12,200.00 $6,100.00 $3,350.86 $1,675.43 $2,500.00 $1,250.00 $60,000.00 $30,000.00 $48,000.00 $24,000.00 $500.00 $250.00 $5,000.00 $2,500.00

123 Acer rubrum, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $900.00 $4,500.00 $551.05 $2,755.25 $700.00 $3,500.00 $737.00 $3,685.00 $600.00 $3,000.00 $745.00 $3,725.00 $515.00 $2,575.00

124 Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain', 2 inch 5.00 Ea $730.00 $3,650.00 $561.75 $2,808.75 $780.00 $3,900.00 $596.00 $2,980.00 $550.00 $2,750.00 $602.00 $3,010.00 $525.00 $2,625.00

125 Acer saccharum 'Legacy', 2 inch 5.00 Ea $900.00 $4,500.00 $561.75 $2,808.75 $780.00 $3,900.00 $743.00 $3,715.00 $660.00 $3,300.00 $750.50 $3,752.50 $525.00 $2,625.00

126 Liriodendron tulipifera, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $650.00 $3,250.00 $540.35 $2,701.75 $600.00 $3,000.00 $533.00 $2,665.00 $680.00 $3,400.00 $540.00 $2,700.00 $505.00 $2,525.00

127 Platanus x acerifolia, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $800.00 $4,000.00 $551.05 $2,755.25 $600.00 $3,000.00 $666.00 $3,330.00 $600.00 $3,000.00 $673.00 $3,365.00 $515.00 $2,575.00

128 Syringa reticulata 'Ivory Silk', 1 3/4 inch 5.00 Ea $930.00 $4,650.00 $508.25 $2,541.25 $730.00 $3,650.00 $679.00 $3,395.00 $625.00 $3,125.00 $686.00 $3,430.00 $475.00 $2,375.00

129 Tilia cordata, 2 inch 5.00 Ea $650.00 $3,250.00 $540.35 $2,701.75 $810.00 $4,050.00 $533.00 $2,665.00 $500.00 $2,500.00 $540.00 $2,700.00 $505.00 $2,525.00

130 Turf Establishment, Performance 1700.00 Syd $10.00 $17,000.00 $7.74 $13,158.00 $8.00 $13,600.00 $10.00 $17,000.00 $9.00 $15,300.00 $3.00 $5,100.00 $9.45 $16,065.00

131 Conduit, Schedule 40, 2 inch 500.00 Ft $13.00 $6,500.00 $9.52 $4,760.00 $5.00 $2,500.00 $30.00 $15,000.00 $15.00 $7,500.00 $130.00 $65,000.00 $17.00 $8,500.00

132 Sprinkler Line 400.00 Ft $3.50 $1,400.00 $4.23 $1,692.00 $6.00 $2,400.00 $5.00 $2,000.00 $9.00 $3,600.00 $5.25 $2,100.00 $3.95 $1,580.00

133 Irrigation Control Box, Relocate 1.00 Ea $300.00 $300.00 $856.00 $856.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $650.00 $650.00 $510.00 $510.00 $800.00 $800.00

134 Irrigation Control Box, Replace 1.00 Ea $300.00 $300.00 $802.50 $802.50 $800.00 $800.00 $500.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $510.00 $510.00 $750.00 $750.00

135 Sprinkler Head, Relocate 10.00 Ea $300.00 $3,000.00 $155.15 $1,551.50 $80.00 $800.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $45.00 $450.00 $102.00 $1,020.00 $145.00 $1,450.00

136 Sprinkler Head, Replace 10.00 Ea $300.00 $3,000.00 $90.95 $909.50 $90.00 $900.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $95.00 $950.00 $102.00 $1,020.00 $85.00 $850.00

137 Audio Video Route Survey 0.50 LSUM $7,315.00 $3,657.50 $2,247.00 $1,123.50 $500.00 $250.00 $5,285.00 $2,642.50 $5,000.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $2,500.00 $2,200.00 $1,100.00

SUBTOTAL FOR Cappy Lane (Items 75-137) $567,747.50 $421,182.30 $518,152.57 $648,743.61 $572,445.00 $518,165.00 $494,178.85

SHOW

CATEGORY 3 - Watermain SHOW

138 Mobilization, Max 0.25 LSUM $123,485.00 $30,871.25 $165,474.28 $41,368.57 $65,000.00 $16,250.00 $140,000.00 $35,000.00 $260,000.00 $65,000.00 $100,000.00 $25,000.00 $135,000.00 $33,750.00

139 Tree, Rem, 19 inch to 36 inch 5.00 Ea $1,645.00 $8,225.00 $909.50 $4,547.50 $1,900.00 $9,500.00 $1,800.00 $9,000.00 $1,800.00 $9,000.00 $1,375.00 $6,875.00 $925.00 $4,625.00

140 Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 3.00 Ea $425.00 $1,275.00 $535.00 $1,605.00 $850.00 $2,550.00 $300.00 $900.00 $500.00 $1,500.00 $375.00 $1,125.00 $600.00 $1,800.00

141 Exploratory Investigation, Vertical 25.00 Ft $170.00 $4,250.00 $45.58 $1,139.50 $36.75 $918.75 $100.00 $2,500.00 $100.00 $2,500.00 $430.00 $10,750.00 $150.00 $3,750.00

142 Pavt, Rem, Modified 413.00 Syd $9.50 $3,923.50 $4.97 $2,052.61 $10.60 $4,377.80 $15.00 $6,195.00 $25.00 $10,325.00 $3.25 $1,342.25 $15.00 $6,195.00

143 Sidewalk, Rem, Modified 554.00 Syd $7.00 $3,878.00 $2.78 $1,540.12 $7.95 $4,404.30 $10.00 $5,540.00 $15.00 $8,310.00 $4.75 $2,631.50 $25.00 $13,850.00

144 Non Haz Contaminated Material Handling and Disposal, LM 100.00 Cyd $150.00 $15,000.00 $96.94 $9,694.00 $70.00 $7,000.00 $60.00 $6,000.00 $75.00 $7,500.00 $50.00 $5,000.00 $50.00 $5,000.00

145 Subgrade Undercutting, Type IV 100.00 Cyd $50.00 $5,000.00 $90.45 $9,045.00 $51.65 $5,165.00 $100.00 $10,000.00 $80.00 $8,000.00 $100.00 $10,000.00 $100.00 $10,000.00

146 Erosion Control, Inlet Protection, Fabric Drop 2.00 Ea $125.00 $250.00 $80.33 $160.66 $150.00 $300.00 $200.00 $400.00 $125.00 $250.00 $75.00 $150.00 $80.00 $160.00

147 Driveway, Nonreinf Conc, 8 inch Modified 127.00 Syd $95.00 $12,065.00 $69.67 $8,848.09 $69.95 $8,883.65 $61.20 $7,772.40 $72.00 $9,144.00 $71.25 $9,048.75 $80.00 $10,160.00

148 Driveway, Nonrienf Conc, 6 inch, Modified 320.00 Syd $80.00 $25,600.00 $58.68 $18,777.60 $59.95 $19,184.00 $49.50 $15,840.00 $58.00 $18,560.00 $62.00 $19,840.00 $70.00 $22,400.00

149 Detectable Warning Surface 20.00 Ft $60.00 $1,200.00 $53.50 $1,070.00 $70.00 $1,400.00 $50.00 $1,000.00 $70.00 $1,400.00 $75.00 $1,500.00 $50.00 $1,000.00

150 Curb Ramp Opening, Conc 20.00 Ft $34.00 $680.00 $21.67 $433.40 $30.00 $600.00 $20.00 $400.00 $26.00 $520.00 $35.00 $700.00 $20.00 $400.00

151 Sidewalk Ramp, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 100.00 Sft $13.50 $1,350.00 $12.09 $1,209.00 $7.90 $790.00 $8.80 $880.00 $12.00 $1,200.00 $12.00 $1,200.00 $12.00 $1,200.00

152 Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch, Modified 4322.00 Sft $7.50 $32,415.00 $5.25 $22,690.50 $5.90 $25,499.80 $4.27 $18,454.94 $6.00 $25,932.00 $6.75 $29,173.50 $7.00 $30,254.00

153 Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 1717.00 Sft $9.50 $16,311.50 $6.60 $11,332.20 $6.90 $11,847.30 $5.50 $9,443.50 $8.00 $13,736.00 $7.75 $13,306.75 $8.00 $13,736.00

154 Post, Steel, 3 pound 86.00 Ft $12.00 $1,032.00 $10.70 $920.20 $10.00 $860.00 $10.00 $860.00 $12.00 $1,032.00 $10.25 $881.50 $10.00 $860.00

155 Sign, Type III, Erect, Salv 5.00 Ea $91.00 $455.00 $80.25 $401.25 $75.00 $375.00 $75.00 $375.00 $100.00 $500.00 $76.00 $380.00 $75.00 $375.00

156 Sign, Type III, Rem 4.00 Ea $43.00 $172.00 $37.45 $149.80 $35.00 $140.00 $35.00 $140.00 $50.00 $200.00 $35.50 $142.00 $35.00 $140.00

157 Sign, Type IIIB 18.00 Sft $37.00 $666.00 $32.10 $577.80 $30.00 $540.00 $30.00 $540.00 $40.00 $720.00 $30.50 $549.00 $30.00 $540.00

158 Pavt Mrkg, Ovly Cold Plastic, 12 inch, Crosswalk 160.00 Ft $14.00 $2,240.00 $12.04 $1,926.40 $12.00 $1,920.00 $11.25 $1,800.00 $15.00 $2,400.00 $12.50 $2,000.00 $11.25 $1,800.00

159 Gymnocladus dioicus, 2 inch 2.00 Ea $780.00 $1,560.00 $540.35 $1,080.70 $675.00 $1,350.00 $640.00 $1,280.00 $620.00 $1,240.00 $650.00 $1,300.00 $505.00 $1,010.00

160 Ostrya virginiana, 2 inch 2.00 Ea $900.00 $1,800.00 $551.05 $1,102.10 $810.00 $1,620.00 $743.00 $1,486.00 $690.00 $1,380.00 $751.00 $1,502.00 $515.00 $1,030.00

161 Alcer x freemani "Jeffersred", 3 inch 3.00 Ea $900.00 $2,700.00 $658.05 $1,974.15 $610.00 $1,830.00 $743.00 $2,229.00 $700.00 $2,100.00 $751.00 $2,253.00 $615.00 $1,845.00

162 Gleditsia triacanthos inermis 'Suncole', 2 1/2 inch 3.00 Ea $800.00 $2,400.00 $625.95 $1,877.85 $900.00 $2,700.00 $661.00 $1,983.00 $610.00 $1,830.00 $668.00 $2,004.00 $585.00 $1,755.00

163 Ulmus americana 'Princeton', 3 inch 3.00 Ea $655.00 $1,965.00 $658.05 $1,974.15 $730.00 $2,190.00 $538.00 $1,614.00 $520.00 $1,560.00 $545.00 $1,635.00 $615.00 $1,845.00

164 Turf Establishment, Performance 1000.00 Syd $10.00 $10,000.00 $7.61 $7,610.00 $8.00 $8,000.00 $10.00 $10,000.00 $10.00 $10,000.00 $3.00 $3,000.00 $9.45 $9,450.00

165 Hydrant, Rem 2.00 Ea $1,315.00 $2,630.00 $502.24 $1,004.48 $172.50 $345.00 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $750.00 $1,500.00 $750.00 $1,500.00 $800.00 $1,600.00

166 Sprinkler Line 100.00 Ft $3.50 $350.00 $4.23 $423.00 $6.00 $600.00 $5.00 $500.00 $9.00 $900.00 $5.25 $525.00 $3.95 $395.00

167 Water Main, 6 inch, Tr Det F , Modified 12.00 Ft $290.00 $3,480.00 $154.88 $1,858.56 $143.65 $1,723.80 $325.00 $3,900.00 $100.00 $1,200.00 $100.00 $1,200.00 $120.00 $1,440.00

168 Water Main, 8 inch, Tr Det F, Modified 927.00 Ft $145.00 $134,415.00 $107.03 $99,216.81 $180.40 $167,230.80 $180.00 $166,860.00 $140.00 $129,780.00 $115.00 $106,605.00 $130.00 $120,510.00

169 Water Main, Abandon with Flowable Fill 907.00 Ft $15.00 $13,605.00 $1.07 $970.49 $5.65 $5,124.55 $20.00 $18,140.00 $8.00 $7,256.00 $6.50 $5,895.50 $3.00 $2,721.00

170 Connection to Existing Water Main 3.00 Ea $4,850.00 $14,550.00 $4,420.52 $13,261.56 $7,017.60 $21,052.80 $8,000.00 $24,000.00 $6,000.00 $18,000.00 $4,450.00 $13,350.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00

171 Fire Hydrant, Modified 2.00 Ea $8,400.00 $16,800.00 $6,686.36 $13,372.72 $7,230.35 $14,460.70 $10,000.00 $20,000.00 $7,800.00 $15,600.00 $8,250.00 $16,500.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00

172 Gate Valve and Box, 8 inch, Modified 5.00 Ea $3,905.00 $19,525.00 $2,373.22 $11,866.10 $4,367.40 $21,837.00 $3,400.00 $17,000.00 $3,000.00 $15,000.00 $4,250.00 $21,250.00 $3,000.00 $15,000.00

173 Irrigation Control Box, Relocate 1.00 Ea $300.00 $300.00 $856.00 $856.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $650.00 $650.00 $510.00 $510.00 $800.00 $800.00

174 Irrigation Control Box, Replace 1.00 Ea $300.00 $300.00 $802.50 $802.50 $800.00 $800.00 $500.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $510.00 $510.00 $750.00 $750.00

175 Sprinkler Head, Relocate 10.00 Ea $300.00 $3,000.00 $155.15 $1,551.50 $80.00 $800.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $45.00 $450.00 $102.00 $1,020.00 $145.00 $1,450.00

176 Sprinkler Head, Replace 10.00 Ea $300.00 $3,000.00 $90.95 $909.50 $90.00 $900.00 $100.00 $1,000.00 $95.00 $950.00 $102.00 $1,020.00 $85.00 $850.00

177 Water Serv, Type K Copper, 1 inch, Long 12.00 Ea $6,045.00 $72,540.00 $2,850.09 $34,201.08 $2,441.15 $29,293.80 $4,800.00 $57,600.00 $3,900.00 $46,800.00 $2,500.00 $30,000.00 $3,000.00 $36,000.00

178 Water Serv, Type K Copper, 1 inch, Short 13.00 Ea $2,850.00 $37,050.00 $1,757.52 $22,847.76 $2,301.50 $29,919.50 $3,500.00 $45,500.00 $2,500.00 $32,500.00 $1,850.00 $24,050.00 $2,000.00 $26,000.00

SUBTOTAL FOR CATEGORY 3 - Watermain (Items 138-178) $508,829.25 $358,250.21 $434,783.55 $511,132.84 $477,425.00 $377,224.75 $410,446.00

SHOW

City Council Packet 58 March 24, 2025



CATEGORY 4 - Alternate Watermain SHOW

179 Tree, Rem, 19 inch to 36 inch 1.00 Ea $1,645.00 $1,645.00 $909.50 $909.50 $1,900.00 $1,900.00 $1,800.00 $1,800.00 $1,800.00 $1,800.00 $1,375.00 $1,375.00 $925.00 $925.00

180 Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 1.00 Ea $425.00 $425.00 $535.00 $535.00 $850.00 $850.00 $300.00 $300.00 $500.00 $500.00 $375.00 $375.00 $600.00 $600.00

181 Curb and Gutter, Rem, Modified 20.00 Ft $9.50 $190.00 $6.49 $129.80 $3.00 $60.00 $10.00 $200.00 $25.00 $500.00 $3.75 $75.00 $20.00 $400.00

182 Pavt, Rem, Modified 508.00 Syd $9.50 $4,826.00 $4.98 $2,529.84 $10.60 $5,384.80 $15.00 $7,620.00 $25.00 $12,700.00 $3.25 $1,651.00 $15.00 $7,620.00

183 Sidewalk, Rem, Modified 491.00 Syd $7.00 $3,437.00 $2.78 $1,364.98 $7.95 $3,903.45 $10.00 $4,910.00 $15.00 $7,365.00 $4.75 $2,332.25 $25.00 $12,275.00

184 Driveway, Nonreinf Conc, 8 inch Modified 225.00 Syd $95.00 $21,375.00 $69.67 $15,675.75 $69.80 $15,705.00 $61.20 $13,770.00 $72.00 $16,200.00 $71.25 $16,031.25 $80.00 $18,000.00

185 Driveway, Nonrienf Conc, 6 inch, Modified 212.00 Syd $80.00 $16,960.00 $58.68 $12,440.16 $59.80 $12,677.60 $49.50 $10,494.00 $58.00 $12,296.00 $62.00 $13,144.00 $70.00 $14,840.00

186 Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det C4 5.00 Ft $33.00 $165.00 $21.40 $107.00 $22.75 $113.75 $30.00 $150.00 $50.00 $250.00 $27.50 $137.50 $30.00 $150.00

187 Detectable Warning Surface 15.00 Ft $60.00 $900.00 $53.50 $802.50 $70.00 $1,050.00 $50.00 $750.00 $60.00 $900.00 $75.00 $1,125.00 $50.00 $750.00

188 Curb Ramp Opening, Conc 15.00 Ft $34.00 $510.00 $21.67 $325.05 $30.00 $450.00 $30.00 $450.00 $30.00 $450.00 $35.00 $525.00 $30.00 $450.00

189 Sidewalk Ramp, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 75.00 Sft $13.50 $1,012.50 $12.10 $907.50 $7.90 $592.50 $8.80 $660.00 $12.00 $900.00 $12.00 $900.00 $12.00 $900.00

190 Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch, Modified 6927.00 Sft $7.50 $51,952.50 $5.25 $36,366.75 $5.90 $40,869.30 $4.27 $29,578.29 $6.00 $41,562.00 $6.75 $46,757.25 $7.00 $48,489.00

191 Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch, Modified 1135.00 Sft $9.50 $10,782.50 $6.60 $7,491.00 $6.90 $7,831.50 $5.50 $6,242.50 $8.00 $9,080.00 $7.75 $8,796.25 $8.00 $9,080.00

192 Sidewalk, Conc, 8 inch, Modified 640.00 Sft $11.00 $7,040.00 $7.99 $5,113.60 $7.90 $5,056.00 $6.80 $4,352.00 $10.00 $6,400.00 $8.75 $5,600.00 $10.00 $6,400.00

193 Post, Steel, 3 pound 100.00 Ft $12.00 $1,200.00 $10.70 $1,070.00 $10.00 $1,000.00 $10.00 $1,000.00 $12.00 $1,200.00 $10.25 $1,025.00 $10.00 $1,000.00

194 Sign, Type III, Erect, Salv 6.00 Ea $91.00 $546.00 $80.25 $481.50 $75.00 $450.00 $75.00 $450.00 $100.00 $600.00 $76.00 $456.00 $75.00 $450.00

195 Sign, Type III, Rem 5.00 Ea $43.00 $215.00 $37.45 $187.25 $35.00 $175.00 $35.00 $175.00 $50.00 $250.00 $35.50 $177.50 $35.00 $175.00

196 Sign, Type IIIB 19.00 Sft $37.00 $703.00 $32.10 $609.90 $30.00 $570.00 $30.00 $570.00 $40.00 $760.00 $30.50 $579.50 $30.00 $570.00

197 Pavt Mrkg, Ovly Cold Plastic, 12 inch, Crosswalk 144.00 Ft $14.00 $2,016.00 $12.84 $1,848.96 $12.00 $1,728.00 $12.00 $1,728.00 $15.00 $2,160.00 $12.50 $1,800.00 $12.00 $1,728.00

198 Gymnocladus dioicus, 2 inch 2.00 Ea $780.00 $1,560.00 $540.35 $1,080.70 $675.00 $1,350.00 $640.00 $1,280.00 $620.00 $1,240.00 $650.00 $1,300.00 $505.00 $1,010.00

199 Ostrya virginiana, 2 inch 3.00 Ea $900.00 $2,700.00 $551.05 $1,653.15 $810.00 $2,430.00 $743.00 $2,229.00 $690.00 $2,070.00 $751.00 $2,253.00 $515.00 $1,545.00

200 Alcer x freemani "Jeffersred", 3 inch 1.00 Ea $900.00 $900.00 $658.05 $658.05 $610.00 $610.00 $743.00 $743.00 $700.00 $700.00 $751.00 $751.00 $615.00 $615.00

201 Gleditsia triacanthos inermis 'Suncole', 2 1/2 inch 3.00 Ea $800.00 $2,400.00 $625.95 $1,877.85 $900.00 $2,700.00 $661.00 $1,983.00 $610.00 $1,830.00 $668.00 $2,004.00 $585.00 $1,755.00

202 Ulmus americana 'Princeton', 3 inch 2.00 Ea $655.00 $1,310.00 $658.05 $1,316.10 $730.00 $1,460.00 $538.00 $1,076.00 $520.00 $1,040.00 $545.00 $1,090.00 $615.00 $1,230.00

203 Turf Establishment, Performance 1170.00 Syd $10.00 $11,700.00 $7.63 $8,927.10 $8.00 $9,360.00 $10.00 $11,700.00 $10.00 $11,700.00 $3.00 $3,510.00 $9.45 $11,056.50

204 Hydrant, Rem 2.00 Ea $1,315.00 $2,630.00 $502.24 $1,004.48 $172.50 $345.00 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $750.00 $1,500.00 $750.00 $1,500.00 $800.00 $1,600.00

205 Water Main, 6 inch, Tr Det F , Modified 20.00 Ft $290.00 $5,800.00 $142.56 $2,851.20 $143.65 $2,873.00 $325.00 $6,500.00 $100.00 $2,000.00 $100.00 $2,000.00 $120.00 $2,400.00

206 Water Main, 8 inch, Tr Det F, Modified 979.00 Ft $145.00 $141,955.00 $112.54 $110,176.66 $182.20 $178,373.80 $180.00 $176,220.00 $140.00 $137,060.00 $115.00 $112,585.00 $130.00 $127,270.00

207 Water Main, Abandon with Flowable Fill 947.00 Ft $15.00 $14,205.00 $1.07 $1,013.29 $5.65 $5,350.55 $20.00 $18,940.00 $8.00 $7,576.00 $6.50 $6,155.50 $3.00 $2,841.00

208 Connection to Existing Water Main 3.00 Ea $4,850.00 $14,550.00 $4,830.34 $14,491.02 $7,017.60 $21,052.80 $8,000.00 $24,000.00 $6,000.00 $18,000.00 $4,850.00 $14,550.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00

209 Fire Hydrant, Modified 2.00 Ea $8,400.00 $16,800.00 $6,895.82 $13,791.64 $7,230.35 $14,460.70 $10,000.00 $20,000.00 $7,800.00 $15,600.00 $8,250.00 $16,500.00 $6,000.00 $12,000.00

210 Gate Valve and Box, 8 inch, Modified 4.00 Ea $3,905.00 $15,620.00 $2,373.23 $9,492.92 $4,367.40 $17,469.60 $3,400.00 $13,600.00 $3,000.00 $12,000.00 $3,500.00 $14,000.00 $3,000.00 $12,000.00

211 Water Serv, Type K Copper, 1 inch, Long 7.00 Ea $6,045.00 $42,315.00 $2,850.09 $19,950.63 $2,441.15 $17,088.05 $4,800.00 $33,600.00 $3,900.00 $27,300.00 $2,500.00 $17,500.00 $3,000.00 $21,000.00

212 Water Serv, Type K Copper, 1 inch, Short 6.00 Ea $2,850.00 $17,100.00 $1,773.16 $10,638.96 $2,301.50 $13,809.00 $3,500.00 $21,000.00 $2,500.00 $15,000.00 $1,850.00 $11,100.00 $2,000.00 $12,000.00

SUBTOTAL FOR CATEGORY 4 - Alternate Watermain (Items 179-212) $417,445.50 $287,819.79 $389,099.40 $421,070.79 $370,489.00 $309,661.00 $345,124.50

Total Bid Amount (Items 1-212) $3,183,723.50 $2,268,188.10 $2,977,869.73 $3,380,534.73 $2,985,208.00 $2,602,400.30 $2,771,982.85

DiPonio Contracting, LLCCooper Excavating Glaeser Dawes Corporation Inner City Contacting, LLC Champagne & Marx Excavating, INC Zito Construction Co. Waldorf and Sons Inc.

City Council Packet 59 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 60 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 61 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 62 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 63 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 64 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 65 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 66 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 67 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 68 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 69 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 70 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 71 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 72 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 73 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 74 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 75 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 76 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 77 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 78 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 79 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 80 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 81 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 82 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 83 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 84 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 85 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 86 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 87 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 88 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 89 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 90 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 91 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 92 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 93 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 94 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 95 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 96 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 97 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 98 March 24, 2025



 

 

 

OHM Advisors® 
112 E ELLEN ST, SUITE A 
FENTON, MICHIGAN 48430 

T 810.396.4015 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

  

March 18, 2025 
 
 
Adam Zettel, AICP 
City Manager 
City of Swartz Creek 
8083 Civic Drive 
Swartz Creek, Michigan 48473 
 
RE: Construction Engineering Services Proposal 
 Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Improvements 
 
Dear Mr. Zettel: 
 
We commend the City of Swartz Creek for its ongoing commitment to improve the quality and durability of 
its road network. Orchard, Hiltz & McCliment, Inc. (OHM Advisors) is pleased to present this proposal for 
construction engineering services for the Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Improvements. 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 
As you are aware, construction bids for the Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Improvements project were 
collected and opened on March 13, 2025.  Seven (7) bids were received and Glaeser Dawes submitted the low 
bid with a total price of $2,268,188.10. Along with the letter of recommendation and bid tab we are attaching 
this proposal for construction engineering services. 

The contract includes reconstructing Don Shenk as part of the ongoing Local Street Improvement Program. 
The work will also involve reconstruction of Cappy Lane in areas of overlaid curb and gutter and 
rehabilitation of the existing road in areas with newer curb exist along Cappy Lane. Along with the road work, 
the water main along Cappy Lane will be replaced. Work will involve complete removal and replacement of 
the existing street cross-section including pavement, driveways, storm sewers, and sidewalks. In areas where 
curb and gutter are to remain along Cappy Lane, the work will involve new watermain, sidewalks, driveways 
and milling and resurfacing the existing HMA roadway. All green space within the public right of way will be 
restored with grass.  Decorative lighting and conduit will be installed at locations specified by the City and 
coordinated with Consumers energy.   

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Our scope of services for the work effort is as follows: 
 

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING 
 

� Perform full-time construction observation and address contractor issues during construction. 
� Prepare daily reports during construction. 
� Coordinate with SMAC Construction Testing, as necessary, to perform density testing services on 

storm sewer backfill, road sub-base, aggregate base, asphalt pavement, and concrete pavement. 
� Perform construction staking for storm sewer, water main, and curb and gutter.  
� Measure and track quantities during construction.  

City Council Packet 99 March 24, 2025



Adam Zettel, AICP 
Construction Engineering Services Proposal – Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Improvements 
March 18, 2025  
Page 2 of 3 

 

OHM Advisors® 
112 E ELLEN ST, SUITE A 
FENTON, MICHIGAN 48430 

T 810.396.4015 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

  

� Attend progress meetings as required during construction. For estimating purposes, we anticipate bi-
weekly meetings however that may be adjusted during construction. 

� Prepare Contractor pay estimates and change orders. 
� Witness underground utility locations and create record drawings. Feature locations will be collected 

with a GPS unit during installation and the information will be provided to the City for their inclusion 
in the City’s GIS system. 

� Coordinate punch-list walkthrough with the Contractor. 
� Monitor progress with the Contractor for punch-list items and close the project in accordance with 

City requirements. 
 
COMPENSATION AND SCHEDULE 
We spoke to representatives from Glaeser Dawes and we understand their plan is to begin construction 
around early May and based on our discussion we have estimated 22 weeks of construction. At different times 
during construction (e.g. during water service leads) they plan have multiple crews on-site.  We have provided 
the estimated fee below which accounts for an additional staff member when the contractor is using multiple 
crews to assure an accurate and concise construction delivery.  We will keep you abreast of the contractor’s 
progress as construction moves forward and the final construction engineering fee will be based on the actual 
duration of work. 
 
The services outlined above will be performed on a time and expense basis in accordance with the enclosed 
Standard Terms and Conditions for an amount not-to-exceed fee of $323,655.00. 
 

Construction Observation     $ 156,600.00 
 Construction Staking      $   59,000.00 
 Construction Engineering     $   49,300.00 

Material Testing      $   21,705.00 
Contract Administration     $   37,050.00 

    TOTAL    $ 323,655.00   
 
If this proposal is acceptable to you, please sign below and return our files.  We look forward to being a part 
of the team and working with the City on another successful project.  Should you have any questions 
regarding this proposal please feel free to call me at 810.396.4374.   
 
Sincerely, 
OHM Advisors 

 
_________________________________                  _________________________________ 
Andrew J. Harris, PE     Robert J. Daavettila, PE 
Principal      Project Manager 
 
Encl: Standard Terms and Conditions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 100 March 24, 2025



Adam Zettel, AICP 
Construction Engineering Services Proposal – Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Improvements 
March 18, 2025  
Page 3 of 3 

 

OHM Advisors® 
112 E ELLEN ST, SUITE A 
FENTON, MICHIGAN 48430 

T 810.396.4015 
F 734.522.6427 OHM-Advisors.com 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

City of Swartz Creek 
Construction Engineering Services Proposal 
Cappy Lane and Don Shenk Improvements 

 
 
Accepted By:                          

 
Title:   

 
Date:   

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 101 March 24, 2025



 
TERMS & CONDITIONS 

 

Michigan Terms & Conditions Page 1 of 2  March 11, 2021 

1. THE AGREEMENT. These Terms and Conditions and the 
attached Proposal or Scope of Services, upon acceptance by 
CLIENT, shall constitute the entire Agreement between Orchard, 
Hiltz & McCliment, Inc. (OHM ADVISORS), a registered 
Michigan Corporation, and CLIENT. OHM ADVISORS and 
CLIENT may be referred to individually as a Party or collectively 
as Parties. This Agreement supersedes all prior negotiations or 
agreements and may be amended only by written agreement signed 
by both Parties. 

 
2. CLIENT RESPONSIBILITIES. CLIENT, at no cost, shall:  

a. Provide access to the project site to allow timely performance 
of the services.  

b. Provide all information in CLIENT’S possession as required by 
OHM ADVISORS to perform the services. 

c. Designate a person to act as CLIENT’S representative who shall 
transmit instructions, receive information, define CLIENT 
policies, and have the authority to make decisions related to 
services under this Agreement.  

 
3. PROJECT INFORMATION. OHM ADVISORS shall be entitled 

to rely on the accuracy and completeness of services and 
information furnished by CLIENT, other design professionals, or 
consultants contracted directly to CLIENT.  

 
4. PERIOD OF SERVICE. The services shall be completed within 

the time specified in the Proposal or Scope of Services, or if no time 
is specified, within a reasonable amount of time. OHM ADVISORS 
shall not be liable to CLIENT for any loss or damage arising out of 
any failure or delay in rendering services pursuant to this Agreement 
that arise out of circumstances that are beyond the control of OHM 
ADVISORS. 

 
5. COMPENSATION. CLIENT shall pay OHM ADVISORS for 

services performed in accordance with the method of payment, as 
stated in the Proposal or Scope of Services. CLIENT shall pay 
OHM ADVISORS for reimbursable expenses for subconsultant 
services, equipment rental, or other special project related items at 
a rate of 1.15 times the invoice amount. 

 
6. TERMS OF PAYMENT. Invoices shall be submitted to the 

CLIENT each month for services performed during the preceding 
period.  CLIENT shall pay the full amount of the invoice within 
thirty days of the invoice date. If payment is not made within thirty 
days, the amount due to OHM ADVISORS shall include a service 
fee at the rate of one (1%) percent per month from said thirtieth 
day. 

 
7. STANDARD OF CARE. OHM ADVISORS shall perform their 

services under this Agreement in a manner consistent with the 
professional skill and care ordinarily provided by similar 
professionals practicing in the same or similar locality under the 
same or similar conditions.  

 
8. RESTRICTION OF REMEDIES. OHM ADVISORS is 

responsible for the work of its employees while they are engaged 
on OHM ADVISORS’ projects.  As such, and in order to minimize 
legal costs and fees related to any dispute, CLIENT agrees to 
restrict any and all remedies it may have by reason of OHM 
ADVISORS’ breach of this Agreement or negligence in the 
performance of services under this Agreement, be they in contract, 
tort, or otherwise, to OHM ADVISORS, and to waive any claims 
against individual employees. 

9. LIMIT OF LIABILITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
CLIENT agrees that, notwithstanding any other provision in this 
Agreement, the total liability in the aggregate, of OHM ADVISORS 
to CLIENT, or anyone claiming under CLIENT, for any claims, 
losses, damages or costs whatsoever arising out of, resulting from, 
or in any way related to this Agreement or the services provided by 
OHM ADVISORS pursuant to this Agreement, be limited to 
$25,000 or OHM ADVISORS fee, whichever is greater, and 
irrespective of whether the claim sounds in breach of contract, tort, 
or otherwise. 

 
10. ASSIGNMENT. Neither Party to this Agreement shall transfer, 

sublet, or assign any duties, rights under or interest in this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party. 

 
11. NO WAIVER. Failure of either Party to enforce, at anytime, the 

provisions of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of such 
provisions or the right of either Party at any time to avail themselves 
of such remedies as either may have for any breach of such 
provisions. 

 
12. GOVERNING LAW. The laws of the State of Michigan will 

govern the validity of this Agreement, its interpretation and 
performance. 

 
13. INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE. OHM ADVISORS shall retain 

ownership of all reports, drawings, plans, specifications, electronic 
data and files, and other documents (Documents) prepared by 
OHM ADVISORS as Instruments of Service. OHM ADVISORS 
shall retain all common law, statutory and other reserved rights, 
including, without limitation, all copyrights thereto. CLIENT, upon 
payment in full for OHM’s services, shall have an irrevocable 
license to use OHM’s Instruments of Service for or in conjunction 
with repairs, alterations or maintenance to the project involved but 
for no other purpose. CLIENT shall not reuse or make any 
modifications to the Documents without prior written 
authorization by OHM ADVISORS.  In accepting and utilizing any 
Documents or other data on any electronic media provided by 
OHM ADVISORS, CLIENT agrees they will perform acceptance 
tests or procedures on the data within 30 days of receipt of the file.   

 
14. CERTIFICATIONS. OHM ADVISORS shall have 14 days to 

review proposed language prior to the requested dates of execution. 
OHM ADVISORS shall not be required to execute certificates to 
which it has a reasonable objection, or that would require 
knowledge, services, or responsibilities beyond the scope of this 
Agreement, nor shall any certificates be construed as a warranty or 
guarantee by OHM ADVISORS.  

 
15. TERMINATION. Either Party may at any time terminate this 

Agreement upon giving the other Party 7 calendar days prior written 
notice.  CLIENT shall within 45 days of termination pay OHM 
ADVISORS for all services rendered and all costs incurred up to 
the date of termination in accordance with compensation 
provisions in this Agreement. 

 
16. RIGHT TO SUSPEND SERVICES. In the event CLIENT fails to 

pay OHM ADVISORS the amount shown on any invoice within 
45 days of the date of the invoice, OHM ADVISORS may, after 
giving 7 days’ notice to CLIENT, suspend its services until payment 
in full for all services and expenses is received. 

 
City Council Packet 102 March 24, 2025



Michigan Terms & Conditions Page 2 of 2  March 11, 2021 

17. OPINIONS OF PROBABLE COST. OHM ADVISORS 
preparation of Opinions of Probable Cost represents OHM 
ADVISORS’ best judgment as a design professional familiar with 
the industry.  CLIENT recognizes that OHM ADVISORS has no 
control over costs of labor, equipment, materials, or a contractor’s 
pricing.  OHM ADVISORS makes no warranty, expressed or 
implied, as to the accuracy of such opinions as compared to bid or 
actual cost. 

 
18. JOB SITE SAFETY. Neither the professional activities of OHM 

ADVISORS, nor the presence of OHM ADVISORS or our 
employees and subconsultants at a construction site shall relieve the 
Contractor or any other entity of their obligations, duties, and 
responsibilities including, but not limited to, construction means, 
methods, sequences, techniques or procedures necessary for 
performing, superintending or coordinating all portions of the work 
of construction in accordance with the contract documents and the 
health or safety precautions required by any regulatory agency.  
OHM ADVISORS has no authority to exercise any control over 
any construction contractor or any other entity or their employees 
in connection with their work or any health or safety precautions.  

 
19. CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS. If included in the services to be 

provided, OHM ADVISORS shall review the contractor’s 
submittals such as shop drawings, product data, and samples for the 
limited purpose of checking for conformance with information 
given and the design concept expressed in the construction 
documents issued by OHM ADVISORS. Review of such 
submittals is not for the purpose of determining the accuracy and 
completeness of other information such as dimensions, quantities, 
and installation or performance of equipment or systems, which are 
the contractor’s responsibility. OHM ADVISORS review shall not 
constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise 
specifically stated by OHM ADVISORS, of any construction 
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. OHM 
ADVISORS approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval 
of an assembly of which the item is a component. 

 
20. CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION. If requested, OHM 

ADVISORS shall visit the project construction site to generally 
observe the construction work and answer questions that CLIENT 
may have.  OHM ADVISORS shall not be required to make 
exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the quality or 
quantity of the construction work, or to determine whether the 
construction work is being constructed in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.   

 
21. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. As used in this Agreement, the term 

hazardous materials shall mean any substances, including without 
limitation asbestos, toxic or hazardous waste, PCBs, combustible 
gases and materials, petroleum or radioactive materials (as each of 
these is defined in applicable federal statutes) or any other 
substances under any conditions and in such quantities as would 
pose a substantial danger to persons or property exposed to such 
substances at or near the Project site. Both Parties acknowledge that 
OHM ADVISORS' Scope of Services does not include any services 
related to the presence of any hazardous or toxic materials. In the 
event OHM ADVISORS or any other person or entity involved in 
the project encounters any hazardous or toxic materials, or should 
it become known to OHM ADVISORS that such materials may be 
present on or about the jobsite or any adjacent areas that may affect 
the performance of OHM ADVISORS' services, OHM 

ADVISORS may, at its sole option and without liability for 
consequential or any other damages, suspend performance of its 
services under this Agreement until CLIENT retains appropriate 
qualified consultants and/or contractors to identify and abate or 
remove the hazardous or toxic materials and warrants that the 
jobsite is in full compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 
CLIENT agrees, notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and 
hold harmless OHM ADVISORS, its officers, partners, employees 
and subconsultants (collectively, OHM ADVISORS) from and 
against any and all claims, suits, demands, liabilities, losses, damages 
or costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees and defense costs 
arising out of or in any way connected with the detection, presence, 
handling, removal, abatement, or disposal of any asbestos or 
hazardous or toxic substances, products or materials that exist on, 
about or adjacent to the Project site, whether liability arises under 
breach of contract or warranty, tort, including negligence, strict 
liability or statutory liability, regulatory or any other cause of action, 
except for the sole negligence or willful misconduct of OHM 
ADVISORS. 

 
22. WAIVER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. The Parties 

waive consequential damages for claims, disputes or other matters 
in question arising out of or relating to this Agreement. This mutual 
waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential 
damages due to either Party’s termination of this Agreement. 

 
23. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. The Parties waive all rights 

against each other and any of their contractors, subcontractors, 
consultants, agents, and employees, each of the other, for damages 
caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered by 
property insurance obtained pursuant to a written contract or other 
property insurance applicable to the construction work.   

 
24. THIRD PARTIES. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall 

create a contractual relationship with, or a cause of action in favor 
of, a third party against either CLIENT or OHM ADVISORS. 

 
25. CODE REVIEW/ACCESSIBILITY. In providing its services 

under this Agreement, OHM ADVISORS may have to interpret 
federal and or state laws, codes, ordinances, regulations and/or 
statutes.  CLIENT understands and agrees that these may be 
subject to different and possibly contradictory interpretations by 
relevant governmental officials charged with interpreting same and 
furthermore understands and agrees that OHM ADVISORS does 
not warrant or guarantee that their interpretation will be consistent 
with the interpretation of the relevant governmental officials. OHM 
ADVISORS shall not be liable for unreasonable or unforeseeable 
interpretation of federal and or state laws, codes, ordinances, 
regulations and/or statutes by governmental officials charged with 
interpreting same. 

 
26. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. In an effort to resolve any conflicts 

that arise during the project or following the completion of the 
project, the Parties agree that all disputes between them arising out 
of or relating to this Agreement shall be submitted to nonbinding 
mediation, unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise, as a 
prerequisite to further legal proceedings.  The Parties agree to share 
the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally, and the mediation 
shall be held in the place where the project is located, unless another 
location is mutually agreed upon.   

 

City Council Packet 103 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 104 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 105 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 106 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 107 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 108 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 109 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 110 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 111 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 112 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 113 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 114 March 24, 2025



Letter 947 (Rev. 2-2020) 
Catalog Number 35152P

Department of the Treasury 
Internal Revenue Service
Tax Exempt and Government Entities
PO Box 2508
Cincinnati, OH 45201

DRAGONS CRUISE
6254 LENNON
SWARTZ CREEK, MI 48473

Date:
09/18/2024

Employer ID number:
88-1776891

Person to contact:
Name: Customer Service
ID number: 31954
Telephone: 877-829-5500

Accounting period ending:
December 31

Public charity status:
509(a)(2)

Form 990 / 990-EZ / 990-N required:
Yes

Effective date of exemption:
September 12, 2024

Contribution deductibility:
Yes

Addendum applies:
No

DLN:
26053660004564

Dear Applicant:

We're pleased to tell you we determined you're exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code 
(IRC) Section 501(c)(3). Donors can deduct contributions they make to you under IRC Section 170. You're also 
qualified to receive tax deductible bequests, devises, transfers or gifts under Section 2055, 2106, or 2522. This 
letter could help resolve questions on your exempt status. Please keep it for your records.

Organizations exempt under IRC Section 501(c)(3) are further classified as either public charities or private 
foundations. We determined you're a public charity under the IRC Section listed at the top of this letter.

If we indicated at the top of this letter that you're required to file Form 990/990-EZ/990-N, our records show 
you're required to file an annual information return (Form 990 or Form 990-EZ) or electronic notice (Form  
990-N, the e-Postcard). If you don't file a required return or notice for three consecutive years, your exempt 
status will be automatically revoked.

If we indicated at the top of this letter that an addendum applies, the enclosed addendum is an integral part of 
this letter.

For important information about your responsibilities as a tax-exempt organization, go to www.irs.gov/charities. 
Enter "4221-PC" in the search bar to view Publication 4221-PC, Compliance Guide for 501(c)(3) Public 
Charities, which describes your recordkeeping, reporting, and disclosure requirements.

Sincerely,

Stephen A. Martin 
Director, Exempt Organizations 
Rulings and Agreements

City Council Packet 115 March 24, 2025



Date: 3-13-2025

To:  Swartz Creek City Council
Paul D. Bueche Municipal Building

       8083 Civic Dr 
       Swartz Creek, Mi. 48473

From:  Jared M. Oginsky
President of The Dragon's Cruise 
810-449-3150
joginsky5160@gmail.com

Re: Requested Non-Profit Documentation

Dear Swartz Creek City Council Members.  I am writing to you about the request for documentation 
for the Non-Profit The Dragon's Cruise.  I  reached out to Lara, and I am working with them to update 
the discrepancies that were brought to my attention.  It was brought to my attention that I did not follow
up with their procedures by Lara and file annual reports.  I should have contacted them when I moved 
to update the information that was needed. With that I will be updating documentation for 2023, and 
2024.  On 9-12-2024  we went from a regular Non-Profit to a 501c3 designation by the I.  Our EIN # 
and everything else transitioned to our new 501c3 tax designation.  I will be providing the 501c3 tax 
papers and payment information for The Dragon's Cruise to transition to that designation, past 2022 
initial business opening documentation, and updated and paid for Lara 2023 and 2024 documentation.  
These were updated on 3-13-2025 for the 2023 and 2024 business years. Lara states on their website 
that it may take up to 10 business days per filing to be approved. This will show that all discrepancies 
have been updated and fixed.RS

If there are any other dependencies that have not been given to the Swartz Creek City Council, then 
feel free to reach out and bring those to my attention before March 19th 2025.  This will allow me time 
to address any further business that you feel I need to address.  

Thank you 

Jared M. Oginsky
President of the Dragon's Cruise
810-449-3150
joginsky5160@gmail.com

 

City Council Packet 116 March 24, 2025

mailto:joginsky5160@gmail.com
mailto:joginsky5160@gmail.com


  
Form Revision Date 07/2016 

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 
For use by DOMESTIC NONPROFIT CORPORATION 

Pursuant to the provisions of Act 162, Public Acts of 1982, the undersigned corporation executes the following Articles: 

ARTICLE I  

The name of the corporation is:

DRAGON'S CRUISE  

 

ARTICLE II 

The purpose or purposes for which the corporation is formed are: 

To promote community involvement and to benefit charitable organizations through events held. Charitable organizations to include  
but are not limited to; multipurpose Human Service, Crisis services, Food banks, Food pantries, Children's and Family services

 

ARTICLE III 

The Corporation is formed upon Non StockNon Stock   basis. 

If formed on a stock basis, the total number of shares the corporation has authority to issue is 
 

 

If formed on a nonstock basis, the description and value of its real property assets are (if none, insert "none"):

none 

The description and value of its personal property assets are (if none, insert "none"):

none 

The corporation is to be financed under the following general plan:

Donations received from hosting events 

The Corporation is formed on a DirectorshipDirectorship   basis. 

ARTICLE IV 

The street address of the registered office of the corporation and the name of the resident agent at the registered office (P.O. 
Boxes are not acceptable):

 

1.  Agent Name: JARED OGINSKY  

2. Street Address: 8055 PAUL FORTINO DR.  

Apt/Suite/Other: NUMBER 392  

City: SWARTZ CREEK  

State: MI Zip Code: 48473  

3. Registered Office Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box or Street 
Address: 

P.O. BOX 392  

Apt/Suite/Other:  

City: SWARTZ CREEK  

State: MIMI  Zip Code: 48473  

Filed by Corporations Division Administrator   Filing Number: 222544921030     Date: 04/14/2022

City Council Packet 117 March 24, 2025



ARTICLE V 

The name(s) and address(es) of the incorporator(s) is (are) as follows:

Name Residence or Business Address

JARED M OGINSKY 2197 LAUDERDALE ST., FLINT, MI 48532 USA 

Signed this 14th Day of April, 2022 by the incorporator(s). 

Signature Title Title if ''Other'' was selected 

Jared M Oginsky Incorporator 

  

By selecting ACCEPT, I hereby acknowledge that this electronic document is being signed in accordance with the Act. I further certify 
that to the best of my knowledge the information provided is true, accurate, and in compliance with the Act.

 

����� Decline       ������ Accept 

City Council Packet 118 March 24, 2025



 
 

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS 
 

FILING ENDORSEMENT 
 
 

This is to Certify that the  

for 
 
 
 
 

      ID Number: 
 
 
 
 
 

received by electronic transmission on                                     , is hereby endorsed. 

Filed on                                       , by the Administrator.        

 
The document is effective on the date filed, unless a subsequent effective date within 90 days after  
received date is stated in the document. 

 

 
    

    

     
       In testimony whereof, I have hereunto set my  
       hand and affixed the Seal of the Department,  
     

 
 

DRAGON'S CRUISE

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

802842965

April 14, 2022

April 14, 2022

in the City of Lansing, this 14th dayin the City of Lansing, this 14th dayin the City of Lansing, this 14th dayin the City of Lansing, this 14th day
of April, 2022.of April, 2022.of April, 2022.of April, 2022.

Filed by Corporations Division Administrator   Filing Number: 222544921030     Date: 04/14/2022

Linda Clegg, DirectorLinda Clegg, DirectorLinda Clegg, DirectorLinda Clegg, Director
Corporations, Securities & Commercial Licensing BureauCorporations, Securities & Commercial Licensing BureauCorporations, Securities & Commercial Licensing BureauCorporations, Securities & Commercial Licensing Bureau

City Council Packet 119 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 120 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 121 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 122 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 123 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 124 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 125 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 126 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 127 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 128 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 129 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 130 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 131 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 132 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 133 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 134 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 135 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 136 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 137 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 138 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 139 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 140 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 141 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 142 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 143 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 144 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 145 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 146 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 147 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 148 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 149 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 150 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 151 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 152 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 153 March 24, 2025



City Council Packet 154 March 24, 2025



Page 1 of 6 
(BID Draft: January 10, 2025 

 

NOTICE OF REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS & QUALIFICATIONS 
Professional Engineering Services 

City of Swartz Creek, Genesee County Michigan 
 

 

 

GENERAL STATEMENT 

The City of Swartz Creek, in compliance with the qualifications based selection process 
and the Brooks Act, is accepting sealed statements of qualifications from qualified firms 
to perform general engineering, surveying, construction management, mapping, and 
landscape architecture services for the Swartz Creek Community. This solicitation will 
result in the prequalification of up to four firms. The prequalified firm(s) will be selected 
by the city to perform work on a project by project basis. Services of companies that 
are prequalified, as a result of this solicitation, may or may not be utilized by the city. 
Each firm submitting their qualifications must acknowledge that being short-listed does 
not necessarily mean that  the city wi l l  use their services. The city’s prequalification 
of professional engineering firms will be for a period of five (5) years from the date of 
successful award. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE COMMUNITY 

The City of Swartz Creek (population ~5,840) is a municipal corporate suburb of the City 
of Flint, located in Genesee County, Michigan. Swartz Creek is a ‘home rule’ city with a 
council-manager form of government. The city is about five (5) square miles and is 
currently experiencing relatively stable housing and commercial growth. The community 
is a full services government operating within a stable financial, political, and 
professional context. The City is in various stages of planning and implementation 
of funded sewer, water, and street infrastructure improvements as part of a holistic asset 
management plan and six year capital improvement plan. The city is also engaged in 
ongoing trail-way, streetscape, drainage, and recreational improvements. 

 
SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS 
All firms desiring to be considered and who are registered to practice in the State of 
Michigan, are invited to submit proposals in accordance with the terms as set forth 
within. Each firm submitting a proposal shall make themselves familiar with all 
conditions as described within. The City of Swartz Creek shall consider all applicants 
fully informed, unless the City is specifically notified in writing of all factors that would 
affect their proposal. All proposals shall be submitted in full detail, and all entries legibly 
made. An authorized corporate officer from the submitting firm must sign the proposal. 
Statements of qualification along with any additional information the firm wishes to 
submit will be accepted until 11:00 a.m., Friday, February 21, 2025, at the Swartz 
Creek City Office, 8083 Civic Drive, Swartz Creek, MI 48473 (810-635-4464). At the 
aforementioned due date, time and location, proposals will be opened and tabulated as 
to their reception only. Awards shall be made after review as set forth within. Firms 
applying for consideration shall prepare and submit a sealed single copy of the proposal 
along with a digital copy to: 
 

City Council Packet 155 March 24, 2025



Page 2 of 6 
(BID Draft: January 10, 2025 

 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
C/O Renee Kraft, CITY CLERK 

8083 Civic Drive  
Swartz Creek, Michigan  48473 

Submission of a proposal will be construed as conclusive presumption that the applicant 
is thoroughly familiar with the proposal and specifications, and that the applicant 
understands and agrees to abide by each and all of the stipulations and requirements 
contained therein. Proposals can be delivered in person or sent via mail or similar 
currier, as addressed above. The outside of the entire package shall be sealed and 
clearly marked “PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES PROPOSAL” 

Proposals will not be accepted after the time designated for the opening of the proposals 
(Friday, February 21, 2025 @ 11:00 A.M.). The applicant shall assume full responsibility 
for delivery of proposals prior to the appointed hour for opening same, and shall assume 
the risk of late delivery or non-delivery regardless of the manner the applicant 
employs for the transmission thereof. The City of Swartz Creek shall accept proposals 
only during normal business hours, said hours being 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M., Monday; 
8:00 A.M. to 4:00 P.M., Tuesday through Thursday, legal holidays excepted. 

All questions regarding this solicitation are to be sent via email to City Clerk Renee 
Kraft, at: rkraft@cityofswartzcreek.org 

 

RIGHT TO REJECT 

The City of Swartz Creek reserves the right to reject any or all proposals, or any part of 
the same, to waive any irregularities or informalities, and to make the award in part or 
entirety as may appear to the City of Swartz Creek to be in the best interest of the City. 

 
DISQUALIFICATION OF APPLICANT 

Although not intended to be an exhaustive list of causes for disqualification, any one or 
more of the following events, among others, may be considered sufficient for the 
disqualification of an applicant and the rejection of the applicant's proposal: 

1. Evidence of collusion among applicants. 

2. Lack of competency, incomplete submittals. 

3. Misrepresentation. 

4. Fraud or fraudulent statements. 

5. Not  in  good  standing  with  any  Federal,  State  or  County  government 
entities; included on the Debarment and Suspension List 

City Council Packet 156 March 24, 2025

mailto:rkraft@cityofswartzcreek.org


Page 3 of 6 
(BID Draft: January 10, 2025 

 

GENERAL SCOPE OF REQUIRED SERVICES 

The City desires to prequalify up to four (4) professional engineering firms to provide 
general services for the following, typical local, state, and federally funded projects. The 
prequalified firm(s) will be selected by the city to perform work on a project by project 
basis. 

 

1) Design engineering services to include, but not necessarily limited to, 
projects such as: street construction both new and re-construction; 
bridges; sidewalks; parks and park facilities, such as restrooms, trails and 
parking lots; storm water lines, structures and drainage studies; water and 
sanitary sewer mains, structures and facilities. 

2) Construction engineering including construction staking, material testing, 
and inspection/observation. 

3) Property surveys, legal description services, and GIS mapping. 

4) Review of development site plans to determine appropriate street 
construction design quality, utility/storm water design, detention capacity, 
traffic flow, and compliance issues regarding community policy and 
ordinance requirements. 

5) Project experience with respect to CDBG requirements. 

6) Provide continuing assistance with respect to state and federal grant 
opportunities; provide general assistance to city administrative and elected 
officials. 

7) Provide rational and creative leadership to staff and officials concerning all 
areas relating to the office of engineer. 

8) Provide construction site management and inspection services as needed. 

9) Provide traffic engineering and signal services.  
 
The City maintains standards for design and engineering specifications on file. Water, 
sewer, and storm projects are also subject to Genesee County Drain Commission Water 
and Waste Services Division review per ordinance. Design standards, asset management 
plans, and the current Capital Improvement Program are available on the city’s website: 
www.cityofswartzcreek.org. 
 
In the next five years, the city expects to perform approximately $8,100,000 in public 
construction projects, as follows: $1,500,000 in water main construction, $5,000,000 of 
street rehabilitation/reconstruction, $600,000 in park improvements, and $1,000,000 in 
miscellaneous engineering related construction projects. The expected maximum value of 
construction projects over the next five years is $15,000,000. The city is also located within 
one mile of the potential Mundy Township Advanced Manufacturing District, which is 
proposed for significant investment that would have large ramifications for the City of Swartz 
Creek and its neighboring municipalities. 
 

City Council Packet 157 March 24, 2025

http://www.cityofswartzcreek.org/
https://developflintandgenesee.org/advanced-manufacturing-district-of-genesee-county/


Page 4 of 6 
(BID Draft: January 10, 2025 

 

When the selected consultant is requested to perform engineering services on a project, 
the City will present the scope and desired schedule to the consultant. The consultant will 
present the City with a proposal including project staff-hours and costs. If the proposal is 
reasonable based on the scope and cost of the project, a contract will be prepared and 
either executed, or submitted to the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) for 
approval, then executed. If a proposal is deemed unreasonable by the City or MDOT, the 
City will attempt to negotiate a fair price with the preferred consultant. If a price cannot be 
agreed upon by the City and the preferred consultant, the City will request a proposal from 
one of the remaining consultants obtained through this solicitation.  
 
Contracts for work shall be MDOT standard or by local agreement. A Third Party Agreement 
shall be required. Payment for services shall be by municipal check or via the MDOT 
reimbursement system.  
 
SUBMISSION CRITERIA 

The statement of qualifications shall, at a minimum, include the following information: 

1. A letter of transmittal containing the following information: 

a) A brief discussion outlining the firm’s understanding of the 
requested services. 

b) The name, title, address, telephone and fax number of the person 
authorized to represent submitting firm. 

2. Firm’s profile, including: 

a) Organization, size, Michigan office location(s). 

b) The office location where work associated with this proposal will be 
performed, including the number of professional staff by classification 
regularly assigned to the designated office. 

 
c) Identify the person directly responsible for managing and 
supervising projects and relationships with City staff and elected officials. 
Submit resumes (two pages maximum per person) of all professionals 
likely to be assigned to community projects. 

d) Submit a list of municipal clients, including at least three of which 
are similar in character to the City of Swartz Creek for whom you have 
performed general engineering services for at least two years. Submit the 
name and telephone number of the local contact person. 

e) Submit a proposed contract for the services discussed in this 
proposal. 

f) Submit a communication plan addressing how the firm/project 
manager will communicate with the City. 

City Council Packet 158 March 24, 2025



Page 5 of 6 
(BID Draft: January 10, 2025 

 

g) Provide any other information considered important, not discussed 
in the RFQ, limited to one (1) page, which may help the city better 
understand the firm. 

h) R.F.Q.’s must be sealed. The outside of the entire package shall be 
clearly marked “PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
PROPOSAL”. 

3. The submitting firm is required to be prequalified (at a minimum “provisional” 
status) with the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT), by the 
proposal opening date (Friday, February 21, 2025 @ 11:00 A.M.), in ALL 
of the following categories: 

• Bituminous Pavement Inspection 
• Construction Staking 
• Bridge Construction Engineering 
• Density Inspection &Testing 
• Portland Cement Concrete Inspection & Testing 
• Road Construction Engineering 
• Municipal Utilities 
• Roads & Streets 
• Traffic Signal Design 

The classifications listed above are considered “Primary Prequalification 
Classifications”, in that; the submitting consultant MUST be prequalified in all 
of the categories listed above. Sub-consultant prequalification’s ARE NOT 
considered “Primary Prequalification Classifications” and will not be accepted 
as a method to fulfill prequalification requirements listed. 

 
SUBMISSION EVALUATION 

The City will review the proposals independent of rate schedules. Do not submit any 
rates or similar quotes with proposals. Cost proposals shall be requested from the 
highest scoring consultants. Contract types for engineering services shall consist 
of USDA, MDOT, or other governmental templates or locally agreeable 
professional service agreements. Payment shall be by check for services 
rendered. 

After review of the submitted qualification statement packages, the top rated firms 
will be requested to interview. The interview will focus on the criteria referenced 
herein as well as the consultant’s projected workload, experience with MDOT 
audits, equal employment practices and disadvantaged business enterprise 
participation.  

After evaluation and ranking of proposals, negotiations will be commenced by the City 
Manager with each prequalified firm to establish a general rate schedule. Subsequent 
negotiations may be commenced with the next most qualified firms if an agreement 
on rates is not reached with any of the most qualified firms. 

Selection is expected prior to March 31, 2025. 

City Council Packet 159 March 24, 2025



Page 6 of 6 
(BID Draft: January 10, 2025 

 

 
Evaluations are based on the following criteria: 

1. Ability to provide the service required 
2. Qualifications of personnel assigned 
3. Quality of the communication plan 
4. Location of the office that will serve the City 
5. Compatibility of submission with respect to the RFQ requirements 
6. Reference analysis from other communities 
7. Past experience of the firm with the referenced community 

 
Evaluations will be scored using the following relative weights: 

Criteria Number of points 

1. Understanding of Service: 20 
2. Qualifications of Team: 30 
3. Past Performance: 20 
4. Quality Assurance/Quality Control:     20 
5. Local Presence: 10 

Maximum 100 points 
 
 
 
 
 

The City of Swartz Creek is an Equal Opportunity Employer 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 160 March 24, 2025



Qualified Based Selection Process Rating Average

Rank Firm Average Rating (100)
1 OHM 89.3
2 Rowe 85.3
3 Fleis & Vandenbrink 84.0
4 DLZ 83.7
5 Spaulding Dedecker 83.0
6 HRC 79.3
7 Spicer 72.0
8 CES 65.3

City Council Packet 161 March 24, 2025



From: Doug Mcintosh
To: Greg Dietrich; Adam Zettel
Subject: Re: Follow up
Date: Thursday, March 20, 2025 12:25:57 PM
Attachments: Swartz Creek Proposal Revised 3-20-25.docx

Adam and Greg,

I'm writing to provide an update following my meeting with CMS regarding the EV charging
station project.

Here's a summary of the key points:

Infrastructure Rebate: CMS has confirmed an infrastructure rebate of $10,000.
Port Rebate: A rebate of $7,500 is available for every two charging ports installed.
Location Recommendation: CMS believes the south side location is preferable to the
location we discussed yesterday. 
Proposal Analysis:

Upon reviewing my proposals, I've determined that installing two ports would
result in an out-of-pocket expense of $3,375 for the city.
However, installing four ports would result in no out-of-pocket expense.
This difference is primarily due to the initial infrastructure costs, which become
more efficient as we add more ports.

Recommendation: I strongly recommend installing four ports now while the rebate
funding is available. 

I've attached the proposal for your review. Please consider the financial implications and the
long-term benefits of installing four ports. Based on your direction, I can just send you a
revised contract today for your meeting on the 24th.

Also, as discussed with Greg, I need written confirmation from the city that we comply with
the city road commission for the south side location.

Doug McIntosh
calendly.com

Please let me know if you have any questions or require further clarification.

City Council Packet 162 March 24, 2025

mailto:doug@appleenergyllc.com
mailto:gdietrich@cityofswartzcreek.org
mailto:AZettel@cityofswartzcreek.org
https://calendly.com/doug-rem9
https://calendly.com/doug-rem9

[image: A logo for an apple energy company

Description automatically generated]



Proposal





Client: Greg Dietrich MBA

Economic & Community Development Director

Swartz Creek City

8083 Civic Drive

Swartz Creek, MI 48473



Location address: 5012 Holland Rd, Swartz Creek, MI 48473

	





Job Overview

Install an L2 charging station with two ports and provide an estimate for installing four ports. Please note that there is a $10,000 infrastructure rebate and a $7,500 installation rebate per every two ports.  After meeting with CMS this morning, we learned that these two rebates cannot be combined. For example, if they utilize only $6,000 of the infrastructure rebate, the remaining balance cannot be applied to the installation rebate.



Details for Estimate for the installation of two ports.

· Consumers Energy will require this project to be metered separately, which will require its own. **

· Less than 25 ft of trenching and no asphalt and repairs will be needed—materials to support.

· 200 Amp breaker box

· Meter box

· Two signs

· Two bollards 

· Cement base for Pedestal

· It was designed so that two more ports could be added at a later date.



· Red E Pro 50 Dual Pedestal Includes QR Code, 25' Cables, Dual Charger Mounting Bracket, and Pedestal*





      

















Consumers Rebate Only and EGLE Grant

 Pricing:					Cost:

· Materials and labor for installation**			$7300.00

· Equipment*						$3170.00

· RED E Software						$.05 kW.

· Commission Fee						$200.00

· Shipping							$175.00

      Total:								$10,845.00

      Rebate							            -$7500.00

      Grand Total after rebate						$3,375.00

























Notes: Include a 3-year hardware warranty. Full payment is needed before the rebate final work is submitted.

*Does not include CMS infrastructure fee, which would be a separate estimate from CMS.

































Option Two: Four Ports



Assumptions:



· Consumers Energy will require this project to be metered separately, which will require its own. **

· Less than 25 ft of trenching and no asphalt and repairs will be needed—materials to support.

· 200 Amp breaker box

· Meter box

· Two signs

· Two bollards 

· Cement base for Pedestal



· Red E Pro 50 Dual Pedestal Includes QR Code, 25' Cables, Dual Charger Mounting Bracket, and Pedestal* Four Ports.





Pricing:					Cost:

· Materials and labor for installation**			$8300.00

· Equipment*						$6240.00

· RED E Software						$.05kW per yr.

· Shipping							$350.00

      Total:								$14,890.00*

      Consumers Energy Rebate					-$15000.00**

      Grand Total after rebate						$0







** Received 7-10 business days after all paperwork is submitted.

Must be paid in full before final paperwork is submitted for grants and rebates.











image1.jpg





 
 

Contract: 
 
 
Client: City of Swartz Creek 
Attn:Adam Zettel 
Swartz Creek City 
8083 Civic Drive 
Swartz Creek, MI 48473 
 
Location address: 5031 Holland Dr, Swartz Creek, MI 48473 
  

 
 
Job Overview 
Install an L2 charging sta/on with two ports. 
 

Details for Es/mate for the installa/on of two ports. 
• Consumers Energy will require this project to be metered separately, which will 

require its own. ** 
o Fewer than 25 feet of trenching will be needed, and no asphalt or repairs are 

required—materials to support. 
o 200 Amp breaker box 
o Meter box 
o Four  bollards  
o Cement base for Pedestals 

 
 

• Four Red E Pro 50 Dual Pedestal Includes QR Code, 25' Cables, Dual Charger 
Moun/ng Bracket, and two Pedestal* 

 
 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 163 March 24, 2025



Consumers Rebate Only and EGLE Grant 
 Pricing:     Cost: 

• Materials and labor for installa/on**   $8300.00 
• Equipment*      $6340.00 
• RED E SoXware      $.05 kW. 
• Shipping       $350.00 

      Total:        $14,890.00 
      Rebate                   -$15,000.00 
      Up to $10,000 for infrastructure  
      Grand Total aDer rebate      $0 
 
      There will be two invoices sent: 50% at the start of the contract and the remaining 50% 
when the job is complete. 
 
 
Client Accepted By:     Apple Energy Accepted By 
 
Name:       Name: Eric D McIntosh 
 
Signature:      Signature: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Notes: Include a 3-year hardware warranty. Full payment is needed before the rebate final work 
is submi]ed. 
*Rebates are not finalized un/l final payment is received. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City Council Packet 164 March 24, 2025



SITE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EV Charging Station

04/01/2022

City Council Packet 165 March 24, 2025



 

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICES 

1. APPLICABILITY.   

(a) These terms and conditions for services (these “Terms”) govern the provision of 
services by The Trouble Boys LLC d/b/a Apple Energy Too, a Michigan limited liability company 
(“Apple Energy”) to City of Swartz Creek (“Customer”). 

(b) The accompanying service contract (the Contract”), site map (the “Site Map”, 
and collectively with the Service Contract, and these Terms (collectively with the Order 
Confirmation, this “Agreement”) comprise the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and 
supersede all prior or contemporaneous understandings, agreements, negotiations, representations 
and warranties, and communications, both written and oral. In the event of any conflict between 
these Terms and the Order Confirmation, these Terms shall govern. 

(c) These Terms prevail over any of Customer’s general terms and conditions 
regardless of whether or when Customer has submitted its request for proposal, order, or such terms. 
Provision of services to Customer does not constitute acceptance of any of Customer’s terms and 
conditions and does not serve to modify or amend these Terms. 

2. SERVICES. Apple Energy shall provide the services to Customer as described in the Order 
Confirmation (the “Services”) in accordance with this Agreement. Apple Energy shall use reasonable 
efforts to meet any performance dates specified in the Order Confirmation, and any such dates shall be 
estimates only. 

3. CUSTOMER’S OBLIGATIONS. Customer shall: 

(a) cooperate with Apple Energy in all matters relating to the Services and provide 
such access to the location identified on the Site Map (the “Location”), and such other Customer-
controlled facilities as may reasonably be requested by Apple Energy, for the purposes of 
performing the Services; 

(b) respond promptly to any Apple Energy request to provide direction, information, 
approvals, authorizations, or decisions that are reasonably necessary for Apple Energy to perform 
Services in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement; and 

4. CUSTOMER’S ACTS OR OMISSIONS. If Apple Energy’s performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement is prevented or delayed by any act or omission of Customer or its agents, 
subcontractors, consultants, or employees, Apple Energy shall not be deemed in breach of its obligations 
under this Agreement or otherwise liable for any costs, charges, or losses sustained or incurred by Customer, 
in each case, to the extent arising directly or indirectly from such prevention or delay. 

5. CHANGE ORDERS.   

(a) If Customer wishes to change the scope, Location, or performance of the Services, 
it shall submit details of the requested change to Apple Energy in writing (a “Change Order”). 

City Council Packet 166 March 24, 2025



(b) After receipt of a Change Order, the parties shall promptly negotiate the terms of 
such Change Order in good faith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Apple Energy may terminate this 
Agreement if the parties cannot mutually agree to the terms of a Change Order within fifteen (15) 
days of receipt of such Change Order by Apple Energy. Neither party shall be bound by any Change 
Order unless mutually agreed upon in writing. 

(c) Notwithstanding Section 5(a) and Section 5(b), Apple Energy may, from time to 
time change the Services without the consent of Customer provided that such changes do not 
materially affect the nature or scope of the Services, or affect the fees or any performance dates set 
forth in the Order Confirmation.  

6. FEES AND EXPENSES.   

(a) In consideration of the provision of the Services by Apple Energy and the rights 
granted to Customer under this Agreement, Customer shall pay the fees set forth in the Order 
Confirmation (“Fees”).  

(b) Customer shall pay all Fees due to Apple Energy outlined in the contract. Customer 
shall make all payments hereunder in US dollars by wire transfer per instructions provided by Apple 
Energy. In the event payments are not received by Apple Energy within ten (10) days after 
becoming due, Apple Energy may: 

(i) charge interest on any such unpaid amounts at a rate of 1.5% per month 
or, if lower, the maximum amount permitted under applicable law, from the date such 
payment was due until the date paid;  

(ii) suspend performance for all Services until payment has been made in full; 
and/or 

(iii) terminate the Agreement in accordance with Section 12(a)(i). 

(c) In the event Customer terminates this Agreement for any reason after Apple Energy 
has been awarded the grants and rebates described in the Order Confirmation (collectively, the 
“Awards”), Customer shall be required to pay a termination fee of $2400.00] (the “Termination 
Fee”). 

7. TAXES. Customer shall be responsible for all sales, use, and excise taxes, and any other 
similar taxes, duties, and charges of any kind imposed by any federal, state, or local governmental entity 
on any amounts payable by Customer hereunder. 

8. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.  Customer acknowledges that Customer may have 
access to information that is confidential and proprietary to Apple Energy, including, without limitation, the 
existence and terms of this Agreement, trade secrets, technology, and information pertaining to business 
operations and strategies, customers, pricing, marketing, finances, sourcing, personnel, or operations of 
Apple Energy, its affiliates, or their suppliers or customers, in each case whether spoken, written, printed, 
electronic, or in any other form or medium (collectively, the “Confidential Information”). Customer 
agrees to treat all Confidential Information as strictly confidential, not to disclose Confidential Information 
or permit it to be disclosed, in whole or part, to any third-party without the prior written consent of Apple 
Energy, and not to use any Confidential Information for any purpose except as required in the performance 
of the Services. Customer shall notify Apple Energy immediately in the event Contractor becomes aware 

City Council Packet 167 March 24, 2025



of any loss or disclosure of any Confidential Information. Apple Energy shall be entitled to injunctive relief 
for any violation of this Section. 

9. REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTY.   

(a) Apple Energy represents and warrants to Customer that it shall perform the 
Services using personnel of required skill, experience, and qualifications and in a professional and 
workmanlike manner. 

(b) Apple Energy shall not be liable for a breach of the warranty set forth in Section 
9(a) unless Customer gives written notice of the defective Services, reasonably described (the 
“Defect Notice”), to Apple Energy within a reasonable time after Customer discovers or ought to 
have discovered the Services were defective. 

(c) If Apple Energy breaches such warranty, Apple Energy shall, in its sole discretion, 
either (i) repair or re-perform such Services (or the defective part); or (ii) credit or refund the price 
of such Services at the pro rata contract rate. 

(d) THE REMEDIES SET FORTH IN SECTION 9(c) SHALL BE THE 
CUSTOMER’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY AND APPLE ENERGY’S ENTIRE 
LIABILITY FOR ANY BREACH OF THE LIMITED WARRANTY SET FORTH IN 
SECTION 9(a). 

10. DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES. EXCEPT FOR THE WARRANTY SET FORTH 
IN SECTION 9(a) ABOVE, APPLE ENERGY MAKES NO WARRANTY WHATSOEVER WITH 
RESPECT TO THE SERVICES, INCLUDING ANY (A) WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY; 
OR (B) WARRANTY OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE; OR (C) WARRANTY OF 
TITLE; OR (D) WARRANTY AGAINST INFRINGEMENT OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
RIGHTS OF A THIRD PARTY; WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED BY LAW, COURSE OF 
DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, USAGE OF TRADE, OR OTHERWISE. 

11. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.   

(a) IN NO EVENT SHALL APPLE ENERGY BE LIABLE TO CUSTOMER OR 
TO ANY THIRD-PARTY FOR ANY LOSS OF USE, REVENUE OR PROFIT OR LOSS OF 
DATA OR DIMINUTION IN VALUE, OR FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, 
INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHETHER ARISING 
OUT OF BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), OR 
OTHERWISE, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES WERE 
FORESEEABLE AND WHETHER OR NOT APPLE ENERGY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF 
THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, AND NOTWITHSTANDING THE FAILURE 
OF ANY AGREED OR OTHER REMEDY OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE. 

(b) IN NO EVENT SHALL APPLE ENERGY’S AGGREGATE LIABILITY 
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER ARISING OUT 
OF OR RELATED TO BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE) 
OR OTHERWISE, EXCEED THE AGGREGATE FEES PAID OR PAYABLE TO APPLE 
ENERGY PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT. 

12. TERMINATION. In addition to any remedies that may be provided under this Agreement, 
this Agreement may be terminated with immediate effect upon written notice by: 

City Council Packet 168 March 24, 2025



(a) Apple Energy, if Customer:  

(i) fails to pay any amount when due under this Agreement to Apple Energy, 
and has not cured such failure to pay within ten (10) days; or 

(ii) submits a Change Order which Apple Energy does not agree to in 
accordance with Section 5(b).  

(b) Customer, if Apple Energy:  

(i) is not awarded the Awards; or  

(ii) is awarded the Awards, but subject to payment of the Termination Fee 
described in Section 6(c). 

(c) either party, if the other party:  

(i) has not otherwise materially performed or complied with any of the terms 
of this Agreement, in whole or in part, and has not cured such violation within thirty (30) 
days of receiving written notice of such violation from the other party (except in the case 
of Section 12(a)(i)); or 

(ii) becomes insolvent, files a petition for bankruptcy or commences, or has 
commenced against it, proceedings relating to bankruptcy, receivership, reorganization, or 
assignment for the benefit of creditors. 

13. INSURANCE. During the term of this Agreement and for a period of one (1) year 
thereafter, Customer shall, at its own expense, maintain and carry insurance in full force and effect which 
includes, but is not limited to, commercial general liability (including product liability) with policy limits 
sufficient (in Apple Energy’s sole discretion) to protect and indemnify Apple Energy and its representatives 
and affiliates from any losses resulting from the acts or omissions of Customer and its agents. Customer 
shall promptly forward a certificate of insurance verifying such insurance upon execution of this 
Agreement, which certificate will indicate that such insurance policies may not be canceled before the 
expiration of a 45-day notification period and that Apple Energy will be immediately notified in writing of 
any such notice of termination. 

14. FORCE MAJEURE. Apple Energy shall not be liable or responsible to Customer, or be 
deemed to have defaulted under or breached this Agreement, for any failure or delay in fulfilling or 
performing any term of this Agreement, when and to the extent such failure or delay is caused by or results 
from acts beyond Apple Energy’s control, including, without limitation, the following force majeure events: 
(a) acts of God; (b) flood, fire, earthquake, pandemics, or explosion; (c) war, invasion, hostilities (whether 
war is declared or not), terrorist threats or acts, riot or other civil unrest; (d) government order, law, or 
action; (e) embargoes or blockades in effect on or after the date of this Agreement; (f) national or regional 
emergency; and (g) telecommunication breakdowns, power outages or shortages, inadequate transportation 
services, or inability or delay in obtaining supplies of adequate or suitable materials; and (h) other similar 
events beyond the control of Apple Energy.  

15. ASSIGNMENT. Customer shall not assign any of its rights or delegate any of its 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of Apple Energy. Any purported 
assignment or delegation in violation of this Section is null and void. No assignment or delegation relieves 
Customer of any of its obligations under this Agreement. 

City Council Packet 169 March 24, 2025



16. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES. The relationship between the parties is that of 
independent contractors. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as creating any agency, 
partnership, joint venture or other form of joint enterprise, employment, or fiduciary relationship between 
the parties, and neither party shall have authority to contract for or bind the other party in any manner 
whatsoever. 

17. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and all matters arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan, 
without giving effect to any conflict of laws principles.  

18. MEDIATION. Other than disputes involving the covenants and obligations set forth in 
Section 8 which may be filed directly in a court of law, Apple Energy and Customer agree that all other 
disputes and claims of any nature arising out of or relating to this Agreement (whether such disputes and 
claims are based in statutory, contractual, or common law), will be submitted exclusively first to mandatory 
non-binding mediation in [Grand Rapids], Michigan or at another mutually agreed-upon location, under the 
rules of Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”) or under such other rules or under the 
auspices of such other organization as the parties may mutually agree. All information regarding the dispute 
or claim or mediation proceeding, including any mediation settlement, shall not be disclosed by Apple 
Energy, Customer, or any mediator to any third-party without the written consent of Apple Energy and 
Customer.    

19. NOTICES. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers, and other 
communications hereunder (each, a “Notice”) shall be in writing and addressed to the parties at the 
addresses set forth in the Service Contract or to such other address that may be designated by the receiving 
party in writing. All Notices shall be delivered by personal delivery, nationally recognized overnight courier 
(with all fees pre-paid), email (with confirmation of transmission) or certified or registered mail (in each 
case, return receipt requested, postage prepaid). Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, a Notice 
is effective only (a) upon receipt of the receiving party, and (b) if the party giving the Notice has complied 
with the requirements of this Section. 

20. SEVERABILITY. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other 
term or provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any 
other jurisdiction. 

21. SURVIVAL. Provisions of these Terms, which by their nature should apply beyond their 
terms, will remain in force after any termination or expiration of this Agreement including, but not limited 
to, the following provisions: Confidentiality, Governing Law, Insurance, and Survival. 

22. MISCELLANEOUS. This Agreement constitutes the sole and entire agreement of the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous 
understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such 
subject matter. This Agreement may only be amended, modified, or supplemented by an agreement in 
writing signed by each party hereto, and any of the terms thereof may be waived, only by a written document 
signed by each party to this Agreement or, in the case of waiver, by the Party or Parties waiving compliance.  
This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts and by electronic signature, each of which shall 
be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 

 
 
 

City Council Packet 170 March 24, 2025



From: Campbell, Dylan
To: Adam Zettel
Cc: Patsy, Alexander
Subject: Bristol Rd - Morrish Rd to Swartz Creek CTL - Resurfacing
Date: Monday, March 17, 2025 3:38:55 PM
Attachments: ENG_25031716360.pdf

Adam,
 
Per our conversation, the GCRC would like to participate (per GCRC policy) w/ both Clayton
Township and the City of Swartz Creek for the resurfacing (nominally 1.5”) of Bristol Road between
Morrish Road and the Swartz Creek City Limits Boundary near Jennie Lane.  The breakdown will be as
follows:
 
Project Length: Approx 0.7 mi.                                
 
Genesee County Road Commission     $100k
Clayton Charter Township                         $50k
*City of Swartz Creek                                   $50k
Total Construction Cost                              $200k
 
Although certified by the GCRC, per our policy on local roads, we request that both Clayton
Township and the City of Swartz Creek participate cumulatively up to 50%.
 
If all parties approve their portion, then this road will be placed in our Summer 2025 paving
program.   Currently, Clayton Township will be reviewing this for its upcoming April meeting, and the
GCRC is arranging funding for its portion of the project.
 
I, myself, am confident with the scope of the project of at least a 10-year fix before the GCRC will
need to patch this roadway again.  For reference on longevity, in 2022, Reid Road in Gaines
Township between Morrish Road and Elms Road was in extremely poor condition.  The GCRC (with
funding assistance from Gaines Township) resurfaced this roadway, and three winters on (aside from
minimal longitudinal cracking) this roadway is largely defect-free.  I encourage the Council for the
City of Swartz Creek to vote yes on this, so that we may be able to resurface this roadway in 2025. 
Also, I feel it’s the appropriate fix when reviewing palatable options for roadway treatments, and the
new surface would run in tandem w/ recent improvements to Bristol Road (Jennie Lane – Elms Road)
as completed by the City of Swartz Creek.
 
Alexander Patsy, P.E.
Director of Engineering
Genesee County Road Commission
810 767-4920 ex. 252
 
 

Dylan J. Campbell
Programming & Development Engineer

City Council Packet 171 March 24, 2025

mailto:dcampbell@gcrc.org
mailto:AZettel@cityofswartzcreek.org
mailto:APatsy@gcrc.org







Genesee County Road Commission
Phone (Office): (810) 767 – 4920 Ext.306
Phone (Mobil):  (810) 347 – 8454
Email: dcampbell@gcrc.org
 

City Council Packet 172 March 24, 2025

mailto:dcampbell@gcrc.org


City Council Packet 173 March 24, 2025



Page 1 of 8  

 BUILDING DEPARTMENT SHARED SERVICES AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MUNDY, MICHIGAN AND 

THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 

This Shared Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between the Charter Township 
of Mundy, Michigan hereafter known as (“Mundy”) and the City of Swartz Creek, Michigan hereafter known as 
(“Swartz Creek”). Mundy and Swartz Creek jointly shall hereafter be known as (“Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Swartz Creek is seeking shared building department services in Exhibit A – List of Services, 
(“Services”); and 

WHEREAS, Mundy is ready, willing, and able to share Services. 

NOW THEREFORE,  the Parties agree as follows: 
 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Mundy will perform shared Building Department Services as described herein in accordance with construction 
codes, amendments and ordinances adopted by the elected body of Swartz Creek, state laws and regulations 
that are applicable to the Services provided under this Agreement. The qualified professionals employed by 
Mundy will maintain current certifications, certificates, licenses as required for Services that they provide to 
Swartz Creek. Mundy is not obligated to perform services beyond what is contemplated by this Agreement. 

 
Mundy shall utilize software specified by or provided by Swartz Creek. Swartz Creek, at its sole expense, shall 
provide such software, technical support, equipment or other facilities as Mundy may request to permit 
Mundy to use specified software.  

2. CHANGES TO SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Any changes to Services between Swartz Creek and Mundy shall be made in writing and shall specifically 
designate changes in Service levels and compensation for Services. Both Parties shall determine a mutually 
agreed upon solution to alter services levels and a transitional timeframe that is mutually beneficial to both 
Parties. No changes shall be binding absent a written Agreement or Amendment executed by both Parties. 

3. FEE STRUCTURE 
In consideration of Mundy providing services, Swartz Creek shall pay Mundy for Services performed in 
accordance with Exhibit B – Fee Schedule for Services. 

 
4. INVOICE & PAYMENT STRUCTURE 

Mundy will invoice Swartz Creek, on a monthly basis and provide all necessary supporting documentation. All 
payments are due to Mundy within 30 days of Mundy’s invoice date. Payments owed to Mundy but not made 
within sixty (60) days of invoice date shall bear simple interest at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.5%) 
per month. If payment is not received within ninety (90) days of invoice date, Services will be discontinued 
until all invoices and interest are paid in full. Swartz Creek may request, and Mundy shall provide, additional 
information before approving the invoice. When additional information is requested Swartz Creek will identify 
specific disputed item(s) and give specific reasons for any request. Undisputed portions of any invoice shall be 
due within 30 days of Mundy’s invoice date, if additional information is requested, Swartz Creek will submit 
payment within thirty (30) days of resolution of the dispute. 

City Council Packet 174 March 24, 2025



Page 2 of 8  

 
5. TERMINATION 

Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon sixty (60) days written notice without cause and with no 
penalty or additional cost beyond the rates stated in this Agreement. 

Mundy shall be entitled to receive payment for work completed up to and including the date of termination 
within thirty (30) days of termination. 

 
6. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

Mundy shall perform the Services using that degree of care, skill, and professionalism ordinarily exercised 
under similar circumstances by members of the same profession practicing or performing the substantially 
same or similar services. Mundy represents to Swartz Creek that Mundy retains employees that possess the 
licenses, certifications, skills, knowledge, and abilities to competently, timely, and professionally perform 
Services in accordance with this Agreement. 

 
7. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

Mundy is an independent contractor, and, except as provided otherwise in this section, neither Mundy, nor 
any employee or agent thereof, shall be deemed for any reason to be an employee or agent of Swartz Creek. 
Swartz Creek shall have no liability or responsibility for any direct payment of any salaries, wages, payroll 
taxes, or any and all other forms or types of compensation or benefits to any personnel performing services 
for Swartz Creek under this Agreement. Mundy shall be solely responsible for all compensation, benefits, 
insurance and employment-related rights of any person providing Services hereunder during the course of or 
arising or accruing as a result of any employment, whether past or present, with Mundy. 

 
Mundy and Swartz Creek agree that Mundy will provide similar service to what it provides its own community 
while under contract with Swartz Creek and Swartz Creek acknowledges that Mundy employees may provide 
similar services to multiple clients. Mundy shall at its sole discretion assign and reassign qualified employees, 
as determined by Mundy, to perform services for Swartz Creek. Swartz Creek may request that a specific 
employee be assigned to or reassigned from work under this Agreement and Mundy shall consider that 
request when determining staffing. Mundy shall determine all conditions of employment for its employees, 
including hours, wages, working conditions, promotion, discipline, hiring and discharge. Mundy 
exclusively controls the manner, means and methods by which services are provided to Swartz Creek, including 
attendance at meetings, and Mundy’s employees are not subject to the direction and control of Swartz Creek 
beyond coordination, interpretation and application of Codes and Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek. 
Except where required by Swartz Creek to use Swartz Creek information technology equipment or when 
requested to perform the services from office space provided by the Swartz Creek, Mundy employees shall 
perform the services using Mundy information technology equipment and from such locations as Mundy shall 
specify.  

It is the intention of the Parties that, to the greatest extent permitted by applicable law, Mundy shall be 
entitled to protection under the doctrines of governmental immunity and governmental contractor immunity, 
including limitations of liability, to the same extent as Swartz Creek would be in the event that the services 
provided by Mundy were being provided by Swartz Creek. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver 
of such protections. 

 
8. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACT 

Neither party shall assign all or part of its rights or obligations under this Agreement to another entity without 
the written approval of both Parties; consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Mundy may subcontract 
any or all of the services to third parties provided that Mundy gives Swartz Creek prior written notice of the 
persons or entities with which Mundy has subcontracted. Mundy remains responsible for any subcontractor’s 
performance or failure to perform. Subcontractors will be subject to the same performance criteria expected 
of Mundy.  

9. INDEMNIFICATION 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, Mundy shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Swartz Creek, its 

City Council Packet 175 March 24, 2025



Page 3 of 8  

elected and appointed officials, employees and volunteers and others working on behalf of Swartz Creek, from 
and against any and all third-party claims, demands, suits, costs (including reasonable legal costs), expenses, 
and liabilities (“Claims”) alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and/or property damage, 
but only to the extent that any such Claims are caused by the negligence of Mundy or any officer, employee, 
representative, or agent of Mundy. Mundy shall have no obligations under this Section to the extent that any 
Claim arises as a result of Mundy’s compliance with Municipal law, ordinances, rules, regulations, resolution, 
executive orders or other instructions received from Swartz Creek. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law and without waiver of governmental immunity, Swartz Creek shall 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Mundy, its officers, employees, representatives, and agents, from and 
against any and all Claims alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and/or property damage, 
but only to the extent that such Claims are caused by (a) the negligence of, or material breach of any obligation 
under this Agreement by, Swartz Creek or any officer, employee, representative, or agent of Swartz Creek or 
(b) Mundy’s compliance with Municipal law, ordinances, rules, regulations, resolutions, executive orders or 
other instructions received from Swartz Creek. If either Party becomes aware of any incident likely to give rise 
to a Claim under the above indemnities, it shall notify the other and both Parties shall cooperate fully in 
investigating the incident. 

10. INSURANCE  
Swartz Creek shall list Mundy including its staff and any agents as additionally insured. 

11. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, The permits, materials, work product and deliverables shall 
be used by Mundy solely as provided in this Agreement and for no other purposes without the express prior 
written consent of Swartz Creek. Subject to the preceding, as between Swartz Creek and Mundy, all 
deliverables from the performance of the Services (Deliverables) shall become the exclusive property of Swartz 
Creek when Mundy has been compensated for the same as set forth herein, and Swartz Creek shall thereafter 
retain sole and exclusive rights to receive and use such materials in such manner and for such purposes as 
determined by it. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Mundy shall have no 
liability, with respect to (i) the use by Swartz Creek of unfinished or draft Deliverables or (ii) the use of 
Deliverables for any project other than that for which they were prepared or (iii) the use of Deliverables after 
a change in applicable codes or law.  If this Agreement expires or is terminated for any reason, all records, 
documents, notes, data and other materials maintained or stored in Mundy’s secure proprietary software 
pertaining to Swartz Creek will be exported and become property of Swartz Creek.  

 
12. MUNDY ACCESS TO RECORDS 

Parties acknowledge that Mundy requires access to Records in order for Mundy to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement. Accordingly, Swartz Creek will either provide to Mundy on a daily basis such data from 
the Records as Mundy may reasonably request (in an agreed electronic format) or grant Mundy access to its 
Records and Record management systems so that Mundy may download such data. Data provided to or 
downloaded by Mundy pursuant to this Section shall be used by Mundy solely in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement. 

 
13. CONFIDENTIALITY 

Mundy shall not disclose, directly or indirectly, any confidential information of Swartz Creek without the prior 
written consent of Swartz Creek or pursuant to a lawful court order directing such disclosure. 

 
14.  PERSONNEL 

Mundy shall employ a sufficient number of experienced and knowledgeable employees to perform Services 
in a timely, polite, courteous and prompt manner. Mundy shall determine appropriate staffing levels and 
shall promptly inform Swartz Creek of any reasonably anticipated or known employment-related actions 
which may affect the performance of Services. Additional staffing resources shall be made available to Swartz 
Creek when assigned employee(s) is unavailable.  
 

City Council Packet 176 March 24, 2025



Page 4 of 8  

Swartz Creek shall employ a sufficient number of experienced and knowledgeable employees to perform 
Services that support Mundy’s performance of Building Department Services related to Ordinance, Zoning, 
and Planning Services that Swartz Creek provides in a timely, polite, courteous and prompt manner. Swartz 
Creek shall determine appropriate staffing levels and shall promptly inform Mundy of any reasonably 
anticipated or known employment-related actions which may affect the performance of Services. Additional 
staffing resources shall be made available to Mundy when assigned employee(s) is unavailable. 

 
15. COMPLAINTS AND APPEALS 

Any complaint about Mundy received by Swartz Creek shall be forwarded to Mundy’s representative listed 
in Notices Section of this Agreement. Swartz Creek shall provide specific complaint details to the extent 
allowed by law. Mundy will submit a response to the Swartz Creek within ten (10) business days of receipt. 
 

16. NOTICES 
Any notice under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed sufficient when presented in person, 
or sent, pre-paid, first-class United States Mail, or delivered by electronic mail to the following addresses: 

If to Mundy: 
Chad Young, Township Manager 
Township of Mundy, Michigan 
3478 Mundy Ave. 
Swartz Creek, MI 48473 
Email: chad.young@mundytwp-mi.gov 

 
If to Swartz Creek: 

Adam Zettel, City of Swartz Creek Manager  
8083 Civic Dr 
Swartz Creek, MI 48473 
Email: Azettel@cityofswatzcreek.org 

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
In the event a dispute arises out of or relates to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, and if said dispute 
cannot be settled through negotiation, Parties agree first to try in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation, 
before resorting to arbitration, litigation, or some other dispute resolution procedure. The cost thereof shall 
be borne equally by each Party. 

 
18. ATTORNEY’S FEES 

In the event of dispute resolution or litigation to enforce any of the terms herein, each Party shall pay all its 
own costs and attorney’s fees. 

19. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE 
The person or persons executing this Agreement represent and warrant that they are fully authorized to sign 
and so execute this Agreement and to bind their respective entities to the performance of its obligations 
hereunder. 

 
20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 

The negotiation and interpretation of this Agreement shall be construed under and governed by the laws of 
the State of Michigan, without regards to its choice of laws provisions. Exclusive venue for any action under 
this Agreement, other than an action solely for equitable relief, shall be in the state and federal courts serving 
Swartz Creek and each party waives any and all jurisdictional and other objections to such exclusive venue. 
 

21. COUNTERPARTS 
This Agreement and any amendments or task orders may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. For purposes 
of executing this Agreement, scanned signatures shall be as valid as the original. 

City Council Packet 177 March 24, 2025

mailto:chad.young@mundytwp-mi.gov
mailto:Azettel@cityofswatzcreek.org


Page 5 of 8  

22. ELECTRONIC REPRESENTATIONS AND RECORDS 
Parties hereby agree to regard electronic representations of original signatures as legally sufficient for 
executing this Agreement and scanned signatures emailed by PDF or otherwise shall be as valid as the original. 
Parties agree not to deny the legal effect or enforceability of the Agreement solely because it is in electronic 
form or because an electronic record was used in its formation. Parties agree not to object to the admissibility 
of the Agreement in the form of an electronic record, or a paper copy of an electronic document, or a paper 
copy of a document bearing an electronic signature, on the ground that it is an electronic record or electronic 
signature or that it is not in its original form or is not an original. 

23. WAIVER 
Failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of that provision. Waiver of 
any right or power arising out of this Agreement shall not be deemed waiver of any other right or power. 

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
This Agreement, along with attached exhibits, constitutes the complete, entire and final agreement of the 
Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and shall supersede any and all previous agreements, 
communications, representations, whether oral or written, with respect to the subject matter hereof. 
Invalidation of any of the provisions of this Agreement or any paragraph sentence, clause, phrase, or word 
herein or the application thereof in any given circumstance shall not affect the validity of any other provision 
of this Agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS HEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be executed in their respective names on 
the dates hereinafter enumerated. 

The City of Swartz Creek, Michigan The Charter Township of Mundy, Michigan 
 

By:   

Name:    

Title:    

By:   

Name:   

Title:   

Date:    Date:  
 

 

City Council Packet 178 March 24, 2025



Page 6 of 8  

EXHIBIT A – LIST OF SERVICES 
 

1. LIST OF SERVICES 

Building Department Services 
− Be a resource for Swartz Creek Municipal staff, and applicants 
− Help guide citizens through the complexities of the codes in order to obtain compliance 
− Monitor changes to the codes including state or local requirements and determine how they may 

impact projects in the area and make recommendations regarding local amendments 
− Provide Building Code interpretations for final approval 
− Oversee certificate of occupancy issuance to prevent issuance without compliance of all departments 
− Issue stop-work notices for non-conforming activities related to building code as needed 
− Coordinate with Swartz Creek provided Planning, Zoning and Fire Code services 
− Issue oversee and maintain all building, trade and zoning permits 
− Perform coordinated investigations and enforcement of Building Code, Ordinance and Property Maintenance 

Code violations with Swartz Creek including coordination of actions to prosecute violations with Swartz Creeks 
prosecutor and Metro PD staff. 

− Assist Swartz Creek staff with Zoning Ordinance investigations and actions to prosecute violations as needed. 
 
Building, Electrical, Plumbing, Mechanical Inspection Services 
− Perform code compliance inspections to determine that construction complies with approved plans 
− Provide onsite inspection consultations to citizens and contractors while performing inspections 
− Return calls and emails from permit holders in reference to code and inspection concerns 
− Identify and document any areas of non-compliance 
− Leave a copy or provide an electronic version of the inspection results and discuss inspection results 

with site personnel 
− Maintain inspection records in BS&A 

Plan Review Services 
− Provide plan review services electronically or in the traditional paper format 
− Review plans for compliance with adopted building codes, local building amendments or building 

ordinances 
− Be available for pre-submittal meetings by appointment 
− Provide feedback to keep plan review process on schedule 
− Communicate plan review findings and recommendations in writing 
− Return a set of finalized plans and all supporting documentation 
− Provide review of plan revisions and remain available to applicant after the review is complete 

 
SWARTZ CREEK OBLIGATIONS 
− Swartz Creek shall receive paper applications, plans and related documents for pick up by Mundy or if submitted 

electronically Mundy shall receive documentation directly through the BS&A system.  
− Swartz Creek shall receive and maintain all rental property registrations   
− Swartz Creek shall collect all fees 
− Swartz Creek will provide Planning and Zoning administration review services and coordinate with Mundy 

Building department services 
− Swartz Creek will provide Fire Code administration services and coordinate with Mundy Building Department 

Services 
− Swartz Creek shall provide all DPW services including sewer lead/water lead and other DPW related plan 

review, permitting and Right of Way oversight. 
− Swartz Creek shall provide necessary software access, licenses subscriptions and IT support. 

 
TIME OF PERFORMANCE 

City Council Packet 179 March 24, 2025



Page 7 of 8  

− Mundy will schedule services during normal Mundy business hours excluding Municipal holidays 
− All other services will be performed on an as-needed basis as determined by Mundy in order to fulfill the terms 

of the agreement 
− Mundy representative(s) will be available by phone and email 
− Mundy representative(s) will meet with the public by appointment 

 
 
(Balance of page left intentionally blank) 

City Council Packet 180 March 24, 2025



Page 8 of 8  

EXHIBIT B – FEE SCHEDULE FOR SERVICES 

1. FEE SCHEDULE 
Mundy fees for Services provided pursuant to this Agreement will be as follows: 

 
1. Building Permits    75% of fee collected 

 
2. Certificate of Occupancy Residential 75% of fee collected 

 
3. Certificate of Occupancy Commercial 75% of fee collected 

 
4. Temp Commercial C of O   75% of fee collected 

  for stocking staffing (Not open for business) 
 

5. Building Inspections   $125.00 each plus any pass-through fees 
 

6. Trade Inspections   $100.00 each plus any pass-through fees 
  

7. Plan Review Residential   $125.00 per hour or $500.00 whatever is greater plus any  
      Pass-through fee 
 

8. Plan review Minor by Nature  First hour included with application, $125.00 each additional hour  
 (Minor is as determined by Mundy) plus any pass-through fee 
 

9. Plan review Commercial up to  $500.00 or 0.0019 of building valuation whatever is greater plus any  
 $500,000.00 value   Pass-through fee 
 

10. Plan review Commercial over  $950.00 plus 0.0006 of building valuation plus any pass-through fee 
 $500,000.00 value 
 

11. Code Enforcement   $95.00 per hour plus any pass-through fees 
 
 
 
Pass-through fees are costs incurred by the Township for consultant services above any base fee necessary complete 
services and shall be billed as a pass-through fee at a rate of 100% the actual cost plus 18% administration overhead. 
 
 

(Balance of page left intentionally blank) 

City Council Packet 181 March 24, 2025



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK RATES, FEES PERMITS & CHARGES FOR SERVICES 
(All fees may be paid in person with cash, check, or card. Building and utility fees may be paid online with 

card or e-check) 
 

1. Chapter 1: Municipal Ordinance Violations Bureau (Parking Fines) 
 

The following parking violations shall be punishable by the fines indicated: 
 

             Offense           Fine 
 

(a)  Parking too far from curb       $ 40.00 
(b)  Angle parking violations          $ 40.00 
(c)  Obstructing traffic           $ 40.00 
 
Prohibited parking (signs un-necessary) 

          
(d)  On sidewalk        $ 40.00 
(e)  In front of drive        $ 40.00 
(f)  Within intersection       $ 40.00 
(g)  Within 15 feet of hydrant       $ 40.00 
(h)  On crosswalk        $ 40.00 
(i)  Within 20 feet of crosswalk or 15 feet of corner lot lines   $ 40.00 
(j)  Within 30 feet of street side traffic sign or signal    $ 40.00 
(k)  Within 50 feet of railroad crossing       $ 40.00 
(l)  Within 20 feet of fire station entrance      $ 40.00 
(m)  Within 75 feet of fire station entrance on opposite  

 side of street (signs required)       $ 40.00 
(n)  Beside street excavation when traffic obstructed    $ 40.00 
(o)  Double parking         $ 40.00 
(p)  On bridge of viaduct or within tunnel      $ 40.00 
(q)  Within 200 feet of accident where police in attendance   $ 40.00 
(r)    In front of theater          $ 40.00 
(s)  Blocking emergency exit       $ 40.00 
(t)  Blocking fire escape or fire lane       $ 50.00 
(u)  In a handicapped space       $100.00 
(v)   In prohibited zone (signs required)      $ 40.00 
(w)  In alley (signs required)       $ 40.00 

 
Parking for prohibited purpose   

 
(x)  Displaying vehicle for sale       $ 40.00 
(y)  Working or repairing vehicle       $ 40.00 
(z)  Displaying advertising        $ 40.00 
(aa)  Selling merchandise        $ 40.00 
(bb)  Storage over 48 hours        $ 40.00 

 
(cc)  Wrong side boulevard roadway        $ 40.00 
(dd)  Loading zone violation        $ 40.00 
(ee)  Bus, parking other than bus stop      $ 40.00 
(ff)    Taxicab, parking other than cab stand       $ 40.00 
(gg)  Bus, taxicab stand violations          $ 40.00 
(hh)  Failure to set brakes          $ 40.00 
(ii)    Parked on grade wheels not turned to curb     $ 40.00 
(jj)    Parked on lawn extension within right of way    $ 40.00 
(kk)  Parked on front lawn       $ 40.00  
 
All $40.00 violations not paid within 20 days will be accessed a $20.00 late fee. 

 
2. Chapter 2: Liability for Expense of an Emergency Operation (Hazardous Materials Cleanup Cost 

Recovery) 
Cost shall be actual expenses inclusive of all Police & Fire Department wages, equipment and motor-pool and 
/ or any sub-contracted actual expenses associated with hazardous materials clean-up. 

City Council Packet 182 March 24, 2025



 
3. Chapter 2: Liability for Expense of an Emergency Response (Alcohol Related Arrests, Accidents) 

A. A cost of $150 shall be assessed to each defendant convicted of O.U.I.L. – O.U.I.D or O.W.I.  The cost 
recovery shall be collected as a part of the fines and costs set by the 67th District Court. 

 
B. Actual costs shall be assessed to each defendant convicted of O.U.I.L. – O.U.I.D or O.W.I. in which a motor 

vehicle accident occurred.  The cost recovery shall be collected as a part of the fines and costs set by the 
67th District Court.  In the event the court declines collection, they shall be billed direct to the defendant.   

 
C. For the purpose of determining costs for extensive investigation and cleanup recovery for emergency 

response for alcohol related arrests and accidents, the following table shall be used: 
 
Fire  
 

Pumper        $250.00/hour 
Tanker        $350.00/hour 
Squad/Utility       $150.00/hour 
Grass        $200.00/hour 
Command       $150.00/hour 
 
Officers        $18.00/hour 
Firefighters       $15.00/hour 

 
Police 
 

Officers        $51.54/hour 
Officer Overtime      $62.34/hour 
Police Car     $15.00/hour 

 
4. Chapter 5: Cemetery Lots - Purchase 

The cost for purchase of cemetery lots will be $600.00 per lot. 
 

5. Chapter 5: Cemetery, Charges for Grave Openings, etc. 
Grave openings shall be actual costs, either as sub-contracted or performed by City Employees, plus a 15% 
administrative fee. 

 
6. Chapter 11: Park Reservation Fees 

 
         Elms Park 
Pavilion #1 $80.00($225.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #2 $100.00($275.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #3 $50.00($165.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #4 $80.00($225.00 non-resident) 

 
          Abrams Park 
Pavilion #1 $50.00($165.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #2 $50.00($165.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #3 $40.00($135.00 non-resident) 
Pavilion #4 $40.00($135.00 non-resident) 
 
Deposit  $200.00* 
 

*Deposit to be forfeited with any validated park rule or ordinance violation attributed to the reserving entity. 
 

7. Chapter 12: Peddlers and Solicitors License and Background Check 
 $50.00 for primary permit and one background check plus $20 for each additional background check. 

     
8. Chapter 15: Permit, Sidewalk Installation 

 $50.00 
 

9. Chapter 15: Permit for Excavation, Right of Way or Other City Property 
$100.00 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: 2

City Council Packet 183 March 24, 2025



 
10. Chapter 19: Water System Use, Rates and Charges 

(A) Charges for water supply services to premises within the city connected with the water supply system shall 
be as follows: 

 
Rates for Quarterly Billings 

 
Readiness to serve charge 
5/8”, 3/4", 1” $60.76 

1.5” $241.14 
2” $385.84 
3” $723.45 
4” $1,205.76 
6” $2,411.50 

 
Commodity charge (per 100 cubic feet of water): $7.87 

                                  
Additional meters, connected for the exclusive purpose of registering water consumed and NOT returned 
to the sewer system shall be charged the commodity charge only (example: lawn sprinkler system). 

 
(B)  Any water customer may have water services temporarily shut off for any time period during which the 
premises, for which the water service is provided, will be unoccupied.  The request for such shut off shall 
be made in writing on forms to be provided by the city.  The written request shall specify the reason for the 
shut off and the date on which the water service shall be shut off. 

 
(C)  There shall be a Twenty Dollar ($20.00) charge for shutting off the water service pursuant to such 
request and a Twenty Dollar ($20.00) charge for turning the water service back on, if the shut off or turn on 
is performed during normal business hours.  If this shut off or turn on is performed outside of normal 
business hours, the charge shall be One-Hundred Dollars ($100.00).   
 
If water is shut off and/or turned back on pursuant to account delinquency, the fee shall be Forty Dollars 
($40.00) per turn off and Forty Dollars ($40.00) per turn on. This fee shall be applied upon deployment of 
the field crew for water shut off.  Requests for after-hours turn on shall cost One-Hundred Dollars ($100.00). 
The City Manager may waive any shut off and turn on fees for reasonable cause. 

 
(D)  Water customers shall continue to be billed for a readiness to service charge while connected to the 
system. 
 
(E)     Bulk water sales shall be in accordance with the following fee schedule: 
 

Bulk Water Purchases     
1 cubic ft. = 7.4805 
Gallons    
     
Gallons  Cubic ft. Cost   

3,740 499.96658 $109.20  
5,000 668.40452 $121.80   
10,000 1336.809 $168.00   
15,000 2005.2136 $214.20   
20,000 2673.6181 $259.35   

 
11. Chapter 19: Water & Sewer Tap Fees 

(A)    There shall be paid, with respect to all premises connecting to the water and sanitary sewer system 
of the city, a tap-in fee pursuant to the following schedules: 

 
(1)     Single-family residence--$1,500 each for water & sanitary sewer 

 
(2)     Multiple-family residence--$1,500 per unit each for water and sanitary sewer 

 
(B)    All other uses connecting to the water and/or sanitary sewer system of the city shall be required to 
pay tap-in fees at the rate of one-thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500) per unit factor, pursuant to the 

City Council Packet 184 March 24, 2025



unit factor table provided for by the Genesee County Division of Water and Waste.  In no case shall tap-in 
fees be less than one-thousand, five hundred dollars ($1,500). 
 
(C)   Furthermore, for any structure used generally for more than one (1) purpose, connection fees shall be 
determined by applying the appropriate unit factors as set by the Genesee County Division of Water and 
Waste, to the various uses on any level, grade or sub-grade plane of the structure, provided that it is 
intended that the fees so derived shall be cumulative.  Tap fees shall also apply for any additional units that 
may be calculated and applied by the County WWS pursuant to change in use or otherwise. 

 
12. Chapter 19: Sanitary Sewer Rates 

 
Rates for Quarterly Billings   

 
Readiness to serve charge (per Residential Equivalent Unit): $53.53  
Readiness to serve charge (non-metered accounts):  $130.43 
Commodity charge (per 100 cubic feet of water consumed): $2.52   

 
A readiness to serve charge equal to the number of calculated sewer units shall be charged to all customers 
connected to the city’s sewer system to offset fixed costs of system operation.  In addition, a commodity 
charge shall be applied to the sewer bill in an amount equal to the above rate multiplied by the number of 
ccf that the accompanying water account registers. If the sewer connection is not accompanied by a water 
meter to register water usage, the charge shall be considered non-metered and no commodity charge shall 
be applied.  

 
For the purposes of determining sanitary sewer rates, per unit sewage disposal calculations resulting in a 
fraction of a whole number shall be rounded up to the next highest whole number.  

 
13. Chapter 20: Weed Cutting Fees 

$300 per cut 
 

14. Building & Trade Inspection Fees* 
 
A.  Building Permit Fees:  

 
The total cost of Improvement is based on the International Code Council (ICC) Building Valuation 

Square Foot Construction Cost Table.  
 
Application Fee, non-refundable:   $125.00  
 
Up to $1,000 (includes one 1 inspection)……......$125.00 
$1,001.00 to $10,000.00 (includes 1 inspection)..$125.00 plus $10.00 per $1,000.00  
$10,001.00 to $100,000.00   $225.00 plus $7.00 per $1,000.00  
$100,001.00 to $500,000.00   $925.00 plus $6.50 per $1,000.00  
$500,001 plus     $3,250.00 plus $6.00 per $1,000.00  
 
All work not involving a sq. foot computation:   $125 
 
Residential plan review and administration base fee $125/hr, with a $500 minimum plus 

applicable third party fees 
 
Residential Minor plan review (Building Dept. determination) First hour included with application fee, 

$125 each additional hour plus any third 
party fees  

 
Commercial plan review up to $500,000 valuation $0.0019 of building valuation with a 

minimum of $500 plus third party fees 
 
Commercial plan review over $500,000 valuation $0.0006 plus $950 of building valuation 

plus third party fees 
 
 
Inspections (each)      $125 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", Hanging:  0.25",  No
bullets or numbering

Deleted: 75

Deleted: for first $1,000 value $5.00 per $1,000 
thereafter and $50.00 for a one-time Inspection 
fee.…

Deleted: The first $75.00 of the application fee is 
non-refundable.  The total cost of Improvement is 
based on the Bureau of Construction Codes 
Square Foot Construction Cost Table with the 
following exceptions:¶
¶

Single Family Home 1 story……… $105.00 
per sq. foot¶

1.5 story……. $91.00 per sq. foot¶
2.0 story……. $85.00 per sq. foot¶ ...

Deleted: (

Deleted: )

Deleted: n only

Deleted: …………………………………

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 0

Deleted: ………...……..

Deleted: 75

Deleted: over $1,000.00

Deleted: 0

Deleted: …………..

Deleted: 165

Deleted: 3

Deleted: over $10,000.00

Deleted: …...…..

Deleted: 435

Deleted: 2

Deleted: .00

Deleted: over $100,000.00

Deleted: 0

Deleted: …………………...…

Deleted: 1,235

Deleted: 3

Deleted: over $500,000.00¶

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", Hanging:  4"

Deleted: P

Deleted: 

Deleted: 75

Deleted: (plus $50.00 for each ...
Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", Hanging:  4"

Deleted: Additional i

Deleted: 

Deleted: 75

City Council Packet 185 March 24, 2025



 
Certificate of Occupancy (Residential)    $125 
Certificate of Occupancy (Commercial)    $300 
Commercial Temp C of O for stocking and staffing…  $ 2,000.00 plus bond equal to 150% 
(not open for business)      of uncompleted items as estimated 

by the Building Department 
 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $200 
 
B.  Electrical Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $80 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $120 
 
Plan Review      $125/hr plus third party fees 
 
New Residential Electrical System 
Up to 1,500.00 sq. foot     $90.00 
1,501 to 3,500 sq. foot     $140.00 
Over 3,500 sq. foot      $190.00 
 
Service 
Through 200 Amp.      $20 
Over 200 Amp. thru 600 Amp.    $25 
Over 600 Amp. thru 800 Amp.    $200 
Over 800 Amp. thru 1200 Amp.    $300 
Over 1200 Amp. (GFI only)     $500 
Circuits       $7 
Lighting Fixtures-per 25     $7 
Dishwasher      $7 
Furnace-Unit Heater     $7 
Electrical-Heating Units (baseboard)   $8 
Power Outlets (ranges, dryers, etc.)   $9 
 
Signs 
Unit       $6 
Letter       $10 
Neon-each 25 feet      $20 
 
Feeders-Bus Ducts, etc.-per 50’    $8 
 
Mobile Home Park Site     $7 
 
Recreational Vehicle Park Site    $7 
 
K.V.A. & H.P.  
Units up to 20      $4 
Units 21 to 50 K.V.A. or H.P.    $6 
Units 51 K.V.A. or H.P. & over    $10 
 
Fire Alarm Systems (excl. smoke detectors) 
Up to 10 devices      $50 
11 to 20 devices      $100    
Over 20 devices      $5 each 
 
Low voltage - Per opening (devices)   $5 each 
 
Energy Retrofit-Temp. Control    $45 
 
Conduit only or grounding only    $45 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $100 

Deleted: 

Deleted: 50

Formatted: Indent: Left:  4.5"

Deleted: 75

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 8

Deleted: 130

Deleted: 180

Deleted: 10

Deleted: 15

Deleted: 20

Deleted: 50

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 7

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 65

City Council Packet 186 March 24, 2025



Additional Inspection     $100 
Final Inspection      $100 
Certification Fee      $75  

 
C. Mechanical Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $80 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $120 
 
Plan Review      $125/hr plus third party fees 
 
Residential Heating System  
(Includes duct & pipe) 
 Up to 1,500 sq. feet      $90 
 1,501 to 3,500 sq. feet      $140 
 Over 3,500 sq. feet      $190 
Gas/Oil Burning Equipment Under 400,000 In  $30 
Gas/Oil Burning Equipment Under 400,000 In  $40 
Boiler       $30 
Water Heater      $5 
Damper/Flue      $5 
Solid Fuel Equip. (includes chimney)   $30 
Gas Burning Fireplace     $30 
Chimney, factory built (installed separately)   $25 
Solar; set of 3 panels-fluid transfer  
(includes piping)      $20 
Gas piping; each opening-new installation 
(residential)      $5 
Air Conditioning (includes split systems) 

1.5hp to 15 hp      $30 
Over 15 hp      $50 

Heat Pumps (complete residential)    $30 
Dryer, Bath & Kitchen Exhaust    $5 
 
Tanks 
Aboveground      $20 
Aboveground Connection     $20 
Underground      $20 
Underground Connection     $20 
Humidifiers/Air Cleaners     $5 
 
Piping 
Piping-minimum fee $25     $.05/ft 
 
Duct-minimum fee $25     $.10/ft 
Heat Pumps; Commercial (pipe not included)  $20 
 
Air Handlers/Heat Wheels    $25 
Conversion Burners (oil)     $30 
Commercial Hoods/Exhausters    $15 
Heat Recovery Units     $10 
V.A.V. Boxes      $10 
Unit Ventilators      $10 
Unit Heaters (terminal units)    $15 
 
Fire Suppression/Protection/Other  
(includes piping) –minimum fee $20   $.75/head 
Limited Area Suppression (per head)   $2 
Fire Suppression Hood (per head)    $4 
Evaporator Coils      $30 
Refrigeration (split system)     $30 
Chiller       $30 
Cooling Towers      $30 

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 2

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 80

Deleted: 130

Deleted: 180

Deleted: Process piping $.05/ft¶

City Council Packet 187 March 24, 2025



Compressor/Condenser     $30 
Manufactured Chimney     $25 
Exhaust Fans      $20 
Multi Zone Self Contained Units    $25 
Through Wall Units      $25 
Ranges (gas)      $20 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $100 
Additional Inspection     $100 
Final Inspection      $100 
Certification Fee      $75 

 
D. Plumbing Inspection Fees 

Application Fee (non-refundable)    $80 
Work Commencing Before Permit Issuance   $120 
 
Plan Review      $125/hr plus third party fees 
 
New Residential Plumbing System 
 Up to 1,500 sf      $90 
 1,501 to 3,500 sf      $140 
 Over 3,500 sf      $190 
 
Mobile Home Park Site     $7 each 
Fixtures, floor drains, special drains,   $4 each 
Water connected appliances    $4 each 
Stacks (soil, waste, vent and conductor)   $2 each 
Sewage ejectors, sumps     $5 each 
Sub-soil drains      $5 each 
 
Water Service 
Less than 2”      $25 
2” to 6”       $75 
Over 6”       $100 
Connection (bldg. drain-bldg. sewers)   $25 
 
Sewers (sanitary, storm or combined) 
Less than 6”      $25 
6” and Over      $100 
Manholes, Catch Basins     $15 each 
 
Water Distributing Pipe (system) 
¾” Water Distribution Pipe     $5 
1” Water Distribution Pipe     $10 
1 ¼” Water Distribution Pipe    $15 
1 ½” Water Distribution Pipe    $20 
2” Water Distribution Pipe     $25 
Over 2” Water Distribution Pipe    $30 
Reduced pressure zone back-flow preventer  $5 each 
Domestic water treatment and  
filtering equipment only     $5 
Medical Gas System     $45 
 
Inspections 
Special/Safety Insp. (includes cert. fee)   $100 
Additional Inspection     $100 
Final Inspection      $100 
Certification Fee      $75 

 
15. Chapter 22: General Emergency Response Fees   

 

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 80

Deleted: 130

Deleted: 180

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 50

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 65

Deleted: 25

City Council Packet 188 March 24, 2025



Fire  
 

Pumper        $250.00/hour 
Tanker        $350.00/hour 
Squad/Utility       $150.00/hour 
Grass        $200.00/hour 
Command       $150.00/hour 
 
Officers        $18.00/hour 
Firefighters       $15.00/hour 

 
Police 
 

Officers        $51.54/hour 
Officer Overtime      $62.34/hour 
Police Car   $15.00/hour 

 
16. Appendix B: Franchises   

$250 application fee plus actual expenses related to preparation by City Attorney. 
 

17. Miscellaneous Fees 
 

A. Copies: 
 Black & White:  10¢ for page. 
 Color or Mixed Color and Black & White:  25¢ per page   
 

B.  Freedom of Information Act Requests:   
 See the City of Swartz Creek Freedom of Information Act Procedures & Guidelines: adopted June 22, 2015 

for details. Standard requests shall be charged 10¢ for 8.5 x 11 page (25¢ for color or mixed color) plus all 
actual costs for outside re-production (i.e. photo re-prints, blueprint copies, digital media storage, etc.).  
Extensive search requests shall have an additional per hour fee equal to wages only of the lowest paid 
clerical position employed with the City ($8.15/hour with a 1.1 fringe multiplier, totaling $8.97/hour). 

 
C.  Weddings: 
 $50 per ceremony  
 
D. Fax Services: 
 50¢ per page for the first 10 pages, then $0.25 per page thereafter  
 
E. Notary Services: 
 $10.00 per item  
 
F. Insufficient Funds: 

$25 each for any check returned unpaid for account insufficient, closed or stopped  
 

G Penalties on Outstanding Invoices/Miscellaneous Receivables:  
$10 penalty for unpaid miscellaneous receivables, including but not limited to: utility bills, mowing 
invoices, sidewalk repair, project reimbursements, charges for services, and retiree coverage 
contributions.  This penalty shall be applied once to “past due” invoices. 

 
H. Interest on Outstanding Invoices/Miscellaneous Receivables:  

1.5% interest per month on outstanding invoices that are 30 days “past due”.  
 

*Payments made toward outstanding balances shall be applied in the following order: interest, penalties, 
principle.  
 

18. Chapter 13 & 16: Development Plans, Administrative Fees, Subdivision Site Plan & Review Fees* 
 
A. Site Plan Review:   

Property Re-Zoning  $500 
Single & Multiple-Family (non-plat)  $300 plus $10.00 per lot/unit   
Mobile Home Park   $500 plus $10.00 per unit 

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 5

Deleted: Cluster Housing 
Development $300 plus $5.00 per 
unit¶

Deleted: 400 

Deleted: 5

City Council Packet 189 March 24, 2025



Commercial Development  $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Industrial Development  $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Office Development  $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Institutional  $300 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Public/semi-public uses  $300 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction 
Special Approval or Conditional Use  $300 plus $10.00 per acre/fraction 
PUD/Mixed Use Review    $500 plus $50.00 per acre/fraction  
Consulting and/or Third Party Fees   Actual consultant costs plus 5% 
Revisions     ½ of original review fee 
 

B.  Building and Zoning: 
Zoning Permit (Includes 1 hr review and inspection)  $125 
Zoning Letter    $75 
Sidewalk Permit        $50 
Sign Permit        See Building Permits 
Structure Movement Permit    $200 
Demolition Permit (Including ROW Permit)    $200 + $0.10/sf 
Right of Way Permit (Residential)    $100 
Right of Way Permit (Commercial and/or Road Break)  $250 +review/inspection escrow 
Home Occupation Permit    $95   
Variance Review    $300 per variance  
Zoning Board of Appeals: Petitioned Interpretation Review $150  
Zoning Board of Appeals: Appeal Review    $250 
Lot Split/Combination: City Ordinance Section 16.2  $150 plus $5.00 per lot  
Public or Private Road Plan Reviews    $400 per mile/fraction 
Consulting Fees    Actual consultant costs 
Zoning Code    $10 CD, $25 Paper Copy 
Engineering Standards Manual    $10 CD, $25 Paper Copy 
Medical Marijuana Dispensary/Facility Review    $500 
Consulting and/or Third Party Fees    Actual consultant costs plus 5% 

 
C. Subdivision Review 

Preliminary Subdivision Review-Tentative   $300 plus $5.35 per lot  
Preliminary Subdivision Review- Final    $160 plus $2.70 per lot 
Final Plat Review      $160 plus $1.00 per lot 
Consulting and/or Third Party Fees    Actual consultant costs plus 5% 

 
• Consultant fees and or third party fees are those planning, engineering, legal, or related services performed 

unstaffed professionals. Such fees are employed and billed to the city, and are to be paid by the applicant. A pre-
determined escrow will be estimated and required by the city prior to engaging  in such services, which may need 
to be adjusted accordingly. Such invoices shall be payable by the applicant with an additional 5% fee.  
 
19.   Chapter 1: Municipal Civil Infraction Fines 

Civic Infraction Citation Fines:  
First Offense       $100 
Second Offense       $200 
Third Offense       $300 

 
Civic Infraction Notice Fines:  
First Offense       $75 
Second Offense       $150 
Third Offense       $250 
 

20.   Rental Inspection Program Fees 
 
Registration  $100 for the first unit, plus $25 for each additional unit on a 

shared premises, with common ownership and management, or 
within recognized apartment complexes 

Follow up inspections The initial and one follow-up inspection will be performed without 
additional fees. Subsequent inspections shall be charged at the 
rate of $100/unit 

Registration Updates/Amendments  No charge 

Deleted: 450 

Deleted: 4

Deleted: 00

Deleted: 350

Deleted: 250 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: (All Reviews) A

Deleted: Swimming Pool 
Permit $25¶
Misc. 

Deleted: 

Deleted: 

Deleted: 25

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at  0.5" +  1.5" +  2" +  2.5"
+  3" +  3.5" +  4" +  4.86"

Deleted: 25

Deleted: 95

Deleted: 150

Deleted: 250

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, 10 pt, Font color:
Black, (none)

Formatted: List Paragraph

Deleted: 75

Deleted: 2

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 25

City Council Packet 190 March 24, 2025



Coverage  The initial fee covers the registration and first inspection and is 
valid until the resulting certificate of compliance expires 

Pro-ration    There shall be no pro-ration of fees 
________________________________________________________ 

 
ADOPTION & REVISION HISTORY: 
Resolution No. 050711-07  Dated July 11, 2005 
Resolution No. 100208-06  Dated February 8, 2010 
Resolution No. 101206-04  Dated December 6, 2010 (Water-Sewer-RTS) 
Resolution No. 111114-05  Dated November 14, 2011 (Park Fees) 
Resolution No. 110613-07  Dated June 13, 2011 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 120611-05  Dated June 11, 2012 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 120709-05  Dated July 9, 2012 (Bulk Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 130610-09  Dated June 10, 2013 (Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 130826-06  Dated August 26, 2013 (K.W.A. Water Fees) 
Resolution No. 140922-07  Dated September 22, 2014 (Utility and MMD Fees) 
Resolution No. 150824-05  Dated August 24, 2015 (FOIA, Rentals, Utility Fees) 
Resolution No. 151214-05  Dated December 14, 2015 (Parking) 
Resolution No. 160523-05  Dated May 23, 2016 (Water and Sewer) 
Resolution No. 160808-04  Dated August 8, 2016 (Solicitation) 
Resolution No. 171023-07  Dated October 23, 2017 (Building; Police Removal) 
Resolution No. 180312-06  Dated March 12, 2018 (Building Penalty) 
Resolution No. 181126-07  Dated November 26, 2018 (Parking) 
Resolution No. 190325-09  Dated March 25, 2019 (Water) 
Resolution No. 201109-06  Dated November 9, 2020 (Water Rates - Cross Connection) 
Resolution No. 210927-06  Dated September 27, 2021 (Cost Recovery & Right of Way) 
Resolution No. 211213-04  Dated December 13, 2021 (Water and Sewer Rates) 
Resolution No. 220613-05  Dated June 13, 2022 (UB Turn On/Off & Park Deposit) 
Resolution No. 221114-06  Dated November 14, 2022 (Park Reservations) 
Resolution No. 231127-08  Dated November 27, 2023 (Parks, Water, Cost Recovery) 
Resolution No. 241125-06  Dated November 25, 2024 (Parks) 
Resolution No. 240334-__  Dated March 24, 2025 (Building, Planning, & Zoning)  

 

Deleted: __

City Council Packet 191 March 24, 2025


	2025-03-24 Council Mtg Template
	TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members
	ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS

	2025-0310 March 10, 2025
	February 2025 Fuel Report
	MAY 2024

	Recommendation Letter - Cappy Lane & Don Shenk
	Bid Tab Comparison
	Bid Tab Worksheet -Cappy lane and Don shenk
	Dawes Bid
	Cappy Ln and Don Shenk CE_Prop
	Car Show
	Car Show signed
	FinalLetter_88-1776891_DRAGONSCRUISE_09122024_00 (2)
	letter to the Swartz Creek City Council 3-13-25
	Car Show Articles of Incorp
	Cruise Quote
	Car Show Update
	BF Garden 1
	BF Garden 2
	2025 QBS Bid Packet
	Ratings
	Sheet2

	Doug EV email 2025-03-20
	Swartz Creek Proposal 4port contractR - final EV charger agreement
	Bristol Rd - Morrish Rd to Swartz Creek CTL - Resurfacing
	Bristol Road
	Services for Swartz Creek final draft ready for Boards
	BUILDING DEPARTMENT SHARED SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MUNDY, MICHIGAN AND THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK
	RECITALS
	1. SCOPE OF SERVICES
	2. CHANGES TO SCOPE OF SERVICES
	3. FEE STRUCTURE
	4. INVOICE & PAYMENT STRUCTURE
	5. TERMINATION
	6. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
	7. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
	8. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACT
	9. INDEMNIFICATION
	11. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS
	12. MUNDY ACCESS TO RECORDS
	13. CONFIDENTIALITY
	14.  PERSONNEL
	15. COMPLAINTS AND APPEALS
	16. NOTICES
	17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	18. ATTORNEY’S FEES
	19. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE
	20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE
	21. COUNTERPARTS
	22. ELECTRONIC REPRESENTATIONS AND RECORDS
	23. WAIVER
	24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

	EXHIBIT A – LIST OF SERVICES
	1. LIST OF SERVICES
	SWARTZ CREEK OBLIGATIONS
	TIME OF PERFORMANCE

	EXHIBIT B – FEE SCHEDULE FOR SERVICES
	1. FEE SCHEDULE


	Rates and Fees 2025-03-24-changes



